@% S0 kWA TR A A

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(REEHEBEZMALZERAZA)
Stock Code Mtk : 2320

HOP FUNG GROUP

‘ -

™ e prE g

d||1| ETHTITIHIF [l (e
= N FEORE RRRT TMRR AR RNY
IRERD ERRAR RRT DORE DD RER
PRRREE ERRRE DRRR TORE KRN
FRAERERURRE RRRE EIAENRRRY 3y ) gn i
BRRRRD A RRAN PRRR DN NARRd niwn
BORERT CLROn NOAE FRRE RTRRE F ) o
(RSTTERTTITRTH]
0 Ly

Cd ERR

.~ ' B
o ————— e

mim
111111111
ALLLRLLT

janmm

1




CONTENTS
g &

Corporate Information
AREHR
Chairman’s Statement

TREHE

Management Discussion and Analysis
BB R R S AT

Management Profile

EEERE

Corporate Governance Report

PEERRE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BB g REBRE

Directors’ Report

EEgHE

Independent Auditor’s Report

18 3% B R

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

fre B R E A R E WS &

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ima AR &

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mERREHR

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mEReRER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R N

Financial Summary

MBHME



2

CORPORATE INFORMATION
AREH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Ping (Chairman)

Mr. Hui Sum Tai (Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Hui Yuk Ling (appointed on 30 August 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tso Sze Wai

Mr. Wong Chu Leung
Mr. Chau Suk Ming

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Tso Sze Wai (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Chu Leung

Mr. Chau Suk Ming
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Tso Sze Wai (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Chu Leung

Mr. Chau Suk Ming

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Tso Sze Wai (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Chu Leung

Mr. Chau Suk Ming

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Hui Sum Tai
Mr. Chan Wai Man (appointed on 19 March 2024)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Chan Wai Man (appointed on 19 March 2024)
AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED « Annual Report 2024

HRFRE(EE)
R E (TTHAEE)
FEBZLE (R -Z-NENA=+THEZT)
BIUFBTES
BRELE
=LA

Bk R
EREES
EREERE(LTE)
BhakLE
EAE %
FMEES
ERMEE (LTE)
Bk E
R AE
REZEE
ERELE(EE)
=LA
EbsUEEe
REAR

ARERE
REREEVR-ZE-NF=A+NHEED

ARWE
RERSE(R-F-MNF=A+NBEED
B REm

FEREGTEEMERDF



HONG KONG OFFICE

Workshops E, F and H, 22nd Floor
Superluck Industrial Centre (Phase 2)
No. 57 Sha Tsui Road and

Nos. 30-38 Tai Chung Road, Tsuen Wan
New Territories

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

P.O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205

Cayman Islands

SHARE REGISTRARS AND TRANSFER AGENTS

Principal share registrar and transfer agent in
the Cayman Islands

Vistra (Cayman) Limited

P.O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205

Cayman Islands

Branch share registrar and transfer agent in Hong Kong

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Standard Chartered Bank

Bank of China Limited

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
STOCK CODE

2320

WEBSITE

www.hopfunggroup.com

CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
AEER (&)

BENER

&5

R
ZEWIABES7HR KR
KR #830-385%
EBEBITEFRL(EZH)
2218E - FIRHEE

AR ER

P.O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205

Cayman Islands

RHBFETE

REHEIEROVBFERE

Vistra (Cayman) Limited

P.O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205

Cayman Islands

ROBFECEEEBDE

HEBEELTERRAR
55

ERE165%
BRERFPOTE

FEARET

PERERITRODERAF
EITIRTT
PEISRITIRMDERAF
ERRIT(BB)BERQA

R 4 4K 5%
2320
484t

www.hopfunggroup.com

SLEEZERARRF o« —ENFFR



4

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or “Directors”),
| am pleased to present the 2024 full year results to the
shareholders of Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
and, including subsidiaries, the “Group” or “we").

In 2024, various market uncertainties and challenges such as
global-geo-political tension and slowdown of China’s economy
affecting sales in the packaging paper industry to a certain extent.
Meanwhile, the tense supply and demand in global paper pulp
and the tightening in environmental regulations posing the notable
upward pressure on containerboard prices, further added the
supply pressure, putting the packaging paper industry under stress.

The revenue of the Group's corrugated packaging business relies
mainly on Chinese domestic sales. With sluggish post-pandemic
economic recovery in Mainland China and shrinking domestic
demand in the corrugated paper industry, the Group's revenue kept
declining compared with year 2023.

Since October 2021, due to the consideration of the environmental
policies by the local government, the Group’'s upstream
containerboard business has been temporarily suspended.
Currently, the Group strives to communicate with the local
government to speed up the annual inspection procedures of
the licenses for the coal-fuel boilers. Meanwhile, the Group is
coordinating with local government for the project to change its
boilers from coal-fuel boilers to gas-fuel boilers. At the same time,
in order to ensure stable supply of containerboard for the Group's
downstream corrugated packaging business, the Group purchases
containerboard from third party suppliers.

The Group recorded a loss in 2024, compared to alleviated loss in
2023 due to (i) the decrease in procurement cost; (ii) the decrease
in impairment loss on the deposit paid for the acquisition of
property, plant and machinery; (iiij the decrease in depreciation
expenses and (iv) the decrease in the number of staffs. The
Group has taken effort to maintain a roster of quality clients and
strengthen the credit control management. As a result, the Group
continued with its track record of close to “zero” bad or doubtful
debts.
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During the year, given the notable upward pressure on
containerboard prices, geopolitical tension and fierce market
competition, the Directors decided to postpone the process of
installing a pulp production line at the manufacturing plant in the
Philippines.

Looking forward, we expect the business environment of the
corrugated packaging industry remained challenging with tensing
geo-political relationship and sluggish global and domestic demand
in post-pandemic era. However, the Group will maintain good
capital management, in order to have greater flexibility to cope with
market volatility and seize opportunities to further enhance the
operational efficiency for its long-term sustainable development.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank our
management team and staff, express my gratitude for their
solidarity in facing adversities and various challenges, and thank our
customers, suppliers, bankers and investors for their support over
the years. We will continue to strive to deliver better returns to our
shareholders.

Hui Sum Ping
Chairman
31 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN®R DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

In the first half of 2024, the Company’s customers have resumed
the production after the pandemic. There is increasing demand in
major business — corrugated packaging material of the Company,
the revenue increased by 1.5% compared to the first half of 2023.
In the second half of 2024, dragged by the decrease in customer
orders, the revenue decreased by 12% compared with the second
half of 2023 and the total revenue decreased by 5.7% for the year.

Since October 2021, the Group's upstream containerboard
business has been temporarily suspended. Currently, the Group
continues to coordinate with the local government for the annual
inspection procedures of the licenses for the coal-fuel boilers. At
the same time, the Group is coordinating with local government
for the project to change its boilers from coal-fuel boilers to
gas-fuel boilers pursuant to the environmental policies of the
local government and it is expected to resume production after
completion of the coordination. To ensure stable supply for the
Group's downstream corrugated packaging business, the Group
purchases containerboard from third party suppliers. There was no
external revenue from upstream business in both 2024 and 2023.

Against the backdrop of surging manufacturing costs and
weakening of market demand, the business environment of the
corrugated packing industry is expected to remain challenging. The
Group has taken efforts to strengthen the cost control management
and efficiency management. Therefore, the Group has recorded
lower operating losses in 2024.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Operating results

The Group recorded Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”) 211.5 million
in revenue in 2024, representing a fall of HK$12.9 million from
HK$224.4 million in 2023. The drop in revenue was mainly
attributed to the decrease in customer orders.

Cost of sales dropped from HK$210.4 million in 2023 to HK$193.7
million in 2024. The decrease in cost of sales was mainly due to the
reduction on overseas containerboard procurement and decrease in
the unit price on domestic containerboard papers.

Gross profit increased from HK$13.9 million in 2023 to HK$17.8
million in 2024. Gross profit margin increased from 6.2% to 8.4%
in 2024. The increase in gross profit margin was mainly due to the
decrease in cost of sales outweighed with decrease in revenue.

Other income decreased from HK$6.7 million in 2023 to HK$2.7
million in 2024. Such decrease was mainly attributed to less bank
interest income and service income.

Other gains and losses changed from gain of HK$4.5 million in 2023
to loss of HK$3.4 million in 2024. Such change was mainly due
to the written off of accruals and other payables decreased from
HK$20.9 million in 2023 to HK$6.7 million in 2024 and impairment
loss on the deposit paid for the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment decreased from HK$15.7 million in 2023 to HK$8.7
million in 2024.

Selling and distribution costs increased from HK$12.5 million in
2023 to HK$12.7 million in 2024. Such increase was mainly due
to more costs incurred for maintaining and exploring business
opportunities during the year.

Administrative expenses decreased from HK$47.0 million in 2023
to HK$38.9 million in 2024. Such decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in the number of staffs.

Other expenses decreased from HK$62.4 million in 2023 to
HK$55.8 million in 2024. Such decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in depreciation expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEBS®mR DM (E)

Finance costs increased from HK$3.5 million in 2023 to HK$3.6
million in 2024. The increase was mainly owing to higher borrowing
level in 2024.

In 2024, HK$1.3 million was charged to income tax expenses,
representing Hong Kong Profits Tax charge of HK$0.7 million and
deferred tax charge of HK$0.6 million. In 2023, HK$0.3 million was
charged to income tax expense, representing Hong Kong Profits
Tax Charge of HK$0.4 million and deferred tax credit of HK$0.02
million.

Loss for the year of HK$95.2 million was recorded in 2024 while
loss for the year of HK$100.8 million was recorded in 2023,
representing a decrease in loss by HK$5.6 million. Net loss margin
increased from 44.9% to 45.0%.

Liquidity, financial and capital resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’'s bank balances and cash
were HK$33.6 million (31 December 2023: HK$47.3 million), mostly
denominated in Renminbi.

Bank borrowings were increased from HK$72.8 million at 31
December 2023 to HK$92.4 million at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the current bank borrowings decreased
by HK$48.7 million while non-current bank borrowings increased by
HK$68.3 million. The group recorded a net borrowings level (bank
balances and cash and restricted bank deposits less total bank
borrowings) of HK$58.2 million (31 December 2023: net borrowings
level HK$25.6 million). Gearing ratio (total bank borrowings to total
equity) and net gearing ratio (net balance of total bank borrowings
less bank balances and cash and restricted bank deposits to equity)
were 12.7% and 8.0% respectively (31 December 2023: 8.6% and
3.0% respectively).

As at 31 December 2024, net current assets (2023: net current
liabilities) and current ratio of the Group were HK$9.9 million (31
December 2023: HK$24.1 million) and 1.12 (31 December 2023:
0.84) respectively. This was mainly due to decrease in current bank
borrowings decreased by HK$48.7 million.

In 2024, the Group spent HK$2.1 million on capital expenditures for
property, plant and equipment in China (2023: HK$8.5 million).

Debtors, creditors and inventory turnover were approximately
53 days (2023: approximately 62 days), approximately 43 days
(2023: approximately 52 days) and approximately 33 days (2023:
approximately 46 days) respectively.
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Contingent liabilities

The details of the contingent liabilities of the Group as at 31
December 2024 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

OUTLOOK

Going forward, the complex and volatile international situation has
added uncertainties to the current business environment. Against
the backdrop of surging manufacturing costs and weakening of
market demand, the business environment of the corrugated
packaging industry is expected to remain challenging. The Group
will strive to maintain good capital management and low debt
levels to cope with unstable market conditions. Meanwhile, the
Group expect the upstream business to resume operation after
completion of coordination with local government for the project to
change its boilers form coal-fuel boilers to gas-fuel boilers and this
will give the Group a competitive advantage in vertical integration.

It is expected that in the future, the PRC government will continue
to tighten control on plastic packaging, which may stimulate the
use of paper packaging as a substitute, and the Group’s packaging
paper business will thus be benefited. Also, the experiential
growth of E-commerce will increase the need of corrugated
packaging material for safety and efficiently shipping of products to
customers.

The Group will focus on the key strategies of pricing power,
increasing sales volume, raising production efficiency, reduction on
energy usage and raw material wastage to ultimately enhance the
Group's performance.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total workforce of
around 229 full time staff (2023: 246). Competitive remuneration
packages were offered to employees. The Group may also grant
share options and discretionary bonuses to eligible employees
based on the performance of the Group and individuals.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEBHWK DT (&)

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REGARDING
THE QUALIFIED OPINION

The Company’s view and position as to the Audit
Qualification

The qualified opinion as disclosed in the independent auditor’s
report for the year ended 31 December 2024 (" Audit Qualification”)
is relating to uncertainties arising from assessment on whether
relevant tax payment amounts should be provided concerning
the Decisions (as defined in note 30 of the consolidated financial
statements).

The information and explanations requested by the auditor of the
Company in relation to the Audit Qualification include:

(1

(2)

3)

the assessment of the Company’'s management on whether
Green Forest (Qing Xin) Paper Industrial Limited (FRZ
(BFAREAR DT (“Green Forest Paper”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has an obligation
to pay the relevant tax amounts concerning the Decisions
and the supportive evidence to it;

the view of the Company’'s management on whether it is
reasonable and appropriate that no provision of the relevant
tax amounts concerning the Decisions was made in the
Company's consolidated financial statements and the
supportive evidence to it; and

a conclusive legal view from the Company’s PRC legal
advisor on the possible outcome of the Decisions to show
that it is not probable Green Forest Paper would make the tax
payments.

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED « Annual Report 2024

BARGrESRNERTER

RAFHBFTREERNBEERILS

BE_Z_MF+T-_A=1+—RIEFENBLZHEMD
BEPHEENREER (EAREBRD FRFMER
BREHABRESE (E& RGEAMBEHMKRMEI0) &
AR S REPTE £/ T REE M -

RARZBERETREBRLZRNEN LFHABKE

(1

(2)

3)

ARREEEHARRAME %’i%ﬁﬁﬂ‘%@ﬁ?ﬁﬁ(%
FOMEARAR ([REAXD ZEREMEXN
PR EEREEREONBEREHER

ARAREREHNAR /\ﬁﬂk#&?’%qﬂTnﬂm
HEREFERBHRERS HENER A
FEEE - M

ARAPEZRBEMEREENALERNEE
FERBRRPRELET KRB



The management position, view and assessment on the Audit
Qualification, and the differences between the management’s view
and the auditor’s view are described as below.

(1)

(2)

3)

The Group objected and has lodged appeals against the
Decisions in accordance with the relevant appeal mechanism.
As at the date of the Result Announcement, the court’'s
irrevocable decision on the obligations of the Group was not
available. Therefore, the Company’'s management was not
able to assess whether Green Forest Paper has an obligation
to pay the relevant tax amounts concerning the Decisions.

With regard to the value-added tax and other taxes, the Group
applied the recognition criteria in accordance with the Hong
Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS") 37. Under Hong Kong
Accounting Standard (“HKAS") 37 IN2, a provision should be
recognised when and only when: (a) an entity has a present
obligation arising from past events; (b) it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation; and (c) reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Given the fact
that the Group is undergoing the appeal process in relation
to the Decisions, the Company’s management considered
it is not probable to settle the tax payments with the lack
of factual and legal support from the relevant tax bureau in
Mainland China. As a result, the Company has disclosed this
as a contingent liability under HKAS 37 IN18(b)(i) and IN19.
However, the auditor considered that there is no sufficient
evidence, such as there is no conclusive view from the PRC
legal advisor under the normal PRC legal practice, to support
that no provision should be made to the relevant tax amounts
concerning the Decisions.

With regard to the corporate income tax, the Group applied
the recognition criteria in accordance with the HK(IFRIC)
Interpretation 23. Under paragraphs 9 and 10 of the
HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 23, an entity shall consider whether
it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment and if an entity concludes it is probable that
the taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment,
the entity shall determine the taxable profit (tax loss), tax
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits or tax rates
consistently with the tax treatment used or planned to be
used in its income tax filings. Based on the reasons stated
in point (2) above, the Company’s management concluded it
is probable that the Group would be able to succeed in the
appeal actions, which in turn lead to the relevant tax bureau
in Mainland China eventually accepting the objections lodged
by the Group. As a result, no provision for corporate income
tax was made by the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEBHWK DT (&)

(4)  Although there were a number of supportive points analysed
by the Company’s PRC legal advisor in favour of the Group
in respect of appeals of the Decisions, the PRC legal advisor,
under the normal PRC legal practice, is not in a position to
make a final conclusive view on the outcome of the appeal
actions, which is subject to the decision of the courts.

(5)  The Company’'s management is of the view that it is not
probable that the Group should pay the relevant tax amounts
based on the reasons that the Decisions are under appeal
and no final decisions or orders have been made by the
relevant courts and the analysis of the PRC legal advisor.
As such, the Group disclosed these matters as contingent
liabilities under HKAS 37. However, the Company’s auditor
has different views from the above assessment of the
Company's management. The Company’s auditor considered
the lack of a final decision and a final conclusive view of the
PRC legal advisor was not sufficient for the management's
view to base on.

Audit committee’s view on the Audit Qualification

(1) The Audit Committee has critically reviewed the relevant
information provided by the Company’'s management
concerning the Audit Issues and is of the view that since
the Group has, in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations, appealed the cases and pending the appeal
decisions, no provision should be made under relevant Hong
Kong Accounting Standards unless an irrevocable decision
has been made by the courts in Mainland China.

(2)  The Company’s auditor also reported and discussed the Audit
Issues with the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
confirmed with the Company’s auditor that they have
reviewed and agreed with the Board's and management’s
position and basis of assessment concerning the Audit
Issues. The Audit Committee also agreed and accepted the
Audit Issues under the existing circumstances despite the
best effort has been done by the Company during the year.

Impact of the Audit Qualification on the Group’s
consolidated financial position

Company’s view

Based on the PRC legal advisor's experience and best estimate,
the decision may be released by the court before 31 December
2025. The PRC legal advisor is not able to provide concrete timeline
for the legal proceedings of this case as it is subject to the highest
official of the court’'s decision. The PRC legal advisor, under the
normal PRC legal practice, is not in a position to make a final
conclusive view on the outcome of the appeals actions.

The board of directors (including the audit committee) considers
that if an irrevocable has been made by the courts in Mainland
China in 2025, the uncertainties concerning the Decisions could be
cleared accordingly, which in turn will resolve the Audit Issues.
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Auditor’s view

The Company's auditor consider that if an irrevocable decision
has been made by the courts in Mainland China in 2025 and the
Company has made relevant provision on the liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements, the relevant audit modifications
would be able to be removed accordingly.

The Company’s action plan to address the Audit
Qualification and the implementation of such plan

In the prior year, as in accordance with the plan, the Company has
been working closely with the PRC legal advisor on the progress of
the appeal actions and took appropriate steps and actions to obtain
the court decisions timely. The removal of audit qualification on “Tax
Matter Notice” in this year and no contingent liabilities in relation to
the “Tax Matter Notice” was noted due to the Group’s PRC legal
advisor advises that the State Administration of Taxation Qingyuan
City Qingxin District Taxation Bureau no longer has the right to
appeal as the appeal period expired. As the Tax Matter Notice can
only be re-handled and re-issued, such Tax Matter Notice has been
ended. This has proved that the prior years’ action plan is effective.
The Company’'s management is of the view that the Audit Issues
will be resolved in the same manner.

In the next financial year, the Company will continue to work
closely with the PRC legal advisor on the appeal actions as advised
by the PRC legal advisor, it is expected the court decisions may be
released in 2025.

Impact of the Audit Qualification on internal control of
the Group

In light of the Audit Qualification, the Board is of the view that the
causes of the various tax issues were not due to significant internal
control deficiencies with the following basis.

The waste paper product purchase made from the Suppliers
were genuine. Also, the Group had paid up the respective total
price of the waste paper products under the VAT Invoices, and
had received the waste paper products with proper approval
procedures. The management of Green Forest Paper at that time
believed appropriate taxation arrangement has been made with the
Suppliers under normal business practice in Mainland China.

The directors of the Company, and the management of Green
Forest Paper who were responsible for the Tax Deduction, had no
knowledge of any irregular circumstances under which such VAT
Invoices were issued.

The management of Green Forest Paper obtained the irregular
VAT Invoices from the Suppliers and made the Tax Deduction due
to mere inadvertence and the Board is of the view that it has no
intention to evade tax, and does not involve any fraud, dishonesty
or corruption on the part of the Directors or management.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEBNwmR DM (E)

BB B

ARBEZBEBRMHAHEREE T - AFELT
A REEERE R AR RIS SR EBES S M BRE
TEHEHR B B EHRE B R A s /iR e miks o

N

AFARHNBRETRESRAENTEHE
HERBR

REF  REFE - ARR—FRPBEIEREARNEZER S
o TRERTHMNER  YRIUEEEERITE R
BESIERURE ZJK%EF%%EEFEJE‘%/?%KTM%?@%
)ﬁiﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁliﬁ?}’*%Eﬁﬁ\iéﬁﬂﬂa%#éﬁﬁﬁiﬁéﬁﬁﬂl

AVEH EFF o B R AL E R B B A% DI AR I 3 L
E’ﬁRf%%ﬁL%ﬂi IR FEBAE D IETA - Bl
ﬁ%ﬁ%i%%lﬁiﬁ%ﬂiﬁ’lgﬁ% BREAFHRME K
BERRAE E%E - W IR M1 BE BLE AR
B e ARRRRUEFFRBE ARG R -

N
)53

-

AT —EB B - AR A R B R BRI L
FOTBTAE ERERGE T RFERRR

ETRESRHASEAREZNTE

ERNETREER BFEERA
WIER MR ERAFFEE ﬁ?&ﬁaﬁﬁﬁ(

HENBHEENLER
ﬁﬁ@%ﬁﬁu? °

MHERBENBEAERRESE - b XEBBERIE
HENBEELERERNBRERESE  WAREN
EURFREERER REAEEREZTRAR C
;E%%;Wimmft%ﬁﬁ%tﬁlﬁﬁif tEEEREZ R
S HE o

8

BENMBEEAHNARBEERGEAZEEZEL T
BHABMBEREENTIMNETER

m%%%aﬁ@l&ﬁ B e B XS R RIS E
SR WHETTHIAEI - é%@%ﬁﬁ?ﬂ W BTW

&%%i%i@@%ﬂ%ﬁ@&ﬁﬁm’ﬁ FRERESTE -

CUEEERBRAF o« —ENFFR

13



14

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEBHWK DT (&)

Enhanced Internal Control Measures

The Company has taken enhanced internal control measures on
both the entity level and activity level since last year. The Company
will continue to carry out enhanced internal control measures in this
year. These measures include:

Entity level

(i) strengthening of review and monitoring procedures of
factory in respect of approvals, payments and corporate tax
treatments by senior officers;

(i) provision of training to directors and senior management; and

(i) regular evaluation on effectiveness and efficiency of internal
control system and risk management of factory.

Activity level

(i) reviewing performance of procurement and tax handling
teams;

(i) enhancing reporting channels to timely report significant
issues from the subsidiaries and encouraging staff to report
any unusual activity;

(i) providing training to staff, especially those staff who are
involved in handling payments to suppliers with value-added
tax invoices; and

(iv)  reviewing procedures and process of procurement of
materials to align with the market best practices.

Recent updates on the status about various tax issues
of Green Forest Paper

Capitalised terms used below shall have the same meanings as
those defined in note 30 of the consolidated financial statements.

1. Tax issue about value-added tax invoices received from
certain suppliers

The Tax Treatment Decision

On 10 August 2023, Green Forest Paper filed a retrial
application against the judgement dated 5 July 2023 at
Guangdong Higher People’'s Court, Guangdong Province (&
HASMARZERT) (“Higher People's Court”). On 14 August
2023, the Higher People's Court accepted the Green Forest
Paper’s retrial application and will proceed with the retrial
hearing if it considers the case meets the grounds and
conditions for retrial after the verification procedures.
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Pursuant to the administrative judgement from the Higher
People's Court (BRE=MARZER) dated 25 June 2024
(received on 19 July 2024), the application for retrial was
rejected.

Subsequently, Green Forest Paper filed a procuratorial
supervision application against the aforesaid judgement at the
People’s Procuratorate of Qingyuan City, Guangdong Province
(BRA/FETARKER) ("People’s Procuratorate”). On 13
January 2025, the People’s Procuratorate accepted Green
Forest Paper’s procuratorial supervision application and
will proceed with the procuratorial supervision hearing if it
considers the case meets the grounds and conditions for
procuratorial supervision after the verification procedures.

Up to the date of the consolidated financial statements, no
judgement has been made by the People's Procuratorate of
Qingyuan, Guangdong Province.

The Tax Penalty Decision

Pursuant to the administrative judgement dated 30 June 2023
from the Guangzhou Railway Transport Court, the decision
of administrative review made by the Guangdong Province
Tax Bureau on 8 November 2022 to uphold the Tax Penalty
Decision shall be revoked, but the Guangdong Province Tax
Bureau has the right to appeal within 15 days from the date
of the judgement.

Green Forest Paper subsequently received a summons from
the Guangzhou Railway Transport Intermediate Court (B}
S EE AP AUAPE) dated 2 November 2023, in which the
Guangdong Province Tax Bureau filed an appeal against the
administrative judgement dated 30 June 2023. The appeal
hearing was held on 13 November 2023, and no order was
made from the court up to the date of the consolidated
financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEBHWK DT (&)

Tax Matter Notice

Green Forest Paper completed the tax payment guarantee
procedures and was confirmed by the Qingxin Tax Bureau on
23 March 2023.

On 7 April 2023, Green Forest Paper disagreed with the Tax
Matter Notice and applied for an administrative review with
the Qingxin Tax Bureau.

On 2 June 2023, the State Administration of Taxation
Qingyuan City Qingxin District Taxation Bureau (BIZRELH
BB ERTEHEIB) issued an administrative review
decision stating that the Qingyuan Tax Bureau shall revoke
the Tax Matter Notice and re-handle it in accordance with the
applicable laws.

As at the date of the consolidated financial statements,
The Group's PRC legal advisor advises that the State
Administration of Taxation Qingyuan City Qingxin District
Taxation Bureau no longer has the right to appeal as the
appeal period expired. As the Tax Matter Notice can only be
re-handled and re-issued, such Tax Matter Notice has been
ended.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, aged 63, is the Chairman of the Board, an
Executive Director of the Company and a co-founder of the Group.
Mr. Hui is responsible for the business development and overall
corporate planning of the Group. Mr. Hui has over 40 years of
experience in the corrugated packaging industry in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

Mr. Hui Sum Ping is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Tai (Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company) and Ms. Hui
Yuk Ling (Executive Director of the Company). Mr. Hui is a
brother-in-law of Mr. Tsui Yung Wai (a senior management of the
Company). Mr. Hui did not hold any other directorship in companies
listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai, aged 58, is an Executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Hui has joined the Group
since its establishment and is responsible for the strategic planning
and day-to-day management of the Group. Mr. Hui has over 38
years of experience in the corrugated packaging industry in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Ping (Chairman of
the Board and Executive Director of the Company) and Ms. Hui
Yuk Ling (Executive Director of the Company). Mr. Hui is a
brother-in-law of Mr. Tsui Yung Wai (a senior management of the
Company). Mr. Hui did not hold any other directorship in companies
listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

Ms. Hui Yuk Ling, aged 60, is currently the manager of the
Company, responsible for the human resources and administration
affairs of the Company. She joined the Company in February
2020. Ms. Hui is also the legal representative, executive director
and managing director of Green Forest (Qing Xin) Paper Industrial
Limited (RRE(EINHKEBMRAR]), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, which is incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China, from 12 April 2019.

Ms. Hui Yuk Ling is the younger sister of Mr. Hui Sum Ping
(Chairman of the Board and Executive Director of the Company) and
the elder sister of Mr. Hui Sum Tai (Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company). Ms. Hui is the shareholder of
the Company. Ms. Hui is the spouse of Mr. Tsui Yung Wai (a senior
management of the Company). Ms. Hui did not hold any other
directorship in companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last 3 years.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)
EEERBEE (&)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tso Sze Wai, aged 54, is an independent Non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. In June 1995, Mr. Tso graduated from the University of
New South Wales, Australia with a Bachelor of Commerce degree
majoring in accounting. In April 2001, he received a graduate
diploma in business computing from the University of Western
Sydney, Australia. Mr. Tso has been a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2015.

Mr. Tso has over 22 years of experience in accounting, corporate
finance and corporate secretarial matters. Since July 2021, he has
been an independent non-executive director and chairman of the
audit committee of China Asia Valley Group Limited (HKEX stock
code: 0063), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of the Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Since July 2020, he has served as an independent non-executive
director and chairman of the audit committee of Net Pacific
Financial Holdings Limited (SGX: 5QY), a company listed on the
Catalist Board of the Singapore Exchange Limited (the “Singapore
Exchange”). From June 2020 to August 2021, he served as an
independent non-executive director and chairman of the audit
committee of KTL Global Limited (SGX: EB7), a company listed on
the Mainboard of the Singapore Exchange. From December 2021
to March 2022, he served as an independent non-executive director
and chairman of the audit committee of C-Link Squared Limited,
(HKEX stock code: 14683), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. He has been an independent non-executive
director of China Jicheng Holdings Limited (HKEX stock code:
1027) since October 2016, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange and Willas-Array Electronics (Holdings) Limited
(HKEX stock code: 854) since August 2023, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Saved as disclosed above,
Mr. Tso did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Wong Chu Leung, aged 77, is an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wong has over 40 years of experience in enterprise
management and manufacturing operation management. Mr. Wong
is a shareholder and a director of a metal ware manufacturing
company with manufacturing plant located in the PRC.

Mr. Wong does not have any relationship with any Directors,
substantial shareholders and senior management of the Company.
Mr. Wong did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

Mr. Chau Suk Ming, aged 67, is an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Chau is a retired businessman with more than 18 years of
experience in the corrugated packaging industry. Mr. Chau was a
shareholder and a director of a corrugated packaging company with
manufacturing plant located in the PRC.

Mr. Chau does not have any relationship with any Directors,
substantial shareholders and senior management of the Company.
Mr. Chau did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tsui Yung Wai, aged 62, is the general manager of the Group.
Mr. Tsui is responsible for the supervision of procurement, logistics
and human resources of the Group. Mr. Tsui has over 29 years of
experience in corrugated packaging industry in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Prior to joining the Group in February 2008, Mr. Tsui was a
shareholder and a director of a corrugated packaging company.

Mr. Tsui is the spouse of Ms. Hui Yuk Ling (Executive Director);
brother-in-law of Mr. Hui Sum Ping (Chairman of the Board and
Executive Director of the Company) and Mr. Hui Sum Tai (executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
PEERRE

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report
in the Group's annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards to safeguard the interests of shareholders and enhance
corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) contained in
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(the “Listing Rules”) as the basis of the Company’'s corporate
governance practices.

The Company has in place a corporate governance framework and
has established a set of policies and procedures based on the CG
Code contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules. Such policies
and procedures provide the basis for enhancing the Board's
ability to implement governance and exercise proper oversight on
business conduct and affairs of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles set out in the CG Code.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company has complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for code provisions
C.2.1, D.3.3 and E.1.2. Details please refer to page 76 of the Annual
Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ dealings in the Company's securities (the “Code of
Conduct”) on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code and the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31
December 2024. In addition, no incident of non-compliance of the
Code of Conduct by the senior management of the Group was
noted during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
"Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Model
Code for securities transactions by employees who are likely to be
in possession of inside information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines
by the employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, consisting of three
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors
as follows:

Executive Directors

Hui Sum Ping Chairman
Hui Sum Tai Chief Executive Officer
Hui Yuk Ling (appointed on 30 August 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Tso Sze Wai Chairman of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the

Nomination Committee

Member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee

Member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee

Wong Chu Leung

Chau Suk Ming

The relationships between the Directors, if any, are disclosed under
“"Management Profile” on pages 17 to 19. Save as disclosed in the
report, there are no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among the members of the Board.
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TRER®RE (&)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has implementable and effective mechanism to
ensure independent views and inputs are available to the Board,
with the following key features: (i) the Nomination Committee
is established with clear terms of reference to identify suitable
candidates, including Independent Non-executive Directors, for
appointment as Directors; (i) the Nomination Committee will
assess annually the independence of all Independent Non-executive
Directors; and (iii) the Directors are entitled to seek, at the Group's
expense, independent professional advice reasonably necessary
for discharging their duties as Directors. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the mechanism and considered it to be effective.

Ms. Hui Yuk Ling, who was appointed as an Executive Director
on 30 August 2024, has obtained the legal advice as referred to in
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 19 August 2024, and she has
confirmed she understood her obligations as a director of a listed
issuer under the Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
held by Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively. The
Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board and business development.
The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company’s strategic
planning and daily management and operations generally.

The Board considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer respectively are clear and distinctive
and hence, written terms thereof are not necessary. This deviates
from the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code which stipulates
that the division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all
appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all Independent Non-executive Directors are independent under
the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the
occurrence of any events which would cause it to believe that the
independence of any of the Independent Non-executive Directors
has been impaired up to the date of this report.

Appointment and Re-election of Director

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of around two years, subject to
renewal after the expiry of the current term.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. The Company's Articles
of Association provides that all Directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment. The retiring Directors shall be
eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's operational
and financial performance, and ensures that internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (&)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management (Continued)

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to
the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.
According to the code provision D.1.2 of part 2 of the CG Code, the
management shall provide all members of the Board with monthly
updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company's performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company has provided all members of the Board monthly updates
of financial, compliance and operation matters to enhance the
corporate governance of the Group and provide more adequate and
complete information to the Board in a timely manner.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains comprehensive
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction training
and legal advice on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction training shall be supplemented by
visits to the Company's key plant sites and meetings with senior
management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development (“CPD") to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged
and reading materials on relevant topics would be provided to
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant external training courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company provided
e-learnings from relevant organisation on updates on Listing Rules
and related matters for all Directors. In addition, relevant reading
materials including compliance manual, legal and regulatory update
and seminar handouts have been provided to the Directors for their
reference and studying.

The records of CPD relating to Director's duties and regulatory and
business development that have been received by the Directors for
the year ended 31 December 2024 are summarized as follows:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

tEERHE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
(Continued)

Note:
Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, seminars,
conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with
defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is
set out under “Corporate Information” on page 2.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tso Sze Wai, Mr. Wong Chu
Leung and Mr. Chau Suk Ming. Mr. Tso Sze Wai is the chairman of
the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external
auditor, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee held two meetings to review, in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2024, the interim and annual financial
results and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, re-appointment of external auditor and engagement of
non-audit services and relevant scope of works.

Since the Company has not engaged its auditor to review the
financial information in its interim report, the Audit Committee has
met with the Company’s auditor once to discuss matters arising
from the audit of the Company’s annual results and other matters
the auditor may raise during the year ended 31 December 2024.
This deviates from the code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code which
stipulates that the audit committee must meet, at least twice a
year, with company's auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three
Independent Non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Tso Sze Wai,
Mr. Wong Chu Leung and Mr. Chau Suk Ming. Mr. Tso Sze Wai is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors; and establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met twice during the year to
review the Directors’ remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors,
remuneration of the Non-executive Directors, and the New Share
Option Scheme and recommend it to the Board.

Directors’ Remuneration

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company annually. Details of the
Directors' remuneration are set out in the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration of the Senior Management

Currently, the remuneration of the senior management is attended
by the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
This deviates from the code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code
which stipulates that the remuneration committee should make
recommendations to the Board on company’s policy and structure
for all the directors’ and senior management remuneration, or
to determine the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and senior management with delegated responsibility.

Details of the remuneration paid to the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out below:

BEEZES (7
EREEEHH

Bl RREBBHFMBARRERRLITHAER
BEE o b imBE B 7RI 2 7 BRSCHEN 21657 E % B
ZEEARAREREZRSRAEEB 2HFHBERR
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NEFENATEERSRERABSNHINGE -

BE-_Z-_NF+-_A=1+—HLEFE ENEHER
BB 2 HNiRA R 2 D 2 By mT

Number of senior

management
Remuneration band e FEW BREEEHE
HK$0-HK$ 1,000,000 0/87CE 1,000,000 7T 2

HK$5,000,001-HK$5,500,000
HK$5,500,001-HK$6,000,000

5,000,001/ 7T 25,500,000/ 7T
5,500,001/ 7T 26,000,000/ 7T

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tso Sze Wai, Mr. Wong Chu
Leung and Mr. Chau Suk Ming. Mr. Tso Sze Wai is the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of Directors, and assessing the independence
of Independent Non-executive Directors.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would consider a number of aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)
Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage. The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy. The
particulars of the Board Diversity Policy of the Company are set out
as follows:

1. The Nomination Committee will review annually the
structure, size and composition of the Board and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

2. In reviewing and assessing the Board diversity, a number
of aspects and factors will be considered, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge of industry and
regional experience.

3. The Nomination Committee will discuss and where
necessary, agree on the measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board and make recommendation to the
Board for adoption.

4. The Nomination Committee will assess regularly the diversity
profile of the Board and the progress on achieving diversity
objectives, if any.

5. The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy as appropriate and recommend revisions, if any, to the
Board for consideration and approval.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised five male members
and one female member and it considers that the current gender
diversity on the Board level is satisfactory. The Company has
reviewed the composition, membership, and structure of the
Board, and is of the opinion that the Board has an appropriate
mix of skills, experience and diversity that are relevant to the
Company's strategy, business and governance and to enable the
Company to maintain high standard of operation.

The Company is conscious of maintaining Board diversity with an
appropriate level of female members on the Board. The Company
has implemented comprehensive programmes aimed at identifying
and training on female employees who display leadership
and potential, with the goal of promoting them to the senior
management of the Group and developing a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)
Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 54 female staff
out of 229 employees, representing 24% of the employees of the
Group. Besides, the Group will continue to take opportunities to
increase the proportion of female board members and workforce
over time as and when suitable candidates are identified. Further
details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data
can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
on pages 41 to 63 of this Annual Report.

The Board and the Nomination Committee have reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and
considered it to be effective for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Director Nomination Policy

1. The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Policy in
order to (i) set out the criteria and process in the nomination
and appointment of directors of the Company; (ii) ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company; and (iii) ensure the
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

2. In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

° Character and integrity.
° Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to

the Company’s business and corporate strategy.

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board.

° Independence.

° Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board.

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a director.

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company's business, succession plan, etc.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Director Nomination Policy (Continued)

3.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee will evaluate the
candidates based on the prescribed criteria, rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable) and
recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate
for directorship, as applicable.

For re-election of retiring director, the Nomination Committee
will review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of participation
and performance on the Board, determine whether the
retiring director continues to meet the prescribed criteria
and make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review regularly the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted
for selection and where appropriate, make recommendations
on changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and business needs.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies
and practices, training and CPD of the Directors and the senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Model Code and Employee Written Guidelines, and the Company's
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

tEERHE (F)

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board, the Board
Committee meetings and the general meeting of the Company held
during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the table
below:

EECHFEERTH

BREERBE_T_NF+-_A=1t—BLEFELT
ZELREEE EFZBegRNMARRKRRAGZH
[FREHINN TR :

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/&R8A
Annual Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General General
Board  Committee =~ Committee = Committee Meeting Meeting
Name of Director EZnE EZe ENZEE FHZEE REZEE RREFAE RRBHKE
Hui Sum Ping ART 44 NATER NATER  NATER no NATER
Hui Sum Tai BT 44 NANER O NATER NATER no NATER
Hui Yuk Ling TER N/ATE A N/ATNE A N/AN i A N/ARNiE N/AN i A N/ATE A
Tso Sze Wai R 4/4 2/2 22 2/2 171 N/ATE A
Wong Chu Leung 3730 44 22 22 2/2 1 N/ATR i £
Chau Suk Ming [&REA 4/4 212 212 212 n N/ATRiE
Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held KBEHEZReeZI REE-_Z-_NE+_-_A=+—

meetings with the Independent Non-executive Directors without
the presence of Executive Directors during the year ended 31
December 2024.

Independent Non-executive Directors have attended the annual
general meeting to gain and develop a balanced understanding of
the view of shareholders.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company'’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management

and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(Continued)

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems (Continued)

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined authority for
implementation by key business processes and office functions
including project management, sales and leasing, financial
reporting, human resources and information technology.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Company’s risk assessment processes are summarized as
follows:

All divisions/departments conduct internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business
of the Group and various aspects including key operational and
financial processes, regulatory compliance and information security.
Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each division/department.

The management, in coordination with division/department heads,
assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment
plans, and monitors the risk management progress, and has
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and
the effectiveness of the systems.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has an internal audit function to review the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control system. The Group
has engaged an independent risk management and internal control
review consultant, which has assisted in monitoring the corporate
governance of the Group and providing an objective assessment
to the Board on whether a sound internal control system is
maintained and operated by management. The risk management
and internal control review consultant conducted a review on
a number of corporate governance areas, business cycles and
provided recommendations for the improvement and strengthening
of the internal control system. During the financial year, the Board/
Audit Committee are of the view that there are no material internal
control defeats noted. The results of the internal control review
have been submitted to the Audit Committee. The management
had established a remediation and improvement plan for internal
control weaknesses identified.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

tEERHE (F)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(Continued)

Process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to
resolve material internal control defects (Continued)

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as
the management report, reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems, including the financial, operational and
compliance controls, for the year ended 31 December 2024, and
considered that such systems are effective and adequate. In
evaluating the effectiveness of internal control system, the Board
has also considered the adequacy of financial reporting and internal
audit function and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant
resources.

Code provision D.2.9 of the CG Code states that, as a
recommended best practice, the Board may disclose details of any
significant areas of concern on its risk management and internal
control systems. In respect of the impact of the Audit Qualifications
on internal control of the Group, as set out in management
discussion and analysis on pages 13 and 14, the Board is of the
view that the causes of the various tax issues were not due to
internal control deficiencies and the Company has taken a number
of enhanced internal control measures on both the entity level
and activity level, details has been disclosed on page 14. The
risk management and internal control review consultant has also
reviewed the implementation status and relevant documents
regarding the enhanced internal control measures, to ensure the
mentioned measures were conducted.

Information Disclosure Policy

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company's Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control
procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized
access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 78 to 83.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements mentions that the
Group incurred consecutive losses attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$95,234,000 and HK$100,804,000
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively,
and as at 31 Decembers 2024 the Group had net current assets
of HK$9,934,000. In addition, as disclosed in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has significant
amounts of contingent liabilities in relation to the tax payment
demanded by the tax bureau in the PRC. In the event that the
potential obligation becomes materialized, the Group may not
have sufficient cash and bank balances, which amounted to
approximately HK$33,558,000 as at 31 December 2024, to fulfil the
obligations. These conditions indicate a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

For the purpose of assessing going concern, the Directors of the
Company have prepared a cash flow forecast of the Group covering
a period of twelve months from the end of the reporting period (the
"Cash Flow Forecast”) with plans and measures to mitigate the
liquidity pressure and to improve its financial position. In addition,
the Group obtained the letter of intent from one of the principal
bankers after the reporting period, under which loan facilities up
to a maximum amount of approximately RMB300,000,000 are
available to the Group for not less than twelve months from 31
December 2024. Based on the letter of intent and Cash Flow
Forecast assuming the plans and measures can be successfully
implemented as scheduled, the Directors are of the opinion that
the Group is able to continue as a going concern and would have
sufficient financial resources to finance the Group’s operations
and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.
Accordingly, it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (&)

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration payable/paid to the external auditor
of the Group, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December
2024 is set out below:

R B 2 % A
AEESEEBMPERESHMESNERA AN

(ECECNFT A=+ BIEFEZERRB R
FECRBZEN ERNFMAONEINAT

Fees Payable/Paid

Service Category R R Ef/BNEAR
HK$

BT

Audit Services BZR 1,200,000
Non-audit Services e 1% AR5 -
1,200,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Wai Man was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company on 19 March 2024.

Mr. Chan is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and also a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan has experiences
in auditing, taxation and finance. Mr. Chan is an Independent
Non-executive Director of Luxking Group Holdings Limited, which is
listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited (Trading code: BKK) and
an Independent Non-executive Director of Sunny Side Up Culture
Holdings Limited, which is listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 8082).

The company secretary is responsible for advising the Board on
governance matters and also facilitates induction and professional
development of the directors. The company secretary reports to
the Chairman of the Board. All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary. The company secretary
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs and is also
responsible for ensuring the procedures of the Board meetings are
observed. During the Reporting Period, the company secretary had
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group's business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of the corporate information,
which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions. The Company endeavours to maintain an
on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings.

The Chairman of the Board, all the Independent Non-executive
Directors, and the chairmen of all Board committees (or their
delegates) will make themselves available at the annual general
meetings to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
amendment in the Company's constitutional documents and these
documents are available on the website of the Company and of the
Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels.

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Director. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

tEERHE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Under Article 58 of the Company's Articles of Association, any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company may at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
the convening of an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2 months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of
the Company under the Company'’s Articles of Association and the
Cayman Islands Companies Law. Shareholders who wish to put
forward proposals at general meeting may refer to the preceding
paragraph to make a written requisition to require the convening of
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director of the Company are published on the
Company's website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.

Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Workshops E, F and H, 22nd Floor

Superluck Industrial Centre (Phase 2)

No. 57 Sha Tsui Road and

Nos. 30-38 Tai Chung Road, Tsuen Wan

New Territories

Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Chief Executive Officer/
Company Secretary)

Fax: (852) 2414 5508

Email: hopfung@hopfunggroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

POLICIES RELATING TO SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The Company has reviewed the Shareholders’
Communication Policy and considered that the policy was
effectively implemented with the measures as disclosed under
paragraphs headed “Communications with Shareholders and
Investors” and “Shareholder Rights” during the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Board has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to code provision
F.1.1 of the CG Code which aims at setting out the principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to the
declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as dividends to
the shareholders of the Company as follows:

o In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements and future growth as well as its
shareholder value.

o The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (&)

POLICIES RELATING TO SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

o The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject to the
Articles of Association of the Company and all applicable laws
and regulations and the factors set out below.

° The Board shall also take into account the following factors of
the Group when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

financial results;

cash flow situation;

business conditions and strategies;

future operations and earnings;

capital requirements and expenditure plans;

interests of shareholders;

any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

O O O O 0O O O O

° Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for
a financial year or period:

interim dividend;

final dividend,

special dividend; and

any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

O O O ©O

o Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders’ approval.

o The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate.

° Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to

the Company in accordance with the Company's Articles of
Association.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report
of Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited. This report has been prepared
in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide under Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Information regarding the Group’s corporate governance structure
and practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this
Annual Report.

Reporting Period and Scope

This report covers the Group's major operations during the period
from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024 (the "Reporting
Period”), including: Hong Kong office, corrugated paper board and
product marketing across China, focusing on their sustainability
approaches and performance.

Reporting Principles

The Group has applied the following reporting principles in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as follows:

BS HEREARSE

BRARE

ABERCLEEEZRERAFANERE HELEA
BE-ABRENRERBRERBERIIMERRAE
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Reporting principle Responses of the Group

EEEE

A materiality assessment was conducted during the Reporting Period to identify significant
issues, and the identified significant issues were listed as the focus of the preparation of
this Environmental, Social and Governance report. The significance of the relevant issues
has been reviewed and confirmed by the Board of Directors.

WMEMEAETEZMER G UBREXREE  SEEANBEAZTHIEREARSE -
HERERBENEN FHFENSEUCHEZTSENRER -

The Group established environmental and social KPIs and made quantitative disclosure
with reference to the Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs and
Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs of “How to prepare an ESG Report” issued
by the Stock Exchange to monitor and evaluate the Group's progress in implementing
environmental and social responsibility initiatives.

21t ANE B IRIR A SRR EBUEREUR - WA BB MCOAIHEERE - g REARS)
PR — CGRBEARESIEZEERIES) R =t AR EBUREERIESIVIEE(®
BE  NERRTEAEERBETRERMSEXTHBNEE -

The statistical methods used in this Environmental, Social and Governance report are
generally consistent with those used last year to allow for meaningful comparisons.
Any changes that affect comparison with the previous report will be explained in the
corresponding sections of this Environmental, Social and Governance report.

ARE G REAWMEMAMS EAMBREFHAE B WETHERRNOHL -
ERFZERE FRREERNEEESRARE R EAMEREZETHA -
This ESG report is prepared in an objective and fair manner to ensure that the information

disclosed fairly reflects the overall environmental, social and governance performance of
the Group.

T ARE HEREAMEHNRFEAENTAREMK  BRAKEERTERRAE
B BERE HERERARE -
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ENV|RONMENTAL, SOCV—\L AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Report Language and Access

The Report is prepared in both Chinese and English and has been
uploaded to the website of the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited (the "HKEX") (www.hkexnews.hk) and the official website
of the Group (http://www.hopfunggroup.com). In the event of
any conflict or inconsistency between the Chinese and English
versions, the Chinese version shall prevail.

Feedback on this Report

For any comments regarding this report or the Company’'s
sustainability strategies and performance, please contact us
through the Company's email (hopfung@hopfunggroup.com).

Board Statement

The board of directors of the Company has overall responsibility for
the effectiveness of the Company’s ESG strategy and reporting.
The Company has established a ESG work group comprised of
senior management and staff members with adequate knowledge
on ESG. The ESG working group facilitates the Board's oversight
of ESG-related issues and has the responsibility for collecting and
analysing ESG data, monitoring and evaluating the Group’s ESG
performance, ensuring compliance with ESG-related laws and
regulations, and preparing ESG reports. The ESG working group
arranges meeting periodically to discuss and review ESG-related
issues including but not limited to the effectiveness of current
Group's performance, ESG policies and procedures, ESG-related
performance, as well as the progress made against the Group's
ESG-related goals and targets in terms of sustainable development.
The ESG working group reports to the Board periodically and
assists the Board to discharge its oversight responsibility.

Communication with Stakeholders

To understand the views of key stakeholders, carefully consider
and respond to their needs and expectations, evaluate and prioritize
their feedback for performance improvement, and ultimately create
value for stakeholders, we have conducted materiality assessments
through discussions with key stakeholders regarding their ESG
expectations and feedback. The Group’s overall performance is also
reported to investors through this year's Annual Report.
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Key Stakeholders

Shareholders and Investors

BEREAE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Expectations for the Group

HEAEMOHE

Stable operational growth
TREEERE

Transparent financial information
FEHOMBER

Good corporate governance
RIFAEREE

Sustainable operations

KB

Product quality and stability assurance
RRER QL BB

On-time delivery

B

Competitive pricing

ABRFHOER

Environmental certifications

RIRAF

Long-term stable cooperation
REIBESIE

Timely payment

B

Fair trade

RFXS

Mutual benefits

BRI

Occupational safety and health
B2 HEE

Reasonable salary and benefits
SR EREN

Career development opportunities
BEHEKSE

Good working environment

RIFTERE

BR -HERERHRSE (&)

Communication Channels

BEAR

Annual General Meeting
REBFERS

Other shareholders’ meetings
HiblRER RS

Emails

il

Visits

T W FE

Phone conferences
BEEH

Emails

EH

Customer service follow-up
EPRBABRE
Questionnaire surveys
BESECES

Visits

TEREFERD

Phone conferences
BiEg®

Emails

B

Questionnaire surveys

FERE

Department meetings
g

Employee suggestion box
BITERM
Performance evaluation
B EZ

Emails

BH

SEERAERLDT o —TMFEFRH
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -HERERARE (&)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
PERFORMANCE

Environment

The Group endeavors to minimize energy consumption through
our operation, reduce greenhouse gas emissions and waste
emission in order to minimize our impact on the environment. The
Group strengthened our management in energy conservation and
emission reduction and infiltrated such practices into its various
operations.

Emissions
Non-Hazardous Waste Minimization

The Group is committed to implementing waste reduction
measures at source and adopting management policy principles of
reuse and recycling before waste disposal. As for waste control, in
order to minimize environmental impact, the Group is devoted to
reducing waste. The Group has established a set of fixed control
procedures for wastes, and has required each department to assort
wastes for collection and store any wastes generated. The recycled
wastes including scrap metal, scrap pallets, scrap powder bag and
waste plastic barrel are collected and reprocessed by qualified
licensed collectors. In addition, the Group’s factory also recycles
waste paper bags and tubes as renewable resources to reduce the
generation of non-hazardous waste.

Hazardous Waste Minimization

The Group strictly complies with Hong Kong and mainland China
clean production regulations, including but not limited to:

° Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311);
° Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354);

o Law of the People's Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution;

o Environmental Protection Law of the People's Republic of
China; and

o Cleaner Production Promotion Law of the People’'s Republic
of China.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Group increase the efficiency of the utilization rate of
resources, reduce and avoid the generation of pollutants and
protect and improve the environment. In the procurement
process of raw materials, non-toxic, harmless and environmentally
friendly materials should be selected to reduce hazardous waste
generation. For any hazardous waste produced, dedicated
personnel are responsible for its storage, transfer, disposal, and
emergency management.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not generate significant
amounts of hazardous or non-hazardous waste. The Group's
waste-related data are as follows:

BR -HERERES (&)

SERESERERRNMEE - MO RBRSRMHES -
MRERRERE - EEMBNRBBRES  ERES
BENSERERNYM  UREFSERERVNELE -
WEELEERERY  ZBEEEVNEHT BEREN
EEEERERAE -

WEHRE FAEBYBEELREFEREZTERY K
SEMERVRABEELT

Unit 2024
By —EIWEF
Total amount of non-hazardous waste Tonne 7.85
BEEZEVRE g
Intensity Tonne/Person 0.05
BEBREVEE LEYON
Total amount of hazardous waste Tonne 0.06
BEEEYEE g
Intensity Tonne/Person 0.0003
EERENMEE e, A

Reduction in Atmospheric Emissions

The Group utilized clean energy, natural gas as fuel of the gas
boilers, with carbon dioxide and water vapor as the main emissions.
No waste residue requires storage, which saves space. The thermal
efficiency of gas boilers helps reduce fuel waste and conserve
energy. Gas boilers produce less hazardous gases and soot during
operation, which alleviates air pollution. Using this facility will result
in more complete combustion, with very little dust in the flue gas,
reducing environmental pollution and ensuring that air pollutants
are discharged up to standard. During the Reporting Period, the
Group's air emission data is as follows:

LA RHEY)

SERABRERRARBRARBIENRE - 25
MR- SACMFKER - BEBEEFTFHRAIGHEZ
)~ NI PR R SR S8 MG 2R R AR AR R R B XD B B - R
REETREAVELAEREMERE - REZRSR
ERZRBAREET D ERPMESERD  HEE R
HSR - BRARSRYERENR - REMH - A% E
B RE RBEDBURAT -

Unit 2024

B —E-EF
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) kg 2,013.37
AEfty NI
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) kg 12.20
maty YNIN
Particulate Matters (PM) kg 60.58
EEp k)| Ny

EEEEERAERAR o ZTZMNFFR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BR -HERERES (H)

Reduction Emission of Greenhouse Gases (“GHG ") LB ETEE ([BERAE]) B

The Group has implemented the following comprehensive £EBEEEMUTE2EASUNGEEENE - LERMHE

and efficient green measures to minimize our greenhouse gas

emissions:
Reduction of Business Trips o
RO E
Procurement from Local o
Suppliers

A A3 (PR R A T T PR AR

Control of Indoor Air Quality °
ERZERE

Utilization of Clean Energy °
HRRBREIR

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

REHPRESE -

The Group understands that business trips increase energy consumption and
indirectly lead to an increase in GHG emissions. We uses other effective means of
communication to reduce GHG emissions that arise from additional traffic, including
using phone and/or video conferencing, and encouraging employees to use public
transport.

SEAAEBHEESRMEREFAET HEEBREREH ML - Ak HMER
H AR E A AR D REIN B RER EREHEN - BEEAEER SR
HaE REBESREARRBIA -

Under the same business conditions (e.g. cost, quality, technology and services,
environmental and other factors), the Group give priority to local suppliers to reduce
delivery distance and its resulting carbon emissions.
SESERFNABEET (AR - B RMMMERS BREFAMEER)  EX
BEAMMERE - DURDEREREAE P 5 B IRBER -

To maintain good air quality, smoking is prohibited in the Group's factory and the
offices. The Hong Kong office has been equipped with air freshening machine and
comprehensive ventilation system to improve air quality.

RRFREFZERER SERERFAZEHBDEEE o kI BAEPAEEEE
EREMERTEMRAGUNEEREER -

Dongguan factory adopts gas boilers for production function.
REBMERARARRBIEEERR -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the Reporting Period, the Group has strictly complied with
relevant environmental protection regulations and did not violate
any environmental laws. The greenhouse gas emissions generated
during the period are as follows:

BRE -HERERES (F)

WEHE SEERBEABRERELR  YRER
RIRAD - AAPMELREREBFRSWT

Unit 2024
By —E-WF
Direct emission (Scope 1) tCO,e 3,020.28
B (FEEN) WS biEE
Energy indirect emission (Scope 2) tCOLe 1,239.34
BE R 1 5 HE i (G [E2) WE—SEALIRE 2
Total greenhouse gas emissions tCO.e 4,259.62
REREENME WS biEE
Intensity tCO,e/Person 25.06

BREREBHNEE
Packaging Material

During the Reporting Period, the use of packaging material was
immaterial.

Use of Resources

The Group's business belongs to green industry. Thus considerable
attention is paid to environmental protection to ensure reasonable
and efficient use of energy and resources.

Energy Conservation Measure

During the Reporting Period, to enhance energy efficiency, the
Group has implemented various energy-saving measures, including

WE—SEALIRE 2

N

LTt
BEH EEERANEEYRBELTEX -

BERER

SEXBBREEESR  FUAEERRBREAER
BERNERNAERBRER

BRIRERIE i

WEHRE - REAEREAYE  AEECEHRZ IR
WREIRIEIE - BRETER :

but not limited to:

The Group prioritizes low-energy electrical equipment to reduce carbon emissions.
In the procurement process of electrical appliances, priority is given to energy-saving
products such as refrigerators and washing machines which had grade 1 label of
energy-saving logos;

RNEBELRBERERES H&E ORI - EER/ARBRIES - BRERESD
BEEE - QPR — REFRE IR SR A0k AR ORI

Gradually all light bulbs have been replaced by LED luminaires to reduce energy
consumption. They also reduce the generation of harmful waste by replacing traditional
luminaires with shorter life cycle. According to the energy saving policies, lighting
devices, air-conditioners and printers are temporarily switched off during lunch time to
preserve energy; and

FRB BB FHLEDRE A BUX - UR A BERIERE - BRI SmmESRER - 1
AR EEEEYES - RIFHERR ETEDIESTHHRERARE =R
ENH LB 2982 R+ &

The air-conditioning system has been set to operate only during business hours with
temperature maintained at a reasonable level (e.g. 25 degrees Celsius). Apart from
facility control, energy-saving slogans have been posted at office entrances.
EREARERTEEE LWERET BRERASESIEKT (PIMNEK25E) - KRR
EEHIN  MAEADERIEEIREIZE -

EUEEERBRAF o« —ENFFR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -HERERARE (&)

During the Reporting Period, the key energy consumption data for
the Group's operations are as follows:

WEMRE  SEEBH I 2BERBIENT

Unit 2024
B —EMF
Direct energy consumption MWh 15,628.72
HERREREE F1E T FL bR
Indirect energy consumption MWh 2,185.20
EERERE T8 T FL B
Total energy consumption MWh 17,813.92
BRLRERE FEF & &
Intensity MWh/Person 104.79
BREREREE FETFEEA

To reinforce the Group’s commitment to efficient energy use, we
have set a target of maintaining its electricity consumption intensity
to be not more than the 2022 baseline.

Water Conservation Measure

To improve water efficiency and minimize the Group's water
consumption, the Group conducts regular inspections of water
resource usage. At the same time, we formulates monitoring
control whereby abnormal water consumption will be investigated.
Water conservation slogans are also posted to raise employee
awareness of water conservation and to remind employees and
visitors to conserve water.

Green Charter
The Group has signed the ‘Energy Saving Charter 2024’ jointly

organized by the Environmental and Ecology Bureau and the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

In the process of manufacturing corrugated paper boards, several
production stages consume significant amounts of water and
generate the following wastewater:

o Clean water during boiler operation;
o Washing wastewater from the cardboard production line; and
o Condensation wastewater from the cardboard line.

These wastewater streams, along with rainwater and processed by
the recycling system to meet standards and supplied to the fabric
beating room for beating or factory toilets to reduce wastewater
generation and water consumption. Technical transformation of the
equipment in the factory has been carried out to increase the water
reuse rate and reduce the discharge of waste water.

During the Reporting Period, the Group encountered no issues in
accessing suitable water sources, and the water consumption data
is as follows:

BR -HERERES (&)

ERENBAREERED  ZELERHAKELR
R WEEEIATRENX:

o IMEEITHBERETK:

o HURAEESIHEEEK: R

o MIRARSBEREK o
BLEKEHRAMKGER —WE  EEKRRGEEE
ROBEKERAEITREITRERSERRAMER - LUK

DKM ELE MFEKE o AR REETT R S0E
RETEERKERRDBEKOGFHRE -

WEHE - SEERSERKERS L EERERFE
iR KESENT

Unit 2024
By —EMEF
Total water consumption m? 36,643.00
BFEKE SR
Intensity mé/Person 215.55
BREKEE SNAKSAN
AEEBIERABRAR o ZTZMNFFR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

I%iﬁ B ?‘igﬁ,’klﬂl#&ﬂ:(nﬁ)

Office Resource Conservation

0P oNES-— v

The Group actively promotes electronic documentation to S£EEHRIBES FXHUEMEMABR DTS F
implement the concept of a paperless office. Computer files are B EISTHMIERAERIAR DB ASHFEEMHEH -
used instead of hardcopies to reduce the use of paper in offices. £ [E Ji & B E B B EUE (th A K S 12 18 e LA bk 0 =
The Group also encourages employees to adopt other recognized M AZBEFAELR  BIEETER :

management practices to avoid excessive use of resources by the

Group's offices, including but not limited to:

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Re-usable eating utensils instead of disposable ones;

BEREAEARRK—RUEER

Using single-side printed paper as draft paper;
EEENFIAEAIEETRA

Encouraging double-side printing;

SBYEmENR

Collecting waste office paper for recycling;

Bl N EREAETTRIR T A

Collecting and returning empty ink cartridges to the qualified licence suppliers for
recycling;

B RAEERFEEERRETRHETRRER

Waste paper and shredded confidential documents are stored in recycling stations and
regularly collected by qualified licensed recycling contractors; and

BEAR R T M R R R R, - EHIRAGE A BRI &

Collecting scrap resources generated from the Group's factory for recycling.

Bl Y = BB 2 g M FHE 1T R IR A A

* Annual Report 2024



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
R -HERERARE (K)

The Environment and Natural Resources REREAELER

The Group understands the concerns of the society on £BET#MHt&NBERMENET #HARMNESRS
environmental issues. Although our operations do not significantly ¥ EABIEBKEATZE  BERMATLEBEE TN
impact the natural environment, we strive to minimize potential 4 ERENFACKBREROBESEREREKE
negative effects on natural resources by implementing the EFZRAHE :

following green manufacturing and green procurement policies:

Green Procurement Policy

RERBBR

Green Manufacturing Policy

B RERR

As the main material for production of the Group is non-toxic and harmless paper
recycled waste paper, to ensure that our products meet the environmental protection
requirement, we require suppliers to provide a Restriction of Hazardous Substances
(ROHS) test report annually.

SEHNITEZELERMHRESLEZRE  RERHERERNTS ER  SEHEXR
HIE R T F IR AR 5 2 B R LB EME < (ROHS) AR S o

The Group is committed to reducing its impact on the environment and natural
resources. The Group has been accredited with ISO 9001: 2015 certification for
its quality management system, and continuously improves its management of
the environment. Various exhausts, wastewater, solid wastes and noises from the
production sites have been strictly controlled by government laws and regulations;
REBH DBV EREFERRABERNTE - £EZHSIS09001: 2015E 8 FILEE
FHRE  UHESCEHRFEE - AERSHNBEER  BK - BREYARE
FEBRBERRBNERERZES

The Group's factory has set up a safety and environmental incident emergency
rescue team for safety and environmental incident issue, and has conducted different
emergency drills. It has also established contingency plans with corresponding
emergency preparations and responses dealing with emergency to cope with various
urgent environmental safety incidents;

SERER L2 HRREREENL T X2 HRFREFNESRERML - B2 #ETH
FAEZER RENESBESHNRELESHN  SEBEITHE T RERTEHE
STAR KA RS E S E A D E

The Group is also equipped with specialized facilities for wastewater treatment. And
it has also established clear pollutant treatments and operating instructions which
monitor the facilities on real-time basis and record the results in detail; and
KETRE EPINEEKE BERE R - WEYRAENSRMEIE T AMIEXEEE -
BITERFEE R aR i A A8 RAF flirc 8% - )

The Group would carry out regular inspections on the key pollution control facilities to
ensure its normal operation. According to the provisions of the Law of Environmental
Protection of the People’s Republic of China, the Group makes environmental impact
assessment on construction projects in the Group's factory and strictly complies
with government emission regulations. All pollutants after processing have been
discharged in standards.

BT ERR AR E B R SRR M ETTE AN ED R (RER A EFET - RIE(P
EARANMBRBREL)  SHHEEHRENRERERETTRRLETL A
BIRBITBUN R TE » BERUSERIBENMABSAMEATAEERTE °

SEEEERERAR o T UFFR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
I%iﬁ B ?‘ig&,‘—klﬂl #&ﬂ: (nﬁ)

Climate Change

The Board of Directors considers climate change risk a significant
concern. Extreme weather becomes more prevalent every year
as a result of climate change. The frequent occurrence of high
temperature, chilly conditions, typhoons, drought, flooding and
other extreme weather may affect the operation of supply chains
in the paper industry (including raw material supply, procurement,
power generation, production facilities, and pollution prevention and
treatment facilities). Therefore, we have established the policies in
relation to climate change, endeavoring to alleviate, adapt to and
withstand climate change, while taking countermeasures to reduce
its impact on our business.

The Group’s policies in relation to climate change includes actively
respond to climate change, and formulate energy conservation
and carbon emission reduction goals to reduce greenhouse gas
emission; taking into account climate-related impacts during the
course of daily operation, including procurement, production and
sales; raise employees’ awareness on impacts of climate change
through training and publicity.

Furthermore, to collectively address climate change, we are
committed to reducing carbon emissions in our business
operations. Through active promotion of the green policy of
sustainable development to save energy, water, paper and other
resources within our capabilities. We also continuously enhance
our staff's environmental awareness and implement energy-saving
and emission-reduction measures in daily operations to establish a
low-carbon office environment.

Society
Employment

We regard our employees as the foundation and vital resources of
the Group. Therefore, we are committed to providing a favourable
working environment for our staff. To protect employee rights and
interests, the Group not only establishes relevant employment
policies but also strictly complies with employment regulations in
Hong Kong and mainland China requirements, including but not
limited to:

o Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China;

o Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China;

o Social Insurance Law of the People's Republic of China; and
o Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
R -HERERRE ()

As at 31 December 2024, the data on the total number and R-ZE-pUE+—-_A=+—H EEHNEERLHE LS H

distribution of employees are as follows: BRI
Unit 2024 2023M
By —E-NEF —E=-=
By gender
1Rl D
Male Person 129 137
el A
Female Person 41 46
2t A
By employment type
REEBENZ S
Full Time Person 169 183
g A
Part Time Person 1 -
F A
By age group
REBRAERE 5
18-24 Person 8 7
1822457, A
25-34 Person 18 24
2523457 A
35-44 Person 47 47
35% 445 A
45-54 Person 52 62
455457 A
55-64 Person 43 41
55E645% A
65 or above Person 2 2
653K sk A £ A
By geographical region
i@ &l
Mainland China Person 160 171
AR A A
Hong Kong Person 10 12
6 A
Others Person - 0
Hith A
Total Person 170 183
“5t A
Note: Bzt -

(1) To enhance data consistency and comparability, the Group’s 2023 (1) AFREHEMN—BMHRATL Y - ANEE2023FEEE R
energy consumption data has been restated. EHEIEEHED
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -HERERARE (&)

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s employee turnover rates R4 EBifS - EEAEE RAREEM T ¢
are as follows:

Unit 2024 2023M
By —E-EF —E=-=
By gender
1Rl D
Male % 42 58
el
Female % 24 15
1t
By age group
REBRERZE S
18-24 200 186
1852413, %
25-34 61 54
2523473, %
35-44 32 55
35E 4455, %
45-54 31 40
VEN T %
55-64 12 24
55E645% %
65 or above 50 0
65553 A £ %
By geographical region
i@ &l
Mainland China 38 50
AR A %
Hong Kong 30 17
6 %
Others - 0
H A, %
Total % 38 48
@k E
Note: Hiat -

(1) To enhance data consistency and comparability, the Group’s 2023 (1) ARESEEN BRIt - KEB2023FEEBRE
employee turnover rate data has been restated. ERKENEBEIWET -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Recruitment and Promotion

The Group ensures that the recruitment process is in compliance
with the legislation and free from discrimination. All candidates have
been treated equally. During recruitment, it has been stipulated to
prohibit discrimination against factors such as race, ethnicity, social
class, nation, religion, disability, gender, sexual orientation, marital
status, age, membership in trade union or political party.

Employees would be promoted in accordance with the Group's
rules and regulations, through fair and impartial performance
appraisal, to ensure equal opportunities for promotion.

Compensation and Welfare

The Group strictly adheres to various labour laws and regulations
to safeguard employee compensation and benefits, including
the statutory minimum wages, legal calculation for overtime
compensation, social insurance paid for employees, statutory
holidays, paid leave, and mandatory maternity leave entitlements
are properly implemented.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make any legal
violation or discrimination.

Employee benefits

Employees would be entitled to insurance, medical benefits, share
options as well as discretionary bonus. The Group offers holiday
benefits to employees. In addition, whenever compensation to the
employee at work is required, the Group would implement in strict
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations.

BR -HERERES (&)

AR EEH

SEERBEEFTAOEZEATABEG - IEREE
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AREHARERBFRARMEAR -

BEBRESENREGNE BB FRAENEREZ
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HHE K&
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HEWT -

WEMRE - AEEAREREE ORI E AR AN
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -HERERARE (&)

Health and Safety RBEHZTE

We have established the following comprehensive occupational HFIEEVU T ENRERELL2ETIEEZ  EFBN
health and safety management system to prevent occupational [FIREPHEBESERER ©
injuries and diseases through diverse approaches:

Occupational Health and Safety Policy

BERERZZBUR

The Group has formulated a set of safety production management, including first-aid and self-help knowledge after
the occurrence of an accident. In the Group's factory, it has set up a safety team and provided three levels of safety
training on regular basis namely Factory Level, Departmental Level and Group Level which are led by the departmental
heads and safety officers;

EEREVTREBENT2AEHE  ERREBENFEENESRHEREBRME - EXREHEK LT LR/ E - WE
R =R 2850 - WA - BPARRHER  THESMEEARZE2EEEE

Volunteer fire brigades have been set up in the Group's factory for safety purpose. Apart from this, the Group also
installs CCTV in various locations such as warehouse, materials storage to reduce the risk from any accident; and
ERL2ER SEMERLTEBHENK Rtz SEERRATFRRE (NEE - MEWHES) RIS
BRBEERR  LURDEREBEINTE R ER; &

Employees can raise out any safety issues concern to the safety team.
BEAUMZE/NMAREHHLZEEHERE -

Workplace Safety Management
ITHEREZE2ER

The Group comprehensively evaluates potential workplace risks and has established the following refined operational
protocols to manage the health and safety hazards posed to employees as follows:

SE2EMETHERENEERR  YEIUTEENERTA UEEHREEBKNBERLZ2REE

o) Operating procedures are set up for all level positions, for example, regulations of operations management for
safe work in confined space and the procedures for operating machinery to protect the safety of employees;

ERNEULBRERE  WAREMLZ2FEEERERRERZZARE  UREREL S

o Safety officers would regularly inspect fire protection facilities and safety facilities to ensure they can function
properly;
ZE2FAETRUEETRIERELERME  ABRAEEET

o Protective equipment is provided to employees such as masks, earplugs, plastic gloves and anti-smashing
shoes;

REERMHMERR MOE - HE BFERDBDHE

o) Emergency exits are kept clear to prevent obstruction; and

RERTABGBEN &

Employees can raise out any safety issues concern to the safety team.
BEAUNAZE/NMRHHZEFHZERE -

Employee Safety Training

EEZ 2

The Group provides suitable training to ensure effective implementation of operating rules and safe operation of
equipment. Moreover, all new employees must take training in knowledge of safety. The Group also regularly arranges
fire and emergency drills at factory facilities to enhance staff response capabilities to unexpected incidents.
SERHTENFIIFE - BIRE TR D RIERMEBIEFIERERT o 1L - PIAEMABA B MERTZ 2 MM -
SENERTHRERFEEITEN RIESIER - AINse 8 THREEWONEERED -

Work-life Balance Management
ITHREEFEHER

The Group is committed to promoting employee work-life balance through regular organization of various recreational
activities. There are recreational facilities in the Group’s factory like sports ground, basketball court, billiard room, table
tennis room and karaoke room.

SEINHHETERIFEETE  EHENSHERLETD - SEREANREEDS  &£IK5 - 25K=E  EEKE -
RHOKE E R4 o
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

No working hours (2023: 0 working hours) were lost due to work
injuries during the Reporting Period and no work-related fatality
was identified in the past three years including this reporting
year. During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied
with relevant safety regulations in Hong Kong and mainland China
legislation, and was not aware of any prosecutions due to violations
of occupational safety-related laws, including but not limited to the
following ordinances:

o Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China; and

o Law of the People's Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases.

Development and Training
Career Development Policy

The Group has established comprehensive training system that
covers factory’s rules and regulations, product workmanship,
environmental protection and the relevant safety training. In
addition, the Group emphasizes practical experiences and thus
arranges team leaders, group leaders or experienced employees to
guide new recruits in their work.

During the Reporting Period, the percentage data of employees
who received training in the Group is as follows:

BEHERE

WEHE EERERIBEMHERT

BHRE (&

B (ZZE-=4F:

)

OTH) UM BE=F (BRAREFE) HEHRE
TEERNRTEN - REREEBERETEERE

FHBABNLZ 2R AT MEBGERMERZREBREL

el RUIE @ SN ES E

o (PEARHNMBZZEEZL) K

o (PREARKMEBERIE)

BIEETRN AT -

BERE

BEZRKE

SERUTRETIHAREHE EmTE RERER
HEAZ2EINGEEEIIEER - I KERFHEE
VTRZHEFBEA  NMIAEBASIKREENETET

fERIEEHET -

WEHME - £ES

XIBETBEDLLHBIENT

Unit 2024 2023
By —E-NMEF —E==
By Gender
1Rl D
Male % 97 96
B
Female % 98 89
2t
By Employment Category
?EEE\/‘\*E$|J/'\
Senior Management % 67 100
BREEE
Middle Management % 80 80
FEEEE
Supervisor % 100 89
FE
General Staff % 99 96
—RET
Percentage of employees who participated in % 97 95
training out of total workforce
SR8 Th 8 TS
AEEBIERABRAR o ZTZMNFFR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -HERERARE (&)

During the Reporting Period, the average training hours per

employee of the Group are as follows:

WEHM SEEITARIINHEEAT

Unit 2024 2023
By —EMF ===
By Gender
1% R &l
Male Hour 6.07 5.82
St AN
Female Hour 9.12 5.76
It N
By Employment Category
REENHEE S
Senior Management Hour 3.42 2.67
SREREE N
Middle Management Hour 5.20 6.80
R I
Supervisor Hour 5.78 6.39
xE NG
General Staff Hour 712 5.76
—®RET N
Average training hours per employee Hour 6.80 5.80
B8 TR AIRE N

During the Reporting Period, the total number of employees
attended training was 165 and the total number of training hours
provided to employees was 1,157. The average training hours for
each employee were around 7 hours.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits child labour and only employs individuals
above the legal working age, ensuring zero tolerance for any form
of forced labour. We implement stringent recruitment procedures,
including rigorous verification of applicants’ identification
documents. We also regularly review the employees’ information
to ensure no employment of child labour and forced labour. To
prevent child labour, forced labour, and other potential violations,
the Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations in
Hong Kong and mainland China, including but not limited to:

° Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China;
o Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China; and

. Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Group does not adopt any kind of forced labour including
prison labour as supplier. If the responsible personnel identify
the existence of child labour or forced labour within the Group,
the work of such child labour or forced labour will be terminated
immediately.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to the
prevention of child or forced labour that would have a significant
impact on the Group.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has developed various codes of conduct which are
communicated to suppliers of the Group, to assure product quality.
Prohibition on waste paper being mixed with hazardous wastes
would minimize the impact on environment.

The Group maintains a robust supplier selection mechanism
with evaluation criteria covering multiple aspects including
product quality, pricing, environmental performance, and social
responsibility to select partners with optimal cost-effectiveness
and overall performance. We have established a comprehensive
supplier assessment system that evaluates both new and existing
suppliers’ qualifications and compliance through regular on-site
inspections and documentation reviews. During the Reporting
Period, we conducted these assessments on 8 major suppliers.

Green procurement represents a core procurement philosophy
of the Group, we strictly require that components supplied must
meet national and industry environmental standards. The Group
also arranges meetings with the suppliers on a regular basis to
ensure the provision of quality products and services to customers
and to monitor the supplier's performance in business ethics,
environmental protection, human rights and labour practices.

As of 31 December 2024, the geographical distribution of the
Group's suppliers was as follows:

BR -HERERES (&)
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WEHM HME MR EZMHEEBMITIA LFTE -

BREBEEENZORBES  RMOBRBERMEER
PR e B R BB R RATRHIRRIZE - KRETR
EHRHERRTEE  UERATFPEHEZERR
AR - WEERHEHAERFER RIRRE - ALY
TERTENRE -

MNZTE-ME+-A=1+—0 SEEEFHNBIEDH
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Unit 2024 2023
B —EZEF —E-=
Total Number of Supplier Number 44 34
HEmAR EX
By Geographical Region
i = & 5
PRC Number 43 88
+ EX
Others Number 1 1
HA, EX
EEEEERAERAR o ZTZMNFFR



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -HERERARE (&)

Product Responsibility EmEF
The Group places high emphasis on product quality and $EI%FE?EE%E;%'§J%%Q?HM HEBEMEM °
remains committed to providing quality products to the public. RKfIHETELEETIEER @ LEAEEMNZLRES -

We continuously enhance our quality management system to  Exi%i& #E,%&I%E’ﬁﬁﬁa/fﬁ@/fﬁ BEETRER :
strengthen the Group’s core competitiveness. The Group strictly
complies with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and

mainland China, including but not limited to:

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China; and

Law of the People’'s Republic of China on the Protection of

Consumer Rights and Interests.

Quality Assurance Policy

EERBHE

o The Group has stringent criteria in monitoring
production process. The quality of semi-finished
products and finished products are examined.
Moreover, the Group ensures workers to
operate carefully during the production process
to avoid defective products being delivered to
the market.
SEEERAEREREBRROMEE - ¥R M
R mWAES mE R - it SEBERL
AEEEBRREPREESE  UREFREmMN
HT% o

Fair Marketing Policy

AFEEASBER

o The Group's salespersons are required to
disseminate information on the recognized
competitive advantage only when promoting

the products. Negative description of
competitors is not allowed so as to avoid
misleading customers.
SEHEABEHERERK  AAIENERE
BRI BEFEBENEM  TAFHGEFEFE
BEMRM - BERPERE -

° Annual Report 2024

o (PFEARKMEESEZER) &

o (PEARHNMBEDEEBERRZREER)

Product Safety Policy
EmZE2HE
L]

For assuring product safety, the finished
products must pass the final inspection and
testing before releasing to the market.
ARBEREZE  KREREMESANERB

A %ﬁ.&/ﬁiﬂ ait °

After-sales Service Policy

ERRBEE

Customer service officers and salespersons
would make after-sales visits to customers
on a regular basis. The Group would obtain
comments for improvement according to
results of customer’s satisfaction survey and
would follow up after-sales issues immediately.
If there are severe product quality issues, the
Group would recall the defective products from
the market.
3?)5HE@"%)\E&E%EAEEH}%%TE)E%EG%%
KIETF&)E%:I&FDHE%Z%«?E)E
E’] &.:l ER U HRESEEE - WNERD
BBRERERE  SEEKRE S AR EE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the reporting year, the Group received 11 (2023: 4)
complaints in relation to product quality.

The Group has established rigorous mechanisms to comprehensively
monitor all stages of product lifecycle, ensuring proper
implementation of technical standards, operational safety, and
product and service quality. The designated quality control team
conducts thorough analysis of each quality report and product recall
request, implementing appropriate follow-up measures accordingly.

During the Reporting Period, there was no product subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.

Privacy Protection of Consumer’s Information

The Group attaches importance to customers’ data privacy and
is dedicated to abiding by the requirements of the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong. Personal information of
customers would properly be maintained by the Group. Relevant
information has been stored at the internal specific department.
Moreover, customer information can only be accessed by the
authorized personnel. No one is allowed to make own copies of or
store privately or get the customer information out of the offices
without permission. During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance incidents relating to
product responsibility or privacy matters.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group endeavours to protect intellectual rights by different
measures. We actively monitor any infringement in terms of
counterfeit goods across the country with people’s court and
public bodies. In addition, we renew the registration of any expiring
trademarks and patents based on the need of our business.

Anti-corruption

Business ethics and compliance integrity are vital to the Group's
management and sustainable development. The Group is
committed to upholding a corporate culture of credibility and
integrity, eliminating all unethical practices including bribery,
extortion, fraud, and money laundering. We actively promote
anti-corruption initiatives and continuously advance our
integrity-building efforts. The Group strictly complies with relevant
laws and regulations, including but not limited to:

° Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of
China;

° Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of
China; and

° Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201).

I%iﬁ N ?‘i%&kkll:l#&l:l (nm)
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The Group has established comprehensive system for internal SEBEEYV TE2EHADBLEFER  HEZ] 7T —EBRESOK
control and formulated a set of strict policies, which prevent % - [ IF A TN EENEETA  WHIEESAMEM
malpractices and unethical business practices, and also avoid the  HEFE{T AL - BIFETER :

occurrence of corruption and other fraudulent behaviours, including

but not limited to:

Corporate Governance
TEER
The Board of Directors has set up different committees, such as audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee, striving to maintain high standards of corporate governance to safeguard shareholders rights
and interests, as well as the Group’s value and accountability.
EFEETRUNAZE®  NEZZEES REZEGRIFMEZES  BUIARSEENGEES - IMRERE
R RER  EeEEERBESE -

Whistle-blowing Policy
ERBE
The Group has supervised the behavior of operating personnel in order to safeguard employees’ legal rights and
corporate interests. In addition, the Group welcomes employees to report any non-compliance and dishonest behavior.
The privacy of relevant employees who report the issues would be protected.
SEEEERIEABNTR  UWREEENESEER KA AN o I EEEGEES BREM TSR HE K
117 - MERRAHEEE S WALRE K& HIRE -

Financial Auditing
B =%
The Group engages ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as the independent third-party auditor to audit the Group's
financial accounts. This ensures that the Group’s accounts are clear and accurate, and the interests of shareholders
are protected.
SEEFTELCESHMEBAMARARAB Y E =7 XA - HEBOMKIRE ETER - ERREEREEMH
At RIRTE T IRE A Fz

Declaration on Conflict of Interest
Fll 25 18 28 B 3R

The Group stipulates that all employees must declare the conflict of interests. Directors and senior management are

prohibited to transact any securities of the Group during sensitive periods

SEHATERBEEARRIRER  EFNSREEER EFRKHETEENZE SRS -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
corruption litigation cases filed against the company or its
employees, nor was it aware of any material non-compliance with
laws and regulations relating to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud,
and money laundering that would have a significant impact on the
Group.

Community Investment

The Group firmly believes in the principle of giving back to
the community and considers social contribution as one of its
sustainable development strategies. Therefore, we are committed
to promoting and participating in the sustainable development
of the community. The Group has actively participated in the
community including donating funds and materials to charitable
organizations to giving back to the society. The Group encourages
and supports our staff and workers to participate in voluntary social
welfare works. In financial year 2024, the Group sponsored to the
Tangli Elderly Club (BIE&RE ) for caring of elderly.

I%iﬁ N ?‘i%&"*/ﬂ#&m (nn)
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venFE -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
ESEHRE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

A business review of the Group with description of the principal
risks and uncertainties and the likely future development are set
out in chairman’s statement, management discussion and analysis
on pages 4 to 16, this directors’ report on pages 64 to 77, and in
notes 5, 6, 34 and 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 84.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years from 2020 to 2024 is set out on page 176.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 26
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Details of the movement in the share premium and reserves of the
Group during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 86.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$393,732,000 (2023:
HK$414,330,000), being the aggregation of share premium and
retained profits.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, Chairman
Mr. Hui Sum Tai, Chief Executive Officer
Ms. Hui Yuk Ling (appointed on 30 August 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tso Sze Wai
Mr. Wong Chu Leung
Mr. Chau Suk Ming

In accordance with Article 84(2) of the Company's Articles of
Association, Ms. Hui Yuk Ling shall retire from office by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and being
eligible, offer herself for re-election.

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Company's Articles of
Association, Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Chau Suk Ming shall
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

Ms. Hui Yuk Ling has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term commencing from 30 August 2024 to 29
August 2027, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party. Further, each
of the Directors (except for Ms. Hui Yuk Ling) has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term commencing from
1 April 2025 to 31 March 2027, which may be terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party.

Save as disclosed above, no Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from the Independent Non-executive
Directors, annual confirmations of their independence pursuant
to the Listing Rules. The Company considers the Independent
Non-executive Directors are independent.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Company are set out in Management Profile on pages 17 to 19.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERE (K)

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company approved and adopted a share option scheme
(the “2013 Scheme"”) on 3 June 2013 for the primary purpose of
providing incentive or rewards to selected participants for their
contribution to the Group.

The 2013 Scheme has expired on 2 June 2023. Thereafter, no
further options will be granted under the 2013 Scheme but the
subsisting options granted thereunder prior to the expiry date will
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms
of the 2013 Scheme.

Particulars of the 2013 Scheme of the Company are set out in note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’'s share
options during the year:

B

ARRER B -=F A=A ERTRWERE
F(=F—=FF3) T2ENRYAKEELE
BlzigE2 BB LS BNEE -

—T=FHEBRZZT=FXA-HER - &
BABRE-_T—=FrraRbLERE BEEHAH
ZHIRBZAEREMNAEERESEEARL AR
B F - F R B ERITE

ARBZ T -—=ZFHEZFBERGEAVBERRM
728 e

TREBAARABRENEN 22

Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised Forfeited  Outstanding

price per  at beginning during during during at end of
Category Option type Date of grant share of the year the year the year the year the year
=¥l BREER BREBRE SBROEE FIHAGE R ERITE FRRM FEHRTE

(Note ii) HK$
(MsEii) B
Directors
=
Mr. Hui Sum Ping G 15.10.2018 0.435 3,984,000 - - - 3,984,000
T
Mr. Hui Sum Tai G 15.10.2018 0.435 3,984,000 - - - 3,984,000
FRREE
Mr. Wong Chu Leung G 15.10.2018 0.435 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
8,968,000 - - - 8,968,000

Director's respective associate
EZNHEA
Mr. Tsui Yung Wai (Note i) G 15.10.2018 0.435 3,484,000 - - - 3,484,000
RBREE ()
Other employee G 15.10.2018 0.435 50,000 - - (50,000) -
HtES
Total for all categories 12,502,000 - - (50,000) 12,452,000

eV
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Tsui Yung Wai is the spouse of Ms. Hui Yuk Ling. Ms. Hui Yuk (i)
Ling was appointed as Executive Director on 30 August 2024. Ms. Hui
Yuk Ling therefore is deemed to be interested in such 3,484,000

shares of the Company under SFO.

(i) The vesting period of the share options granted is determined by (ii)
Directors at each time when the options are granted. Holders of
share options granted under the 2013 Scheme may only exercise
their options during the exercisable periods as follows:

Granted under the 2013 Scheme
BE-Z-—=F:88E4H

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHRSE (H)

B ()

BBEAELERFER LT 2ER FEBRLTE-Z
ZMENAZTABREEARITES - LT ER L
W15, A 7B AN A)3,484,0000% A% 1D 2 #E 5 ©

EHBEEZFEAHETRERRBBRERET -
- FHEITRBERESE AERRATITERITE
%z FEAhE

Option type G Maximum % of share options exercisable

GEBERE ATEEREZESBEDL

1. 5 2019-30.4.2020 up to 50%
—hWERA-—HBZ-Z=-FTFNWA=+H B = ] #50%

1.5.2020-30.4.2021
—ECRFAA-RAE-_T-—FONA=1H

1.5.2021-30.4.2026
CE - FRA-BEE-_AFNA=1H

up to 75% (to the extent not already exercised)

R AIET5% VAR ARITEE RR)

up to 100% (to the extent not already exercised)

& A E100% (WA ARITES ABR)

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of new shares which WR—-_Z-—mME+—-_F=+—H BE_ZT—=4F2

might be issued upon exercise of the options that had been granted

ERBEHRTENBRERITERATERTHRND

and remained outstanding under the 2013 Scheme was 12,452,000
new shares, representing approximately 1.52% of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
5 June 2023, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2023 Scheme”)
under which the Directors may grant options to eligible participants
to subscribe for the Company's shares subject to the terms and
conditions as stipulated therein. Unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, the 2023 Scheme will remain valid for a period of 10
years from the date of its adoption.

Under the 2023 Scheme, the Board may grant options to any
Directors and employees of our Group (including persons who
are granted options under the 2023 Scheme as an inducement to
enter into employment contracts with any member of our Group)
("Employee Participants”); and directors and employees of the
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of
our Company (“Related Entity Participants”) and, for the purpose of
the 2023 Scheme, the offer for the grant of an option may be made
to any company wholly-owned by one or more eligible participants.

The number of options available for grant under the 2023 scheme
as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 were 8,176,400
shares and 8,176,400 respectively. No share options have been
granted under 2023 scheme.

4880 512,452,0000% - (h AR R RIRZHEBEEHITRMD L
1.52% ©

RZZB-Z=ZFXARRBTHARRBRRFI RS L
ARBIBRRALERAFTBRAESE ([T _=F5
2)) > RIEZEE - ESAEETEPREN SRR G
HTHRAERSEERNBREARBBARBRN - &
FERBEUERER T _=FHEARBZEEEN
HEt+E-

RE-Z-_=F:8 ARREFEIAETMEFTEA
SEHEE (BRRE_Z_=F8EEBRENMER
BAEEEFAKE QR LEBANZFERZAL) (TR
B28EE))  RARREZERIR - ARMEA R
@TZE%&@E(F@LEEE/,\%J)&?JE_y_:
FEEIM ERA—E2AZRAERZEEREHRR
ZAEAA TT XHBEREZZL -

R -_mWE+_-_A=+—BR-ZT_=ZF+_F7
=+—H RBE-Z-=FHEREUHBEAERE
2B 9 5l £8,176,40017 A& # 2 #E == }28,176,40017 & i%
2R  — T =FF AW ER A ERE -
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
% % e & & ( Fi=! )

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares available for
issue under the 2023 Scheme was 8,176,400 shares, representing
10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under the Scheme 2023 of the Company as at year
ended 2024 divided by the weighted average number of issued
shares for the year ended 31 December 2024 was 10%.

Taking into consideration that the grant is to provide incentives
or rewards to the grantee, which is critical for the Company’s
future development and growth, the Remuneration Committee
of the Company is of the view that it is not necessary to set any
performance target or clawback mechanism for the grant of share
option because such grant could retain high-calibre employees for
the continual operation and development of the Group. As such,
the arrangement is aligned with the purpose of the share option
scheme.

The details of the principal terms and conditions of the 2023
Scheme were summarised in the circular of the Company dated 19

May 2023.

No option was granted under the 2023 Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHRSE (H)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING EERK#® - HEROREHZ 2#EHE

SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the RKRZ-ZE-—E+=—A=+—H ' IKBAQTREBERL
Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the  HRE (&M ([FEERHEEN)]) F32E 7 BEEFZE
Company and its associated corporations within the meaning of 2 FTEREE @ HABIE M BRITAESETE LR HHIE

Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 EFRHDHE RN RBLAE  EFERANTRER
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFQ"), as recorded in the register  E&AE (F& BEBAMIES71EH 5 MEAEEGIEXVES)
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, ;- HERMRESFTEEZESERARIT ¢

or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

(a) Shares (a) M7
Approximate
Company/ percentage
Name of associated Number and class of of issued
Name of Director corporation Capacity securities share capital
HEBRTRE
B ADR/HEEEERE =30} BEYERER BABED L
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Beneficial owner 132,400,681 shares 16.19%
Long position
HFHRFILE ANE] EnEAA 132,400,681 % % 13
)
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Founder of a discretionary 107,755,400 shares 13.17%
trust/interest of Long position (Note 1)
controlled corporations
ARELE ARQA 2RIEFRIZIAS 107,755,4008% 3513
REEEER A (BsET)
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Interest of spouse 27,256,000 shares 3.33%
Long position
FRTEE Fi /N [P ¥ 27,256,000 (% 17 4F &
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Beneficial owner 150,556,430 shares 18.41%
Long position
TRELE /N EREAA 150,556,4308% i 17 4F &
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Interest of spouse 5,110,000 shares 0.62%
Long position
HRTERE ARA] fiB 2 e 5,110,0008% & 17 #F &
Ms. Hui Yuk Ling Company Beneficial owner 1,200,000 shares 0.15%
Long position
FERZT AN EalEEA 1,200,0000% f% {3 4F &
Ms. Hui Yuk Ling Company Interest of spouse 500,000 shares 0.06%
Long position (Note 2)
FERRT /N feB s 500,000 iz {3 47 & (P £2)

CUEEERBRAF o« —ENFFR
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EXTEHRS (H)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

(a) Shares (Continued)

(a) MD (&)

EERKRMD HERORES 2 Em® (@)

Approximate

Company/ percentage
Name of associated Number and class of of issued
Name of Director corporation Capacity securities share capital
HEBTRAE
B ADTE,/AHEEEB 5% EEHERER BABED
Mr. Chau Suk Ming Company Beneficial owner 180,000 shares 0.02%
Long position
JEREA % F /N EnEAA 180,0008% % 17 &7 &
Mr. Chau Suk Ming Company Interest of spouse 1,563,007 shares 0.18%
Long position (Note 3)
JEREA % FN/N] [ ¥ 1,553,007/ Bk (7 47 &
(Fff3%3)
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Gong Ming Hop Fung Founder of a discretionary 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
Paper Ware Factory trust/interest of controlled  deferred shares of
Limited (“Hop Fung GM”™)  corporations/short position  HK$1 each Long and
of controlled corporations short positions (Note 4)
FARF A RASERDBERD Z2REFEIAS 3,000,000/ G AR E(E1/E T
([&82m)) 2 EE R ZERZERTRITA
XEEEKRE Kosk e (Hizka)
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Hop Fung GM Short position of a 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
controlled corporation deferred shares of
HK$1 each Long and
short positions (Note 3)
FHRELE BYNH REEERR 3,000,000 &% EIE1E T
ZERERERIER

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES

AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

(a) Shares (Continued)

Notes:

The 107,755,400 shares are owned by Goldspeed Holdings
Limited (“Goldspeed”). Goldspeed is wholly owned by
Goldkeen Assets Management Limited (“Goldkeen”) and
Goldkeen is wholly owned by HSBC International Trustee
Limited ("HSBC") in its capacity as the trustee of HSP 2004
Family Trust, a discretionary trust the founder of which is
Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the discretionary objects of which
include Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the family members of Mr. Hui
Sum Ping. Accordingly, Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be
interested in the 107,755,400 shares under the SFO.

Mr. Tsui Yung Wai, the spouse of Ms. Hui Yuk Ling, is directly
interested in 500,000 shares, representing approximately
0.06% of the total issued shares of the Company. Ms. Hui Yuk
Ling therefore is deemed to be interested in such 1,700,000
shares of the Company under the SFO.

Ms. Ma Lai Sim, the spouse of Mr. Chau Suk Ming, is directly
interested in 1,553,007 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 0.18% of the total issued shares of the
Company. Mr. Chau Suk Ming therefore is deemed to be
interested in such 1,553,007 shares of the Company under the
SFO.

Hop Fung GM is a subsidiary of the Company and therefore
an associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. The
entire issued share capital of Hop Fung GM is HK$3,000,100
divided into 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each and 3,000,000
non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each. The 3,000,000
non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM are
beneficially owned by Hop Fung Group (HK) Limited (“Hop
Fung Group HK") which is owned as to 50% and 50% by
Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively.

Under the SFO, each of Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui Sum
Tai is deemed to be interested in the 3,000,000 non-voting
deferred shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM.

Pursuant to an option deed dated 19 August 2003, Hop
Fung Group HK and its nominee granted to Hop Fung Group
Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
an option to purchase from them such 3,000,000 non-voting
deferred shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM. Accordingly,
each of Mr. Hui Sum Ping and Mr. Hui Sum Tai is deemed to
have a short position in the underlying shares of the option
granted under the option deed pursuant to the SFO.

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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International Trustee Limited ([ HSBC J) JAHSP
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WAR B A %107,755,4000% B 1 2 42 o
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERE (K)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

(b) Share options

Details of the Directors’ and their associates’ interests in share
options of the Company are set out in the section headed “Share
Options” in this report.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31 December 2024.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

EERKRMD HERORES 2 Em® (@)

(b) MEERAE

BENESIHEATRARRBRE 2 ES
W [RElsEl —6&m

SR IBENA

BENEREN R_Z_NF+_A=1+—H #=
MEEzBBEALTHMERN AR R REEAAEEERZ
AR - HERDREFTEEEFARREIORS

FERRRAR®D  HHBERORES 2ES

As at 31 December 2024, the following shareholders had interests RZZEZWF+ZA=+—H ' REXREIZREFSF KL
or short positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company HAEKHIE336EFE 2 ERMAMZHEAITHEERA
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company @ ' T3IRREA A A TR 15 S4B B AR 10 o A 1 2 ook
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the & :
Company:
Approximate
Number of Number of percentage of
issued share issued
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held options held Note(s) share capital
FEERT Fi EERTRA
BRRERE,/HE 54 RO#HE BREHE i BREDL
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Beneficial owner/founder of a discretionary 267,412,081 3,984,000 1,2 33.19%
trust/interest of controlled corporations/
interest of spouse
FRFRE ERBEEA/ 2REREALAN/
R EER B RR
Goldspeed Beneficial owner 107,755,400 - 2 13.17%
ERBEBA
Goldkeen Interest of a controlled corporation 107,755,400 - 2 13.17%
REfEER
HSBC Trustee of discretionary trust 107,755,400 - 2 13.17%
PREFXTA
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Beneficial owner/interest of spouse 155,666,430 3,984,000 3 19.52%
ARELE ERBEA/ BB ER
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Beneficial owner/interest of spouse 71,227,882 - 4 20.94%
AFARE L ExBE A/ BBz ER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (Continued)

Notes:

1. Of 267,412,081 total shares and 3,984,000 total options, Ms. Jian
Jian Yi is directly interested in 27,256,000 shares and is deemed to
be interested in 240,156,081 shares and 3,984,000 options of the
Company under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Ping, a
Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company.

2. The entire issued share capital of Goldspeed is indirectly held by
HSBC through its 100% controlled corporation, Goldkeen in its
capacity as the trustee of HSP 2004 Family Trust, a discretionary
trust the founder of which is Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the discretionary
objects of which include Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the family members
of Mr. Hui Sum Ping. Accordingly, each of Goldspeed, Goldkeen,
HSBC and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be interested in the
107,755,400 shares under the SFO.

3. Of 155,666,430 total shares and 3,984,000 total options, Ms. Leung
Pui Man is directly interested in 5,110,000 shares and is deemed to
be interested in 150,556,430 shares and 3,984,000 options of the
Company under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Tai, a
Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company.

4. Of 171,227,882 shares, Ms. Wong Mui is directly interested in
750,000 shares and is deemed to be interested in 170,477,882 shares
of the Company under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum
Kwok, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SHARES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company's listed
securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above,
at no time during the year was the Company, any of its holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate. In addition, save as disclosed above,
none of the Directors, and any of their respective associates were
granted any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company or
had exercised any such right during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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1. 267,412,081 8% A% {5 48 21 12 3,984,00017 B A i s g
S i 1% 22 - B #2358 A 2 §)27,256,0000% X 17 #E 2 - A
FHARBEAARGIZESREERRFRTAEZR
B REBEZHFLBAERY BREZTIHEEAEELAR
A]240,156,081 B A% 19 %.3,984,00017 BE A& 1 2 # 25 -

2. GoldspeedZ 2 #8 B 3 17 I& X FHHSBCIE 8 H100% 5 2
% E Goldkeen AHSP 2004 Family TrustZ &5 A & 17 &
B o HSP 2004 Family Trust/h—IE & #E{Z5E - HA|
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TRV EZRERE - Al - RIBFF RIS KO -
Goldspeed * Goldkeen * HSBCR #FHF LA S B R A
% 53%107,755,4000% f% 15 2 %5 o
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750,000/ B #a - AR REAARNRG Z FER/E
HRELEZRES  BEEFHFRPERD  EELIH
REHAEARNATNT0,477,8820 B 10 Z S ©

BREXHWEEN R-ZE-_NF+-_A=1+—8 4XR
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERE (K)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the transactions set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company is
or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates were
interested in any business apart from the Group’s business, that
competes or competed or are or were likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group's business at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company's business was entered into or existed during
2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Article 164(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses incurred by him or
her in the execution and discharge of his or her duties.

The Company maintained appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance during 2024 and up to the date of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of
revenue attributable to the Group's five largest customers accounted
for around 7.1% of the Group's revenue. The aggregate amount of
purchases attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 79.4% of the Group's total purchases, with the
largest supplier accounted for approximately 29.0%.

None of the Directors, their close associates and shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company's issued shares) have any interests in the Group's five
largest customers and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as note 32 to consolidated financial statements in this annual
report, the Group did not enter into any related party transactions
or continuing related party transactions which fall under the
definition of “Connected Transaction” or “Continuing Connected
Transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
shall oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
approximately HK$3,200 (2023: HK$24,000).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors strive to maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholder value and safeguard
shareholder interests. The corporate governance principles of the
Company emphasize the importance of a quality Board, effective
internal controls and accountability to shareholders. The Company
has met the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules throughout
the year ended 31 December 2024, except with the following
deviations:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
% % e & & ( Fi=! )

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Continued) EEER @)

Code Provision C.2.1 <FBI{&32C.2.11%

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

There are no written terms on division of responsibilities
between the chairman and the chief executive officer.
In daily operations, the chairman and the chief executive
officer report to each other because their working tasks are
different. The Directors consider that the responsibilities of
the chairman and chief executive officer respectively are
clear and distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not
necessary.

Code Provision D.3.3

Code Provision D.3.3 stipulates that the Audit Committee
must meet, at least twice a year, with the Company’s auditor.

Since the Company has not engaged its auditor to review
the financial information in its interim report, the Audit
Committee has met with the Company's auditor once a year
to discuss matters arising from the audit of the Company's
annual results and other matters the auditor may raise. Apart
from the meeting, the Audit Committee may raise questions
to the Company’s auditor via electronic means if needed. The
Audit Committee has met with the Company's auditor once
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Code Provision E.1.2

A deviation from the code provision E.1.2 is that the
remuneration committee of the Company reviews and makes
recommendations to the Directors on the remuneration
packages of the directors only but not senior management.

Currently, the remuneration of senior management is
attended by the chairman and/or chief executive officer of the
Company. The senior management report to the chairman
and/or chief executive officer. Therefore, the chairman and/
or chief executive officer have a clear understanding of
the senior management’s performance, leading to a more
objective review of senior management remuneration.

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED « Annual Report 2024

STRMEXC2 1R ELTREETRAR 2 BEHE
FEBRMEITE - WAEMHHL -

ARBAEE@YHEFEBTRAH 2 BEHE -
EREEED  ARAEFEETREARESRER
BEHETAMEERNE T ER EERR TF
HITHREREBZBELARERE  WHEARA
NimE R EZBERE -

<F B #% 3D.3.3%

.

FAMEND33GREEZEZEGATFFEANA
BB ERIT R DR G ©

MRARRLEZ B EZUENEN P RS 2
BEMN BREZESSFEARBDRBEET—
REFH NI mBEFARREFEEMELZE
BRZBMAERHZEMER - KT 2HN
ERLZBEARERSEREFTARARER
gERRh AR -BE_FT_WF+_A=1T—H
LHFE BRZEGCHRARARBEMBIT K

e
B A%

<F R4 SCE.1.215%

.

fREET AR XEN 2 AR RRIHMEESENE
EMARRERRB 2HM I RETRI RAE
EEHEE -

B SREBEZHFMAARREER LT
BAAHEE - sREEEERNARRERER X
TTAREER - FRARR R EE R/ HITHRER
URERERECRERBWER WESRE
BB H M ERefE L TR E 2 =6 -



ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to achieving continuous improvement
in environmental performance and complying with the relevant
environmental protection regulations and rules. In 2021, 100%
wastepaper (old containerboard cardboard) is used by the Group for
producing containerboard in the upstream business. The factory of
the upstream business has been suspended since October 2021.

Environmental protection measures are implemented by the Group
to minimize the impact on the environment.

The environmental, social and governance (“ESG") report of the
Group disclosing detailed discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance are prepared in accordance with Appendix
C2 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide issued
by the Stock Exchange. The ESG report is disclosed in this Annual
Report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company's total number of issued shares were held by the public
as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) resigned as the auditor of
the Company and ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (“Zhonghui”)
was appointed as the auditor of the Company on 28 November
2022 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte.
Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in auditor in
the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2024 have been audited by
Zhonghui.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Zhonghui as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Hui Sum Ping
Chairman
31 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
% L % BUAT R &

g

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hop
Fung Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 84 to 175,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Provision for tax payment amounts

Due to the uncertainties in relation to the contingent liabilities
as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements,
we have been unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to
assess whether the provision of relevant tax amounts has been
provided concerning the Decisions (as defined in note 30) as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are fairly stated and the profit or loss
effect on the provision of relevant tax amounts for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 are properly reflected.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

Provision for tax payment amounts (Continued)

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have
a consequential effect on the Group's consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 and the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, and the related
disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which mentions that the Group incurred consecutive
losses attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$95,234,000 and HK$100,804,000 for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, respectively. In addition, as disclosed
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has
significant amounts of contingent liabilities in relation to the tax
payments demanded by the tax bureau in the People’'s Republic
of China ("PRC"). These conditions indicate a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYRAMBRSE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Basis for
Qualified Opinion section and the Material Uncertainty Related to
Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.

Impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment relating to the containerboard segment

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements

We identified the impairment assessment of property, plant
and equipment relating to the containerboard segment as a key
audit matter due to its financial significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the involvement of significant judgements
and assumptions in estimating the recoverable amount of the
relevant property, plant and equipment that attributable to the
containerboard segment.

As disclosed in notes 5 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, due to the temporary suspension of production relating
to the containerboard segment, the management considered that
there are impairment indicators of the related property, plant and
equipment existed as at 31 December 2024. Accordingly, the
management assessed the impairment of the property, plant and
equipment relating to the containerboard segment at 31 December
2024 by determining the recoverable amount based on their fair
value less costs of disposal which involves certain key assumptions
and estimates. These key assumptions and estimates involved the
application of subjective management judgement and estimates.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment relating
to the containerboard segment for which the management has
performed the impairment assessment as at 31 December 2024
are approximately HK$642,238,000.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment relating to the containerboard segment
(Continued)

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on
property, plant and equipment relating to the containerboard
segment included:

- Obtaining an understanding of the valuation process,
obtaining the valuation report from management, and
evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
external valuer;

- meeting with the external valuer to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market evidence
to support significant judgments and assumptions applied in
the valuation model,

- Checking the mathematical accuracy of the valuation model;

- Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in
the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment assessment on property,
plant and equipment relating to the containerboard segment is
supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYRAMBRSE (&)

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
(Continued)

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion section above, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence about the provision for tax payment amounts
and material uncertainty related to going concern. Accordingly,
we are unable to conclude whether or not the other information is
materially misstated with respect to these matters.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/
Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Tak Ching

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P06353
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meRmRAtEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
PR FEf =+ —HIFFEE

2024 2023
TE-MEF —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FET FH&T
Revenue Wz 6 211,520 224,357
Cost of sales 35S AR (193,755) (210,429)
Gross profit EF 17,765 13,928
Other income H A 7 2,704 6,713
Other gains and losses H bl R EE 8 (3,443) 4,541
Reversal of impairment losses recognised/ HHEEREEA T ZEER
(impairment losses recognised) under BEEERE (B #ERR
expected credit loss model, net BEE)  F58 30 (174)
Selling and distribution costs HE R D HKA (12,682) (12,451)
Administrative expenses THAX (38,875) (47,042)
Other expenses HiFx 9 (55,779) (62,421)
Finance costs B 75 A AR 10 (3.634) (3,555)
Loss before tax RAEE (93,914) (100,461)
Income tax expenses i 11 (1,320) (343)
Loss for the year, attributable to owners A QT EE ABLFEEEE
of the Company 12 (95,234) (100,804)
Other comprehensive expense for the year:  FEHEME2MEMAL ¢
Item that may be reclassified subsequently HEAfEEF IS
to profit or loss: BmHE -
— Exchange differences arising from —BREBINEB 2
translation of foreign operations ] (19,695) (18,218)
Other comprehensive expenses FAEMEEHEYZ
for the year (19,695) (18,218)
Total comprehensive expense for the year, A2 TEEAEGEEEMEB
attributable to owners of the Company ZHEEE (114,929) (119,022)
LOSS PER SHARE BREE 15
Basic (HK$ cents) — EARGEM) (11.65) (12.33)
Diluted (HK$ cents) —#5E (OB (L) (11.65) (12.33)

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED « Annual Report 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R EHIR AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE—F_AF+—HA=FT—HIEFE

2024 2023
—E-NF -
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 THExT FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E =& 16 665,812 733,275
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 17 17,493 19,223
Deposits and prepayments e RIBIR 20 131,821 143,319
815,126 895,817
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 18 13,098 22,068
Trade and other receivables B 5 M H b FE IR 19 39,549 47,598
Deposits and prepayments e RIER K 20 6,465 7,665
Restricted bank deposits PR HIRITIF 5K 21 586 =
Bank balances and cash RITEBREIRS 21 33,558 47,272
93,256 124,603
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 M E A e R 22 77,581 92,451
Due to a director EEENRIA 23 - 1,365
Taxation payable FESBiIR 1,361 1,354
Lease liabilities HEEE 24 141 611
Bank borrowings RITEE 25 4,239 52,959
83,322 148,740
NET CURRENT ASSETS/LIABILITIES REBEE(8F) FE 9,934 (24,137)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBAER
LIABILITIES 825,060 871,680
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Lease liabilities HERE 24 - 323
Bank borrowings RITIEE 25 88,128 19,872
Deferred taxation TRIEFIE 27 8,969 8,593
97,097 28,788
NET ASSETS EEFE 727,963 842,892
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR #E
Share capital [N 26 81,764 81,764
Reserves ] 646,199 761,128
TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO AABEEANEEEREEE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 727,963 842,892
The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 175 were M EBAEITbE 2 MG HREREN S _HAE=H
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31  =-+— ﬁ“‘§$@ﬁt/ﬁ&?ﬁ%§%§ IEETﬁ'Jé%TJﬁE
March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: #=E
HUI SUM PING & ¥F HUI SUM TAI HHRE
DIRECTOR EE DIRECTOR EFE
LEFEEKRERAT o T _MFER
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CONSAQI:IJDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAEREDE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
HE—F_MF+-—HA=1—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AATEE AEG
PRC Share
Share Share Special  statutory Translation option  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
H BRE
R ROEE RARE EERE EXRG i REIRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT T THL THT T THT TR
(Note ) (Note ii)
(Bit) (B i)
At 1 January 2023 R-BE-=%-f-H 81,764 492,392 (107,444) 850 9,164 2,563 482,625 961,914
Loss for the year EEBR - - - - - - (100804)  (100,804)
Other comprehensive expense & 2 FF %
for the year - - - - (18,218) - - (18,218)
Total comprehensive expense  FE 2 EF % A%
for the year - - - - (18,218) - (100,804  (119,022)
Transfer upon forfeiture of ~ RUEBMVERE &
share options - - - - - (50) 50 -
At 31 December 2023 R=2==%
+=A=+—H 81,764 492,392 (107,444) 850 (9,054) 2,513 381,871 842,892
Loss for the year FEHE - - - - - - (95,234) (95,234)
Other comprehensive expense &£t 2 ER X
for the year - - - - (19,695) - - (19,695)
Total comprehensive expense  F & 2 H Y A%
for the year - - - - (19,695) - (95,234)  (114,929)
Transfer upon forfeiture of ~ JRUEEIER B
share options - - - - - (10) 10 -
At 31 December 2024 R-B-mE
+=B=t-H 81,764 492,392 (107,444) 850 (28,749) 2,503 286,647 727,963
Notes: B3

(i)

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Special reserve represents the difference between the costs of
investments in subsidiaries of Hop Fung Group Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and the aggregate amount of the non-voting
deferred share capital of the subsidiaries and the nominal value of
the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired as a result of the group
reorganisation in 2003.

According to the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC"), subsidiaries which were established in the PRC are
required to transfer at least 10% of their net profit after taxation to a
non-distributable reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50%
of the respective subsidiaries’ registered capital. The transfer to this
reserve must be made before the distribution of dividends to owners.
Such reserve fund can be used to offset the previous years' losses, if
any, and is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

* Annual Report 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
u/T\ Iﬁ;ﬁl)lbi%‘%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE—F_AF+—HA=FT—HIEFE

2024 2023
—ENE ZTZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KESEE
Loss before tax FAIEE (93,914) (100,461)
Adjustments for: KLUEL AT AAZE
Finance costs B IDIN 3,634 3,555
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment FEHEEEEEN T 2 (EERBE
losses recognised under expected credit BEEE) BRI ERRE -
loss model, net FER (30) 174
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y - BB K EE 2 REEE
equipment 1,316 -
Impairment loss on the deposits and Re REMNKZ
prepayments REEE 8,727 15,684
Impairment loss on the other receivables L FE WOR 3R 2 R E S 1B 336 -
Allowance for inventories FTE#RE - 263
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BEREFEITE
equipment 51,176 54,317
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 832 1,153
Interest income AEA (316) (639)
Gain on lease termination BIEREBEA R = (7) =
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant HEME BB R&RE )/
and equipment 18 (310) 514
Written off of accruals and other payables S8 FE 5T 2 AR R L b FE S FRIR (6,708) (20,948)
Operating cash flows before working capital ~&E&E & E BRI L ERERE
changes (35,264) (46,388)
Movements in working capital: HEESEE
Change in inventories FEEE 8,647 8,418
Change in trade and other receivables B 5 I H fth FE R IR & B 6,915 11,660
Change in deposits and prepayments Re RIBNREE 1,858 867
Change in trade and other payables B RHE MRS RIES (7,578) (5,583)
Cash used in operations EEFERACZRS (25,422) (31,026)
Income tax paid BB PTSE (910) (1,115)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING KRETHFERAZRESFR
ACTIVITIES (26,332) (32,147)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEH
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant WEEWZE - BE M RE MR EMEE
and equipment and other assets BffZe (597) (552)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  YEEY % - = K& & E (2,567) (8,178)
Interest received BURF B 316 639
Increase in restricted bank deposits ZPRIBITE R ZIE M (586) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, plantand H&E %% - fE MR EFTERE
equipment 326 2,895
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RECHFERAZRESFR
ACTIVITIES (3,108) (5,196)
AEEBEIERABRAR o ZTZMNFFR
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CONSOUDATEDSTATEMENTOFCASHFLOWS(CONﬂNUEm

n-/T\ (=] IE» % I E 7:,.‘:2 n,\
FORTHEYEARENDED375TDECHWBER2024
BE—F _MFEf_H=+—HIFE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(Repayment to)/advances from a director
Repayment of bank loans

Interest on bank borrowings paid
Repayment of lease liabilities

Interest on lease liabilities paid

New bank loans raised

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ (USED IN)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

BMEED
EX(BX) 2%
BERITER
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬂ

ﬁ?ﬁﬂgm

MEEFBHEE (KR 2REBHE

RERBREEERDFHE
FHZRERAESEME

FERgE) > 2

FRZAERASEME - RITER
RRE

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED « Annual Report 2024

2023
—E=F
HK$'000
FH&T

1,381

(26,327)

(63,664)

110,796
140

47,272



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
address of the registered office of the Company is disclosed
under Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 37.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred consecutive losses attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$95,234,000
and HK$100,804,000 for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, respectively. In addition, as disclosed in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has
significant amounts of contingent liabilities in relation to the
tax payments demanded by the tax bureau in the PRC. In
the event that the potential obligation becomes materialized,
the Group may not have sufficient cash and bank balances,
which amounted to approximately HK$33,558,000 as at 31
December 2024, to fulfil the obligations. These conditions
indicate a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

e DR RR AL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE_F_F+_A=F—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REeBBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

B2 T PYFEf =1 —HIFFE

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

For the purpose of assessing going concern, the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) have prepared a cash
flow forecast of the Group covering a period of twelve
months from the end of the reporting period (the “Cash
Flow Forecast”) with plans and measures to mitigate the
liquidity pressure and to improve its financial position. In
addition, the Group obtained the letter of intent from one of
the principal bankers after the reporting period, under which
loan facilities up to a maximum amount of approximately
Renminbi (“RMB")300,000,000 are available to the Group for
not less than twelve months from 31 December 2024. Based
on the letter of intent and Cash Flow Forecast assuming the
plans and measures can be successfully implemented as
scheduled, the Directors are of the opinion that the Group is
able to continue as a going concern and would have sufficient
financial resources to finance the Group's operations and
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.
Accordingly, it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group's assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised HKFRSs and new interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") that are relevant to its operations and effective
for its accounting year beginning on 1 January 2024. HKFRSs
comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards; Hong
Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations. The adoption
of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and amounts
reported for the current year and prior years.

Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to
state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“Companies Ordinance”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

3.

REMBBRRKE(E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE—F-pF+ = H=1—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REeBBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

BE T _WF1+—A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. SZAUBHERFREERERETHE

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The material accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control

is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the
Company's share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any
remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

° the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

° the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

4.

REMBBRRKE(E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE—F-pF+ = H=1—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REeBBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

B2 T PYFEf =1 —HIFFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. #ZEeHMEBRRGHREEREXRSHBER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components (i.e. building management fee)
from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases and lease of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and buildings that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payment on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any measurement at lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term is depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. The remaining right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the terms
of the leases.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me M ERME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

BE—F_pUFE = A=1—AIFR

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. #ZEeHMEBRRGHREEREXRSHBER

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be paid the Group under residual
value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease.

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in the market
rental rates are initially measured using the market rental
rates as at the commencement date. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in
the measurement of lease liabilities and right-of use assets,
are recognised as expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers in the payment occurs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. #I4&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL (%)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted

by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

whenever:
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° the lease term has changed or there is a change in .
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised

discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market .
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial discount

rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
)

HEmERME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BT _JIFEF — A =+—HIFFE

=

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant
right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains
a lease component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the modified contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company's functional
and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FERMBHERRME (F)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
Bl= T _F —H=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iiij) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company's presentation currency as follows:

o Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

o Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated
at the exchange rates on the transaction dates);
and

o All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits
(i)  Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i)  Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REeBBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

B2 T PYFEf =1 —HIFFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. #ZEeHMEBRRGHREEREXRSHBER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled and cash-settled share-based
payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions.

The Group issues equity-settled and cash-settled share-based
payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in these
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REeBBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

B2 T PYFEf =1 —HIFFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. #ZEeHMEBRRGHREEREXRSHBER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction progress),
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for supply of
services is carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property, plant and equipment,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land that is presented as “right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified
as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than properties under construction less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REeBBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

BE T _WF1+—A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. S8 BHERFREERERETHE

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually, when
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset(or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REeBBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

BE T _WF1+—A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. S8 BHERFREERERETHE

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit— impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit— impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on financial assets which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9 including trade receivables, other
receivables, deposits and bank balances. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experiences, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL
for all the financial assets, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REeBBBRRKE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
B —E - NFE = =+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument'’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial asset
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (i) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REeBBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

B2 T PYFEf =1 —HIFFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights. The ECL on respective
financial assets are assessed individually.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REeBBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

BE T _WF1+—A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’'s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as financial liabilities or equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of a group entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and

bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REeBBBRRKE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
Bl T PUEf = H=+—HIFFEE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets and equity instruments (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid

and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the

Group.

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or the Group's parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a Group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a Group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REeBBBRRKE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

BE T _WF1+—A=+—HIFE

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 4. S8 BHERFREERERETHE

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’'s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected
to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a
separate asset is recognised for any expected reimbursement
that would be virtually certain. The amount recognised for
the reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of the
provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and
are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements when material.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

(a) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the success of the plans and measures
to be undertaken by the Group to mitigate the liquidity
pressure and improve its financial position. Details
are explained in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me M ERME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BEZ_F _MFF—_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key source of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year from the
end of each reporting period.

(a) Estimated impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment relating to the containerboard
segment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at costs
less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if
any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the
Group has to exercise judgment and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts.

As detailed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, there are impairment indicators of
the property, plant and equipment relating to the
containerboard segment at 31 December 2024.
Accordingly, the management assessed the
impairment of the property, plant and equipment
relating to the containerboard segment and determined
the recoverable amount of related property, plant
and equipment based on their fair value less costs
of disposal. The Group appointed an independent
professional valuer to assess the fair values of the
relevant property, plant and equipment. In determining
the fair values, the valuer has utilised a method of
valuation which involves certain key assumptions
and estimates. The Directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of
valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment subject to impairment
assessment were approximately HK$642,238,000.
Details of the impairment of property, plant and
equipment are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant
and equipment with respect to depreciation, the
Directors estimate the useful lives of various categories
of property, plant and equipment according to their
experiences over the usage of property, plant and
equipment and also by reference to the relevant
industrial norm. The useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed annually. If the expectations
differ from the previous estimates, the changes will be
accounted for prospectively as changes in accounting
estimates.

Allowance for inventories

In determining the amount of allowance required for
obsolete and slow-moving inventories, the Directors
would evaluate ageing analysis of inventories and
compare the carrying value of inventories to their
respective net realisable values based on latest market
prices and current economic conditions. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in determining such
allowance. If conditions which have an impact on the
net realisable value of inventories deteriorate/improve,
additional allowances/reversal of allowances already
made may be required.

The carrying amount of inventories as at 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$13,098,000
(net of allowance for inventories of approximately
HK$4,370,000) (2023: approximately HK$22,068,000
(net of allowance for inventories of approximately
HK$4,480,000)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REeBBBRRKE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
B —E - NFE = =+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

Deferred tax asset

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax assets
of approximately HK$Nil (2023: approximately
HK$6,522,000) and approximately HK$19,428,000
(2023: approximately HK$30,703,000) in relation
to unused tax losses and the deductible temporary
difference arising from the impairment of property,
plant and equipment have been recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position,
respectively. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
on the tax losses and deductible temporary difference
of approximately HK$154,577,000 (2023: approximately
HK$124,074,000) and approximately HK$186,971,000
(2023: approximately HK$200,165,000), respectively,
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. The realisability of
the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future, which is a key source
of estimation uncertainty. In cases where the actual
future taxable profits generated are less or more than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
result in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a
material reversal or further recognition of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit
or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

An analysis of the Group’s revenue by type of goods is as
follows:

FEMBHERME(F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE_F_F+—_A=+—HIFE

Wik & 7 7R & #

EFERWRENDF

AEERERBENKEOTMOT

Year ended 31 December

BEt+tZ-ZA=T—BLEFE

2024 2023

—E-MEF —EC=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FET

Sales of corrugated packaging R BEEE 211,520 224,357
The Group sells corrugated packaging to the customers in EFERTPEECHERIERE o« BE M|

PRC. Sales are recognised when control of the products has
been transferred, being when the products are delivered to
a customer, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products, and the
customer has obtained legal titles to the products. Sales
to customers are normally made with credit terms of 5 to
120 days. A receivable is recognised when the products are
delivered to the customers as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

Segment information
The Group's manufacturing operations are located in the PRC.

The Group's operations are organised based on the type of
products. Information reported to the executive directors
of the Company, being the chief operating decision maker
("“CODM"), for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance is analysed based on
the type of products. No operating segments identified by
CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments
are categorised into the manufacture and sale of:

° Containerboard — corrugating medium and linerboard

° Corrugated packaging — corrugated paper boards and
carton boxes

Information regarding the above segments is reported below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FERMBHERRME (F)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE—F _FEf —H=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and

results by operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

6. WEkDHER &)

DEE R ()
Dl REE

REE IR EE
I

PLER R SV E SRt

BE_E-_ME+_A=t+—-HLFE

Corrugated
Containerboard Packaging Consolidated
R A REa% wEe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTHExT FTHExT
REVENUE U 3=
External sales HINHE - 211,520 211,520
RESULT 3
Segment (loss)/profit o386 (&), FH (71,726) 508 (71,218)
Central administrative expenses FRITHAE (19,062)
Finance costs B 75 A AR (3,634)
Loss before taxation TRIEE (93,914)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BHE-_T-_=F+-A=+—HILFE
Corrugated
Containerboard Packaging Consolidated
FE MR AR B8 e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET T
REVENUE W =
External sales HINHE = 224,357 224,357
RESULT S
Segment (loss)/profit o (E518) /FHE (84,075) 10,258 (73,817)
Central administrative expenses FRITEAX (23,089)
Finance costs B HS R AR (3,555)
Loss before taxation T AIEE (100,461)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies adopted in preparing the reportable
segment information are the same as the Group’s accounting
policies described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Segment loss represents the loss incurred by each segment
without allocation of central administrative expenses and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

No revenue from any single customer contributed over 10%
of the total revenue of the Group for both years.

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measurement of segment profit or
loss:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

FEMBHERME(F)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE T _FE+ A=+ HIFE

W=k EHER 2

DEWER(E)
BEW R ()
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BHRM TN 2 AEB S BERMER -
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BE-Z-_NE+-A=+—-HLFE

Corrugated
Containerboard Packaging Total
FARAR EHEE% o
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHExT FTHExT
Interest income AEWA (93) (223) (316)
Depreciation of property, plantand #%¥ * BERREZITE
equipment 47,336 3,840 51,176
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEE ZITE 617 215 832
Impairment loss on the property, ME - BERKREZ
plant and equipment B 1,316 - 1,316
Impairment loss on the other Hth pE I BR TR 2
receivables A 336 - 336
Impairment loss on the e RBRRZ
deposits and prepayments BB EE 8,727 - 8,727
Written off of accruals and other Wi ER R
payables H e FRIE (3,044) (3,664) (6,708)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me M ERME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

BE T/t —A=+—AIFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WEkDEER #)
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) DEER (E)
Other segment information (Continued) Bt 5 EE# (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_T-_=F+-_A=1T—HILFE
Corrugated
Containerboard Packaging Total
FE MR AR mEe% Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT T T
Interest income B WA (182) (457) (639)
Depreciation of property, plantand #%¥ * BERREZITE
equipment 49,200 5,117 54,317
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 922 231 1,153
Allowance for inventories FERE - 263 263
Impairment loss on the deposit paid YWY % - BiE M2
for the acquisition of property, BENEE ZREERE
plant and machinery 15,684 - 15,684
Written off of accruals and MEREFTE A K
other payables H A FE A FRIE (2,738) (18,210) (20,948)
Geographical information WEER
The following table sets out information about (i) the Group's TRINEBOINERBIRERXNENE S 2
revenue from external customers by location of delivery IR EEWR RN EEBIREERAELREE D 2
destination of the goods and (i) the Group’s non-current ERHEEZER :
assets by location of assets:
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
HREF W= FIRBEE
Year ended 31 December At 31 December
BE+=-A=+—HBLEE BR+=—A=+—H
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEDNFE —T-=F ZBDNF ZT-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
PRC e 211,520 224,357 674,358 738,922
Hong Kong BE - - 1,298 1,393
Macau P - - 33 885
Philippines FEE - - 139,437 164,617
211,520 224,357 815,126 895,817
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FEMBHERME(F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

BE-—FE_pE+ = A=1—HIFFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. WmkHIER @)
(Continued)

Segment information (Continued) DEER (E)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERERE

The measure of the segment reporting of the Group reported
to the CODM for the purpose of resources allocation and
performance assessment does not include any assets and

liabilities. Accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are

AEHEIBELERREEERS
Rz ALBELHBRERLEFAEAMEEREE -
At WEZI D HBEERAR -

M RBEFFEZ

presented.
OTHER INCOME 7. HfblgA
Year ended 31 December
BE+=-—A=+—BHLEE
2024 2023
—E_MEF —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FET
Interest income FEIA 316 639
Scrap sales & iH & 61 799
Service income AR 7 U A 1,727 1,875
Others EAh 600 3,400
2,704 6,713
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. Htthzm=KRER
Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=+—BHLILEE
2024 2023
—E-NF —EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx T
Net exchange loss P& 5 B8R 58 (89) (209)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and LHEME  WMEREEZ
equipment 518 310 (514)
Gain on lease termination LIFFAE A MRS 7 =
Impairment loss on the deposits and Re RBRRZ
prepayments BIEEE (8,727) (15,684)
Impairment loss on the property, plant and Y - BB MEE 2 RE
equipment (1,316) -
Impairment loss on the other receivables H At R U BR R 2 BB (336) =
Written off of accruals and other payables (Note) i 55 f& 51 2 B K E b Ji& 15 5008
i) 6,708 20,948
(3,443) 4 541

Note: The amounts are mainly attributable to the accrued staff costs
and other expenses provided by certain subsidiaries of the

Company in prior years.

EEEEZERARAR -

M FHSREEXRALARERMBERARNBES
FRHZ R B TRAREMHAX

—E-NFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REMBBHRRME (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
B2 —FE_FEf - A=+—HIFE

9. OTHER EXPENSES 9. HMpX
Year ended 31 December
BE+-ZA=1+T—HLEE
2024 2023
—E-MEF —TZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Other PRC taxes H b p B IE 1,407 1,792
Depreciation e 49,719 53,562
Legal and professional fees FERBEEER 2,667 2,907
Others EAh 1,986 4,160
55,779 62,421
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BIFER A
Year ended 31 December
BEZ+-ZA=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
—E-MF —EF=-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on: AT&EZFE :
Bank borrowings RITEE 3,617 3,510
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 45
3,634 3,655
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 11. FTEHMAX
Year ended 31 December
BE+=-A=+—HLEE
2024 2023
—EomE T Z=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current tax: BNHARH I8 :
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBNEH 729 363
729 363
Deferred tax (note 27) EEFIE (FFE27) 591 (20)
1,320 343
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11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profit Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

No PRC Enterprise Income Tax was provided for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 as the Group did not
derive any estimated assessable profits in PRC.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. One of
the Company's PRC subsidiaries was awarded with the High
and New-Tech Enterprise and entitled to preferential rate
of 156% for the Group's financial years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

No provision for Macau Complementary Tax has been made
as the Group has no assessable profits arising in Macau for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The tax (credit)/charge for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

Loss before taxation i AES 18

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5%

(2023:16.5%)
I8

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
purpose

Tax effect of deductible temporary difference
not recognised

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Tax effect of undistributed earnings of the PRC
subsidiaries

Effect of tax different tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries

Income tax at concessionary rate

Y

S

Income tax expenses for the year

11.

BARRWAZ R E
TAHRAZHBEE

AERRBBBRZREEE
BB R B R IRE A Z

UAB 2 R AN B AR S 75

FZ P IS BRI X

REMBBRRKE(E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE—F-—pmF+—HA=+—HIFE

FREHMAX @)

BEDBFESHMAGFESHER  GEKRER
E B8 2 12,000,000/ 7T 7 8 #5 328.25 % & B E 4
i+ 8 1%2,000,0007% 7t 2 F B B #216.5% 2 B
AT NRAEMAHFEREFNERZEEE
B2 RS 4 4E1216.5% 2 B — T REH - Btk -
AEREBERE 2 BBNEH NIRGETEREE
A 2,000,000 7T 28.25% 1 & - i {5t R
Y4 M #8382,000,0008 7T B35 16.5% 5T & -

BE T HNFR-"FE_=Ft+_H=+—Hi"
AEBEYEATEACEMSHAREE  REAR
AEBEWERPBEELEATE -

RIEPBRCEMBRE(CEMERE]) R
FRBRURBHIEE] - P EKE QA2 RN E
FERNA25% o NAFH— P HHERRRA
EEHEE T _MEN T _=F+-_H=+—
AW RFEEAZAE S EMEE15%0ERM

& o

BE_ T MER-_"T-_=F+_A=+—8H1t
FE - AKEYERBPIFSHATRER
RA/AEE W EIORFIELEANASHER -

FEHRRGIA) xR aBE REME2EK
MR FTRB AT R Z SRR

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
T

(100,461)

BEBFSHE165%
(ZE-=%:165%)t&E~

(16,576)
(522)

5,896

AR AR E R R 2

2,697
19,442

(5,860)

TR ERRMEANR ZEE

(4,638)
(96)

343

BEEEEBRBRAR] —E_WEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

)

B RME (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE—F _FEf —H=+—HILFE

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. FEEIE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): FEEEBEEEHERGtA) TH&E :
Year ended 31 December
HE+=-A=+—BHLEE
2024 2023
—E-MF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y- BEREBEZITTE 51,176 54,317
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEEZITE 832 1,153
Total depreciation mEBE 52,008 55,470
Less: Amount included in cost of inventories B ET AR BRI 2
recognised as expenses FEXRAGHE (2,289) (1,908)
49,719 53,562
Staff costs BT
Directors’ emoluments (note 13) ZEE=M (F15E13) 12,547 13,143
Other staff costs E b8 TR
— salaries and other allowances —Hr e REMER 36,522 42,695
— retirement benefit scheme contributions —RIREFIETBI4E K 4,986 5,096
Total staff costs BT AT 54,055 60,934
Less: Amount included in cost of inventories B AR ERY Z
recognised as expenses FERA£5E (8,397) (8,473)
45,658 52,461
Allowance for inventories FE#EE Gr AEEKA)
(included in cost of sales) - 263
Auditor's remuneration 1% BRAT B & 1,200 1,500
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses RERIZ 2 FEKAR 193,755 210,166

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBBHRRME(E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE-—FE_pE+ = A=1—HIFFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 13. EERFETHAEHN S RIESFMH
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS
Directors E=E
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZE_NE+_-_A=+—HLEFE
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme  Share-based
Fees other benefits contributions payments Total
HeR RAER  URGXZA
ik Hin @A TEIMR ZX i azm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TER TER TER
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Hui Sum Ping THRERE - 6,610 18 - 6,628
Mr. Hui Sum Tai FRRLE - 5,213 18 - 5,231
Ms. Hui Yuk Ling (note i) TRt (FiE) - 112 6 - 118
- 11,935 42 - 11,977

Independent Non-executive Directors BUHNTEE

Mr. Tso Sze Wai ERELE 187 - 9 - 196
Mr. Wong Chu Leung BRTEE 187 - - - 187
Mr. Chau Suk Ming ERALE 187 - - - 187
561 - 9 - 570
561 11,935 51 - 12,547
T 3
2
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¥
s



132

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REeBBBRRKE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
R NEf = = —HIEE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

13. EBERFETHAEMERESEHM &)

EE(E)
BE_Z-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme  Share-based
Fees other benefits  contributions payments Total
R BINER MRGEZA
ik Hib RN Z¥E Fk ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THT THT THT THT
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Hui Sum Ping FRFLE - 6,915 18 - 6,933
Mr. Hui Sum Tai FRRLE - 5613 18 - 5,631
- 12,528 36 - 12,564
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHNTEE
Mr. Tso Sze Wai ERELE 187 = 9 - 196
Mr. Wong Chu Leung BUSEAE 187 - - - 187
Mr. Chau Suk Ming JEREA 187 - 9 - 196
561 - 18 - 579
561 12,5628 54 - 13,143
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13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES'’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors (Continued)

Note:

(i) Ms. Hui Yuk Ling was appointed as Executive Director of the
Company on 30 August 2024.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai is also the Chief Executive of the Company
and his emoluments disclosed above include those for
services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and Group and the Independent
Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown were for their
services as Directors of the Company. During the year, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to these Directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office and no director waived any
emoluments.

Employees

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2023: two) were Directors whose emoluments
are set out above. The emoluments of the three (2023: three)
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted
to approximately HK$1,578,000 (2023: approximately
HK$2,438,000), representing salaries and other benefits
of approximately HK$1,524,000 (2023: approximately
HK$2,384,000) and retirement benefits scheme contributions
of approximately HK$54,000 (2023: approximately
HK$54,000), for their services rendered to the Group. For
the year ended 31 December 2024, emoluments paid to the
three (2023: three) individuals fell under the band of HK$Nil
to HK$1,000,000 (2023: HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000).

FERMBHRRME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE—F-pF+ = H=1—HIFE

EERFETBRAEMERESHMN @)

BEE#E)
G

(i) uﬁFEEAEZiEEAfszEIEJ\ﬂ THEZER
RAMITES -

HBREEATMARAAGTHAR N EXFREE
2B B BEE T RARREREFAEE
B -

EXRORTEEME I RSEREERNRR R
AEBEEBORBEME  FIRHBLIFRTES
ME D RSEARARESTMERRENME -
FR- AEEREINETHE FTHESEER
BEEMARESENARER 2 BB S HIEA
HEEREES  TEEFRETOHE -

3=

AEERNSEERTMALTS EHRRA(ZTE==
F W) BES  BEZHFHE R E3XET -
HE-FT-_WNF+-_A=+—HLEFE HT=
M (ZEZZ=%F: =fu) AT Z2M=£ 491,578,000
BIL(ZZF == : 492,438,000/%8 L) * BIEHE
LMK ERE HEﬁ%ﬁﬁ;ﬁz & M E A 12 F 4
1,524,000/ 7T (=& = = £ : £92,348,000/% 7T)
MR REF 5T &I 3 4954,0008 T (ZE==F ¢
#4954,0007T) - BEZZT-_MF+=-_A=+—H
EFE IR F=N(ZT=Z=F: =) ALZ
B4 97 F T3 7T 21,000,000 T AR (Z T ==
F : T ILE1,000,00087T) °

BEEEEBRBRAR] —E_WEFER



134

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me M ERME (F)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
BE—F _FEf —H=+—HILFE

14. DIVIDEND

No dividend was declared or proposed for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

15. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

14.

15.

B’ E
BE-T-MER-F-=fF+-A=+—AL
FIE Y ME R AR S - & WS AR IE R
RS -

BRER

AAFEE AR SR A R AR T T
BB E -

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=1t—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T
Loss BB
Loss for the purposes of basic and diluted loss &+ & &% E A K #EEIE 2
per share &8 (95,234) (100,804)
Number of shares KRAEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for &t & & A% E A & 58 E48 ~
the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share 3@ A% H14E F 5 817,644,000 817,644,000
The computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended BE_ZT_NFK— ?::i‘i' —“RA=+—HI1t
31 December 2024 and 2023 did not assume the exercise of FENEBRBIESENTELERKRITERRA

the Company's share options as the exercise price of these
options was higher than the average market price for shares
for both 2024 and 2023.

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED « Annual Report 2024
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED
BE—F _pyF+—

16. W% - BERRE

Furniture, Plant,
Factory Leasehold fixtures machinery
premises land and Leasehold and office and Motor  Construction
in the PRC buildings  improvements equipment equipment vehicles in progress Total
AELH HENE HR-4ER  BE BB
HERE i £ kB BOERR E hE HRIE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TR T T Tk TEn AT Tk
COST BA
At1 January 2023 RZE-=%-f-H 454,709 22,880 70,649 17,503 1,711,032 13778 16,531 2,307,082
Exchange adjustments EiAE (8,955) (185) (1,084) (210) (3257) (%) (343) (43443)
Additions R = - 64 17 8,386 12 2 8,481
Disposals e = = (3527) (731) (40,627) (1,115) = (46,000)
At31 December 2023and ~ R=E-=£+-F=1-R
1 January 2024 R=T-mE-A-A 445,754 22,69 66,102 16,579 1,646,220 12,580 16,190 2,226,120
Exchange adjustments EiAZ 10,358) (214) (1,218) (234) (37,336) (91) (397) (49,848)
Additions B - - 86 - 1,466 501 - 2,053
Disposals i - - - - (658) (952) - (1610
At 31 December 2024 RZE-REE+-A=1-H 435,396 22,481 64,970 16,345 1,609,692 12,038 15,793 2,176,115
ACCUMULATED ZitERAE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=%-f-A 270,755 8,231 64,825 15,226 1,136,013 13,702 - 1,508,752
Exchange adjustments B AE (5,388) (46) (1,015) (182) (20,907) %) - (27,633)
Charge for the year EENR 17,459 1,646 3287 42 31432 71 = 54,317
Elimination on disposals L EREH - - 3,520} (632) (37,424) 1,115) = 42,591)
At31December 2023and ~ RM=E-=%#+-F=1-H
1 January 2024 R=E-mE-A-H 282,826 9,831 63,577 14,934 1,109,114 12,563 - 1,492,845
Exchange adjustments ERnE (6,657) (74) (1177) (211) (24,616) (85) (20 (32,840)
Charge for the year EENR 17,106 1628 1282 38 30,690 85 - 51,176
Elimination on disposals HERTH - - - - (658) (936) - (1,594)
Impairment loss HEFE - - - - - - 1316 1,316
At 31 December 2024 RZZZMETZA=1-A 293,275 11,385 63,682 15,108 1,114,530 11,627 1,296 1,510,903
NET CARRYING VALUE BEEE
At 31 December 2024 RZE-RME+-A=1-H 142121 11,096 1,288 1,231 495,162 m 14497 665,812
At 31 December 2023 RZFZ=F1t-A=t-A 162,928 12,864 2525 1,645 537,106 17 16,190 733275
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~ NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AR 3R R M (F)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
gl = IFT — =+ HILFE

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis at the following rates per annum:

Factory premises in the 4% or remaining lease term of
PRC the land element, if shorter
Leasehold land and 4% or remaining lease term of

buildings the land element, if shorter
Leasehold improvements 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 10%

office equipment
Plant, machinery and
equipment
Motor vehicles 20%

3.33% - 10%

Impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets relating to
containerboard segment

With reference to the Company’s annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2021, the annual inspection of the
licences of three coal-fuel boilers of a factory of the Group
that expired in mid-October 2021 has been delayed due
to the consideration of the environmental policies of the
local government of the Guangdong Province regarding the
prohibited zone where the factory is located. The Company
has temporarily suspended the production operation of
the factory since October 2021. The Directors consider
that the temporary suspension of production relating to
the containerboard segment was not due to any violation
of laws or regulations, but a voluntary action taken by the
Group. Since the temporary suspension of production, the
Group continues to coordinate with the local government
for the annual inspection procedures of the licences for the
coal fuel boilers to resume production and, in parallel to
coordinate with local government for the project to change
its boilers from coal-fuel boilers to gas-fuel boilers. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group continued
to coordinate with the local government to proceed with
the inspection procedures of the licenses pursuant to the
relevant environmental policies. Up to the date of these
consolidated financial statements, the inspection procedures
of the licenses were yet to be completed.
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16. W%

B = K skt ()

% BERREED ERIREHRN) UE
R R T R AT

FEBE A%3L T B 5 2 R T HA
(AEE & A%)
AELHREF A%, T B 5 2 R TR
(AEE & A%)
HEMEEE 20%
B HBRPFD  10%
=RE

BB - #EERRE  3.33%-10%

RE 20%

EEREIBEANNE - MERRBERE
REEE 2 REFE

RBERNGTBE-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8It
FEZFEHR AEEMEMELRENEREE
HEBFTRRBUR - NEEMRE RN = 8 R E
Hﬁﬁziﬁﬁ_gi—ﬁﬂ-ﬂ o E| BR B AE AR o R

RAE-Z-—F+AREERELREZEE
BE-ZERE ARESPEREETEER
EDEBISIRG] - HEBRAER G BRI ITE -

BEREENR  NEEEERRERIERRBSE
2 B b BT 13 98 LA R A AE B - D[R] FRE B A
F BT #E TR AR RE AR RENIER -
HE-_Z-_MF+-_A=1+—HLEE x£H
BERIBABERRECR S R F IR r 85 K
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16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets relating to
containerboard segment (Continued)

Due to the temporary suspension of production relating to
the containerboard segment and its unfavourable financial
performance during the current year, the management
of the Group concluded that there were indicators for
impairment and conducted an impairment assessment on
the containerboard segment-related property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying amounts
of approximately HK$642,238,000 and HK$16,194,000,
respectively, as at 31 December 2024. The recoverable
amount of these assets has been determined based on their
fair value less costs of disposal measured by reference to
market evidence of recent transactions for land in nearby
area (level 2 fair value measurements) and depreciated
replacement cost for factory premises, plant, machinery
and equipment (level 3 fair value measurements) by Roma
Appraisals Limited, an independent professional valuer. The
carrying amount of the relevant property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets relating to containerboard segment
exceed the recoverable amount, and an impairment loss of
approximately HK$1,316,000 was recognised during the year
(2023: Nil).

At 31 December 2024, the Group's property, plant and
equipment with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$141,963,000 (2023: HK$163,615,000) were pledged for
the Group's bank borrowings (note 25).

16.

“emmmmmnn

e o b o K b B
P L i s s e
el s e e b B

Ol _UED)
ﬁé%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%%)?

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBEI%\Z024
BE-—FE_pmE+— =1 Bl Fle

Y~ BB RRHE @)

REREIBEANNE - MERRBERE
REEE 2 RENE &)

MR RE D BAEE 2 EEER(EERNFEN
BRBITE AEBEEBERAGERETR -
YR —_ZE-_mE+—-A=+—BEEEI A
642,238,000/ 7T 516,194,000/ 7T 2 £ £5 1R 4%
DHEEAYE  BERZBURGEAEEEE
TRER G - ZRBEEABETERAMEER
st A EEMA B & HEE - AEEGBTEE
FTBReCELBMMNAIKRESHE ZEEEZA
WEleB BB L EEGEMESBETEER
REBBEEARBEREEXNAMEE F WA=
Wi R LR B2 M5 RE (F2R AR
BEE) RKMEEF - ME - #as %L (53
BAREBEFE)MPTETERATEMETE °
FRE D SR 2 BEYE BB R&ERER
BEEZEMEBBI KD S  FARAERL
1,316,000 R RERIE (ZT=_=F : ) -

R-Z_MF+_A=+—8 AEEEEEAL
#7141,963,000/% 7t (— =& — =4 : 163,615,000/8
T ZWE BERSEDEFRUREARAEEZ
RITIEE (FiFE25) -

. —EomEsR
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17.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
g+ HEWE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET FHT
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 1 January 2023 R-E-—=%F—F—A8 19,210 311 19,521
Addition A - 1,221 1,221
Exchange adjustments FE 58 & (366) - (366)
Depreciation provided for the year & 37 & B 5 (544) (609) (1,153)
At 31 December 2023 and R-ZEBE-=%+=-A=+—H
1 January 2024 F—ZE—_NFE—HF—H 18,300 923 19,223
Early termination REKILEHAESH - (487) (487)
Exchange adjustments T 5, 35 % (411) - (411)
Depreciation provided for the year 4 [E #T & # 5 (533) (299) (832)
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-_MFE+=—A=+—H 17,356 137 17,493

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLEE

2024 2023

—E-mEF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH T FHT

Total cash outflow for leases HERS R R 316 636

For both years, the Group leases certain warehouse and
ancillary office properties for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into with fixed monthly lease payments for a
fixed term of 1 to 2 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms

and conditions.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings
where its manufacturing facilities are primarily located
and office buildings. The Group is the registered owner of
these property interests, including the underlying leasehold
lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire

r en-ts-madé_ can be e

these property interests. The leasehold land components of
ese owned properties are presented separately only if the
cated reliably.

MERN AEBER/ELEREETRABERE M
NYE - BEANNEES AHENRTL - H
REES—EME - HETHFE [ B R i -
W8 & B e R O R B

AN AEBEREETEIESEERE AR
TXRBTFNRFR -AKEAREMERE (B
EHRBEEL) WEMERA - ERATEL—
RN KA BB Z S M E R - (EF TSRO
BEASEAER ZEEMENEELHBES

TEEBES -



17.

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s right-of-use
assets of approximately HK$1,161,000 (2023: approximately
HK$1,227,000) were prepayments under processing
arrangement which represents the prepaid amount for land
use rights.

At 31 December 2024, the Group's right-of-use assets
with the carrying amount of approximately HK$16,195,000
(2023: HK$17,073,000) were pledged for the Group's bank
borrowings (note 25).

The Group's indirect wholly-owned subsidiary — Wah Wang
Paper Ware Limited has agreed to early terminate the Macau
office tenancy agreement with effective from 17 May 2024
with the landlord. The Group derecognise the right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of HK$487,000 (2023: Nil),
which resulted in the Group recognised a gain from lease
termination as disclosed in note 8.

IIV_\ -\/ /| A
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST D
BE—FT-—pmaF+—F

17. FAREE®)

R-_ZE-_WE+—_A=+—RH AE£EE2FH
EEEPBEMN,I61,0008T (ZCE-_=F:4
1,227,000%7T) 2 M TR BEFEN R - B A
EZEMNSHE -

R-ZE-_ME+_—_A=+—H AEEEREES
#916,195,000/% 7T (—ZF = =4 : 17,073,000 7T)
ZIERAEEED MRS AEE 2 RITEE (K
$¥25) ©

AEEBZHEZ2ENBAR - EERFIRERA
AIEZEFREERIEAERA ZAIIRATR EEP
WAEZHEALN SRAPA-_ZT_WERA
T+tH AEBHRRIEEREAREEREER
BEB487,0008 T (ZTE =4 &) EHA
EEERAERIERES (IS E) -

INVENTORIES 18. FE&
At 31 December
R+=—HA=+—H
2024 2023
—E-NEF —TZ=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Raw materials B 12,965 21,834
Finished goods SRR B 133 234
13,098 22,068
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. EZRHEMEWRRIE
At 31 December
R+t=A=+—AH
2024 2023
—E-IF —T=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
Trade receivables B 5 rWRIE 30,665 38,695
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (243) (867)
30,422 37,828
Other receivables (Note) A fE U R IE (M 5E) 9,127 9,770
Total trade and other receivables B NEMEINKIBLATE 39,549 47,598
Note:  As at 31 December 2024, the gross amount included an Mz - RZE_WE+_A=+—H 2EEFE
advance to Batangas Paper Corporation (“Batangas”), BNFAEE Y BT S = ﬁBatangas Paper
an independent third party to the Group, amounting Corporation (FBatangasJ)Z K IE 47,886, ooo/%m
to approximately HK$7,886,000 (2023: approximately (ZZE==4 : 498,136,000/ T) - BEARIE L&
HK$8,136,000), which is unsecured, interest-free and R AR ARELEEE - EETEEY
repayable on demand. The management of the Group MBE—T_E+— F=+—HZHRKIK
conducted an impairment assessment on the aforesaid other EITRERS - $¢V§§Z?§r%’9336,0005§ﬁ25}ﬁ1§
receivables as at 31 December 2024, and an impairment loss —E =4
of approximately HK$336,000 was recognised during the
year (2023: Nil).
The Group allows credit periods ranging from 5 to 120 days AEBMALTEHEFLOE120HEEH - AR UR

to its trade customers which may be extended to selected
trade customers depending on their trade volume and history
of settlement with the Group. The following is an aged
analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit losses
presented based on the invoice dates, which approximates
the respective revenue recognition dates, at the end of the
reporting period:

BRTEITPEAEE B HEBENNKAC
BmFUAERZEES - THARRBERRER
EEAM(BEa 2 KaER B BRRL NREER

EREREHERMZ2 28 S RET

KIR 2 ARER DA

At 31 December

R+t=A=+—H
2024 2023
—EoNE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Within 30 days 308 A 20,504 24,839
31 - 60 days 31£60H 9,488 12,228
61 —90 days 61£90H 341 578
Over 90 days 90H A E 89 183
30,422 37,828

E%m{ﬂﬂ%ﬁ&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ CAEBERANDFRE

A EREERP 2 EEERRABEETR
E{*E\EE%E BEZEERERTRETAE

ﬁ*ﬁu‘



19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with an aggregate
gross amount of approximately HK$10,161,000 (2023:
approximately HK$13,856,000) which were past due as at the
reporting date. Out of the past due balances, approximately
HK$243,000 (2023: approximately HK$867,000) has been
past due 90 days or more. The past due amount relates to
a number of independent customers that have good trade
and payment records with the Group. There has not been
a significant change in the credit quality of the relevant
customers and the Group believes that the balances are still
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

The average age of these receivables is approximately 53
days (2023: approximately 62 days) based on invoice dates.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 35(b).

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

BE—F_mFEL A= B

BEZREMmEWRRIE )

R-_Z-_mE+—_A=+—H LEBMzE5E
WRIBE#HT B IEE T 4% 54910,161,000% 7T
(Z—Z — =4 : #13,856,000/ jT) 2 & Y 318 -
ZERERBREEBERH ERAHEHRT D
243,000 7T (=& = = 4 : 49867,000/8 7t) £ 1
HA90HE sk A k- - Z EE @RI H S Z MAKE
RERUBIRNACHEZBEIRFEH - 25
BEZEEEEYEEANE  BAEEBED
Ak EEEER  ARBEVERZEELEMITE
R EEEEEIT

BEBREAH 25 RKKENFIYERR 53R
T = 4628) -

BB 5 R A YRR E R G 2 B E R
#135(b) ©

BEREMRK

At 31 December

Rt+t=-—B=+—H
2024 2023
—E-MEF —ET-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deposits for the acquisition of property, plant BEME BMEERERZIZE
and machinery (Note i) (B3 115,573 117,850
Prepaid insurance fees B IR IRER 685 674
Other prepayments and other deposits (Note i) fb T8 {5 5% & B fib 32 & (Bt %) 45,737 47,952
161,995 166,476
Provision for impairment losses B B IR (23,709) (15,492)
Total deposits and prepayment Ze RIENK 138,286 150,984
Analysed into: =K
— Current assets —REEE 6,465 7,665
— Non-current assets —ERBEE 131,821 143,319

r

=

badel o fu b b 1]
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FOR ﬂ:’E YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024
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20. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) 20. BERAEMNRK @)

Notes: Mt ek -

(i) As at 31 December 2024, deposits of approximately (i) NR-ZEBE-_NE+-A=+—0H FEEBEEHRL
HK$109,794,000 (2023: approximately HK$112,858,000) FER AT EERERIZS4109,794,0008 T (=
relating to the installation of a pulp production line at the Z =4 : #J112,858,0007% JT) ° i1 F K - E R
manufacturing plant in the Philippines. During the recent year, BBORRPABRNITEMEHRMZ  EFRE
given the geopolitical tension and fierce market competition in BRI B R SR A A E SRS
the industry, the Directors decided to postpone the process of
installing a pulp production line at the manufacturing plant in
the Philippines.

In this regard, the management of the Group conducted an it AEEEBREBYH MR T -_mMFE+ =8
impairment assessment on the aforesaid deposits paid as at =t+—HZERMZRSETRENH  TRFR
31 December 2024, and an impairment loss of approximately TR EER 7,037,008 T (ZE-=F: 4
HK$7,037,000 was recognised during the year (2023: 15,684,000/ JT) °

approximately HK$15,684,000).

(i) In 2019 and 2020, the Group entered into a series of (i) ni& — T 4F » A& [F HBatangas
agreements with Batangas. Pursuant to the agreements, .J_L %ﬂ $E'<T)§E£¥,T§5m AEERE M
the Group agreed to prepay start-up funds of an aggregated Batangas¥& {5 ?)] BEEL R_ZT-_WOFE+=A
amount of Renminbi (“RMB") 37,520,000 (equivalent to =+—HEHRARK ([ ARY])37,520,0007T
approximately HK$39,957,000) (2023: RMB37,520,000 (18 & M 4939,957,0008 L) (ZE_=F: AR
equivalent to approximately HK$40,961,000) as at 31 #£37,520,0007T * #H & F 440,961,000/ 7T.) * A
December 2024 to Batangas to offset against the payment BIHAEBMUNRIFRE 2 BRERNRFIBIRERE
of the subcontracting fee or operating fee for managing the BEESYNzBEBIREER N_ZE_ME
manufacturing of the pulp plant of the Group in Philippines +-A=+—H AEEEEEH® LABEMNZE
upon the commencement of the operation. The management ITRERE - F AR EEEZ1,690,0007 7T
of the Group conducted an impairment assessment on B =)o
the aforesaid prepayment as at 31 December 2024, and
an impairment loss of approximately HK$1,690,000 was
recognised during the year (2023: Nil).

21. BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND 21. RITERRREZIRHEBRITER

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates from RITAE R TV IR IR T T 35 F F) %0.001%%E1.150%

0.001% to 1.150% (2023: 0.001% to 1.610%) per annum. —E =% :0001%%1.610%) 5T 8 °

Included in the carrying amount of the Group's bank balances ZK%@%ETT EtR 2 BREERTE N3 AAEEEE

are following amount denominated in currencies other than B2 EKUIN EBIE 2 &5 ¢

functional currency of the relevant group entities:

At 31 December

R+=A=+-8
2024 2023
—E-MEF —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FE T

RMB N 84 272

United States dollars (“USD") E([ZEx]) 590 12,570

HKS BT 400 256

LW

2024 restrlcted bank deposns mainly
nlé'%ba’lances bemg I gqcted due to
A 11

3 |

a

1

:

3 'flfh J

L4

BE_Z_MF+-_HA=1t—H ZRGIRTHF
RERRHER —HEm 2 FRMERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCI --

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22,

Fan j
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3151
BZE = FpyF1 = =

B 5 R HEmENRE

At 31 December

R+=B=+—H
2024 2023
“EmE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&xT T
Trade payables B SN 5RIE 22,703 27,483
Payables for the acquisition of property, plant BEWE  BE K&
and equipment 2 FEfSFIE 2,492 3,121
Other PRC tax payables FEA At AR B IE 11,794 12,576
Accrued charges (Note) FEETSZ H (BEE) 37,811 46,758
Other payables b fE S 518 2,781 2,513
77,581 92,451
Note:  Major items in accrued charges are accrued salaries and Mzt : Est ST EBRE AR HFERIEA -

wages.

The suppliers of the Group grant credit periods ranging from
30 to 90 days. The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are within the
credit time frame. The following is an aged analysis of trade
payables presented based on the invoice due date at the end
of the reporting period:

AEBZHEBHREN FI0EWANEEHR - A
SEFTE P RERE BB - ARRPTA R
BHEFEHRANFBE - THARRERRER
BRIMB B2 2 E SRR Z RE DT -

At 31 December

R+=B=+—8
2024 2023
—E-EF —EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHT
Current BN ER 11,311 15,776
Overdue 1 to 30 days wH1E30H 8 38
Overdue 31 to 60 days #HA31260H - =
Overdue for more than 60 days #HIGOH A 11,384 11,669
22,703 27,483
23. DUE TO A DIRECTOR 23. ENEERE

The advance is interest-free, unsecured and has no fixed
repayment terms.

BRBRARS - EIKR R E T BN
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24. HEEE
At 31 December
R+=B=+—8
2024 2023
—E N4 —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
- FExT THT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEERE
Within one year —FR 141 611
Within a period of more than one year but not R—F L L BRBBMRFED
more than two years HAM A - 323
141 934
Less: Amounts due for settlement within B RNRBAES TR
12 months shown under current liabilities + @A A2 H
BESHE (141) 611)
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months RIERBBEIRZ
shown under non-current liabilities + @ R%ZIBEESRE - 323
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to THESEMERAMME TSRS ETMNENF

lease liabilities range from 4.2% (2023: 4.2%). 42% (ZE-—=4:42%) o




25. BANK BORROWINGS

25. BITEE

At 31 December

Rt+t=—B=+—H
2024 2023
Effective interest rate —EmEFE —ET—=
=1 SIS HK$°000 HK$'000
FE& T FET
Bank loans —Secured RITER—HBEM  3.56% t03.99%
(Note) (B33 (2023: 3.93% t0 3.99%)
3.56%13 99%
(ZZ==%:3.93%%3.99%) 92,367 72,831
At 31 December
R+=-—BA=+—H
2024 2023
—E_E —E-=4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET T
Carrying amount repayable*: JEERREE
Within one year —F R 4,239 52,959
More than one year, but not exceeding two —F BT BBEMRE
years 42,335 1,092
More than two years, but not exceeding five MEA EENBBRSE
years 45,793 18,780
92,367 72,831
Less: Amounts due within one year shown B RREAENRZ
under current liabilities —FRNEHEEE (4,239) (52,959)
Amounts due after one year shown as RIERBDBEIRZ
non-current liabilities —F1REHERE 88,128 19,872
& The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set @ N IEBEERNER pE v ETHETEXR
out in the loan agreements. HAEESE
As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the bank RZEZMFE+—_A=+—HBRZZF=Z=F+=
borrowings carry interest at floating rates, thus exposing the H —I— H $$TEEERIHMNERE - Ak

Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The interest rates are
linked to PRC Loan Prime Rate (“LPR").

Note: At 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowings were
secured by pledges of the Group's property, plant and
equipment with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$141,963,000 (2023: HK$163,615,000) and right-of-use
assets with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$16,195,000 (2023: HK$17,073,000).

The bank loans are subject to several covenants that require
the borrower, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, to maintain a debt-to-assets ratio of no more than
70%, a contingent liabilities ratio of no more than 60%,
and an operating cash flow that cannot be negative for two
consecutive years during the repayment period of the loan.
The covenants are tested at the end of each month until the
maturity of the borrowings. The Group has no indication that
it will have difficulty complying with these covenants. r

BARERESRENEEAR - ZFNEERE

ﬁfkm SWEN X (ERMIZRENE]) 5 -

SEEEERBERAR - —E-NFFRH

TR -ME+-_A=+—H AEBEZEIT
EE KB AL ERAE4141,963,000/8 7T (=
2* =% :163,615,000/87T) 2 WE BME K&

R K BR T 18 4916,195,00008 7T (Z T = =4 :
17m3wm®02ﬁ%%§é¢%ﬁﬁe

%?k/\—ZK$ﬁEP —EREEENB R RZR
TEEETEAMNAR - #EFTHBIBT0%H E5
ﬁﬁ?%%a%uﬂm%WWﬁﬁﬁﬁx LA K.

EEfEEE)}
iE‘“%EA’JE




26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. B4
Number of
shares Share capital
RBEE [N
‘000 HK$'000
T T T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each FREE0.10 T 2 L@k (k)
Authorised: VETERRA
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and R-—ZT-_=%—H—A8-
31 December 2024 —T-=%#+—H
=t+—BRZZE-NF
+=—A=+—H 1,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BT MR
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and R-_ZT-_=F—H—H8"
31 December 2024 —E-_=%+—-AH1
=t+—BRZZE-NEF
+—-—A=+—H 817,644 81,764

27. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the deferred tax liabilities/(assets)
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the

current and prior reporting years:

27. EEBE

AT RASERRBZELHBEEE (BE) KR
AREFERAEREFEZ2ES)

Impairment Undistributed
of property, Accelerated earnings
plant and tax of the PRC
equipment Tax losses depreciation  subsidiaries Total
mx - BER HEIFE 2 R
REZHE REFE MERERE 2ZKFKEF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR THT AT TR
At 1 January 2023 R-E-_=%—-7—-H (51,107) (7,068) 54,366 12,599 8,790
Charge/(credit) to profit or loss TER&EMR/ GrA) 19,583 404 (14,147) (5,860) (20)
Exchange adjustments I 5 A% 821 142 (950) (190) (177)
At 31 December 2023 and R-E-=%
wary 2024 +ZA=t-BEk
—T-MF-A—H (30,703) (6,522) 39,269 6,549 8,593
EBRENB/GEA) 10,682 6,459 (10,627) (5,923) 591
593 63 (799) (72) (215)
(19,428) - 27,843 8,969




27.

28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTI-NUED)

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$154,577,000 (2023:
approximately HK$167,566,000) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of approximately HK$Nil (2023: approximately
HK$43,482,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the remaining approximately
HK$154,577,000 (2023: approximately HK$124,074,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. All
unrecognised tax losses will expire in the years ranging
from 2026 to 2028. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group has deductible temporary differences arising
from the impairment of property, plant and equipment of
HK$316,492,000 (2023: HK$342,979,000). A deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of approximately
HK$129,521,000 (2023: HK$122,814,000) of such deductible
temporary difference. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the remaining approximately
HK$186,971,000 (2023: HK$200,165,000) as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company approved and adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) on 3 June 2013 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives or rewards to selected participants for
their contribution to the Group.

Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company
may grant options to eligible employees, including
executive or non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors), of the Company, its subsidiaries,
or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any member of
the Group holds any equity interest, to subscribe for shares
in the Company. Additionally, the Company may, from time
to time, grant share options to any supplier of goods or
services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity,
any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity, and any
consultants, advisers, managers, officers or entities that
provide research, development or other technological support
to the Group or any Invested Entity.

27.

28.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER'2024
BE—F-pFE+ =1 HILTE

EEBIR (4)

RBERAR AEEERDARBEEED
154,577,000 7T (ZZ = =4 : £9167,566,000
BIT) AT AR R &R c ERMBREBESE T (Z
T = =4 : %)43,482,000/8 L) RIELERIEE
E-BREZBARRENR  WELBELD
154,577,000/ 7T (—ZF = =4 : 49 124,074,000/%
TL) ERIEERIEEE - B RERME K EE
BR_ZE_AFE_T - N\FHBEm NHE
HK NEBAEWE - BEREKEREBEEENT
AN E R = £ 5316,492,0008 T (—Z - =4 :
342,979,000/ ) - EL A AN LR EER
#9129,521,000% 7T (ZF Z =4 : 122,814,000/

TO) RBELERBREE - AR T KA EEFER
BORMN A AEEME R EER - A |

186,971,000/ 7T (== — =4F : 200,165,000/ T)
MERIELFIBEE -
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A -ZZNF— A - ARMRIZAEm IR
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28.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of the passing of the ordinary
resolution for adoption of the Scheme. The number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised at any time under the
Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

The number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company's shareholders in accordance with the Scheme.
Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director or any of their respective
associates would result in the shares in the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options to such person
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
and with a value (based on the closing price of the shares
of the Company at the offer date of each offer) in excess of
HK$5,000,000, such grant of options must be approved in
advance by the Company's shareholders in accordance with
the Scheme.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to
be determined and notified by the directors to the grantee
and in the absence of such determination, from the date
of acceptance of an offer of the grant of such option to the
earlier of the date on which such option lapses and ten years
from the date of offer of that option. A consideration of HK$1
is payable upon acceptance of the offer.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of the nominal
value of the share; the closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of offer; and the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer.
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BERZAT IR 2 BIRERE 2 HATERA] T 81T
2RO BE  AETBBERMNZTE ZTRER
BREBBEAARDRBBEITRMNZ10% ° RIE
o] BF R R AT AR BR % o T B35 T AR AT 2 2 B3R 08
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 28. UMz H @)
The following table discloses details of the Company's share TRBBERESENEMEESREA Z AR AIBRE
options held by the directors and other employees and AR ZEBRERFERNZ ZEEE
movements in such holdings during the year:
Outstanding at Forfeited Outstanding at Forfeited Outstanding at
Date of Exercise 1 January during 31 December during 31 December
Option type grant price 2023 the year 2023 the year 2024
R=BZ=f R=B-ME
R=B=-=f% t=A t=5
-A-H Er=1 =t-H
BRESR RLAH & e R AT B ERRY I RATE ERRE e
Granted under Scheme
REHHE
Option type G 15.10.2018 0.435 12,752,000 (250,000) 12,502,000 (50,000) 12,452,000
GEHRE
Exercisable at the end of the
year 12,502,000 12,452,000
RERATR
Weighted average exercised
price 0.435 0.435 0.435 0.435 0435 0.435
ETH1T6RE

The vesting period, which is the period from the date of
grant to the exercisable date, of the share options granted
is determined by the Directors at each time when the
options are granted. Holders of share options granted under
the Scheme may only exercise their options during the
exercisable periods as follows:

Option type G

REBkEZGBEHARL BMER T A
B DHEERSAROBRERET - REZ
AERLCBREZHBAETRATATES
7T HLRE A -

Maximum% of share options exercisable

GEEBRE ATEERESSEIL
Vesting periods: Exercisable periods:
5 a8 AR AIATEEAME :
15.10.2018 — 30.4.2019 1.5.2019 — 30.4.2026 up to 50%
&= A #50%
15.10.2018 — 30.4.2020 1.5.2020 - 30.4.2026 up to 75%
&= E75%
15.10.2018 - 30.4.2021 1.56.2021 - 30.4.2026 up to 100% (to the extent not alregdy exercisec

%= A] 3Z100% (LA (iR




28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the share options at the grant date were
calculated using the Binomial model. The inputs into the
model were as follows:

28. ARz i)

REHABRZBERENAABEDER ZAAE
AEtHE - ZBEAZBAZBAT

Share price on the date of grant RIFH B E R E HK$0.427% 7T
Exercise price T{EE HK$0.435/% 7©
Expected volatility TEHR R 60%
Expected life from date of grant R BB TERT 0.5 - 7.5 yearsf
Risk free rate 2 [ g 1) = 2.42%
Expected dividend yield TER R B & 1.78%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s 875-day share prices before the
date of grant. The expected life used in the model has been
adjusted, based on the management's best estimate, for
the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

BHKEREBEARRAREHAMAGI5HHFZ

RERBEZKBERE - ZEAER 2R FH

EREEERTAERNL TRERHIRTAKRE
FEEL ZREBFRE -

29. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 29. BEAREE

At 31 December

R+t=A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition — UEERKE K & A& AN 2
of plant and equipment

— contracted for but not provided — BRI HEREE 44,682 45,063




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

30. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Tax issues of a subsidiary in the PRC

(a)

Tax issue in relation to the value-added tax invoices
received from certain suppliers

As referred to the Company’s announcement dated 17
March 2023, Green Forest (Qing Xin) Paper Industrial
Limited (FRE(EMEZEBRAF) (“Green Forest
Paper”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, received (a) a decision on tax treatment
dated 20 May 2022 (“Tax Treatment Decision”) and
(b) a decision on administrative penalty dated 20 May
2022 (“Tax Penalty Decision”), each issued by the
Second Investigation Bureau of Qingyuan District
Administration of Taxation of the State Administration
of Taxation (“Qingyuan Tax Bureau”) (AR5 EAE
EMERE—EER) (collectively the “Decisions”),
in relation to 1,073 value-added tax (“VAT") invoices
(the “VAT Invoices") received from six suppliers of the
Group (the “Six Suppliers”) in 2013, 2014, 2017 and
2018 for the total invoiced amount of approximately
RMB742,707,000 (consisting of price for product
purchased of approximately RMB636,940,000 and
VAT of approximately RMB105,767,000) and the tax
deduction made by the Group in relation thereto.

Based on the Decisions, the VAT Invoices were
found to be irregularly issued by the Six Suppliers,
therefore Green Forest Paper was required to make
up the tax payments amounted to approximately
RMB109,142,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$127,057,000), comprising the VAT of approximately
RMB85,450,000, other taxes and surcharges of
approximately RMB10,064,000 and the Enterprise
Income Tax of approximately RMB13,628,000
(collectively the “Outstanding Tax Amount”), as
well as a late payment at a daily rate of 0.05% on
the Outstanding Tax Amount from the date such
Outstanding Tax Amount was due until the date of
actual payment. In addition, Green Forest Paper was
also required to pay an administrative penalty in the
amount of approximately RMB44,070,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$51,304,000).
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(a)

BRETHREBEEHRZHHIEEE

HOAARBBBHA T _=F=A+tH
MAGEFM  ARRMEEZEZENRB AR
REOCGEM BXERAR(IHREAED K
BFlaBfA—S-_—_FHRA-_TBEHHK
BIEAFTE((RERERAEE])  MbBH
AR —FRA-tHMTERESIRTE

E(BMBRIFREE]D DR BBERHRY
RBEETRBRE_BER(FENKR])

LE(HEOREE]D - FR1,073RIGER
(EERDBR ((EBEBERE]) RZZF
—=F T mHF - ZET—+tFE=F
—N\FEAREER A BHEER ([SBHERD
W B ZE SR A 5T 4 A R ¥742,707,000
7 (B E mEFEE A A R #636,940,0007T &
HER 4 A R #105,767,0007T) K AN & E 5
UL VE RO FR IR -

BIBREE AR ANBHEEERFA ALY
EREZ AUBRELAETZFAOAR
#109,142,0007T, (48 & 7 #7127,057,0007%
JL) B R iR (B B 49 A R 85,450,000
7T~ B b AR K M N E 49 A R 10,064,000
TR IEFEMBE LA ARK13,628,0007T (4
BIABBER]) AR AEFH RN
HEREEERINZALE  BABBRNET
HO.05% M Lk B A B M & o boh - RE
MENFTELIMNITHESISRHARE
44,070,0007T (F1E 1 4951,304,000/% 7T ) °
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LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Tax issues of a subsidiary in the PRC (Continued)

(a)

Tax issue in relation to the value-added tax invoices
received from certain suppliers (Continued)

Upon receiving the Decisions, the Directors, after
seeking legal advice from the Group's PRC legal
advisor, considered that the Outstanding Tax Amount
and the administrative penalty imposed under the
Decisions lacked factual and legal support. Hence,
Green Forest Paper has taken various actions to object
to the Decisions.

The Tax Treatment Decision

In early August 2022, Green Forest Paper submitted
the tax payment guarantee application by post. On 18
August 2022, Qingyuan Tax Bureau replied in writing
that it would not accept the tax payment guarantee
application of Green Forest Paper because the
application was made beyond the application deadline.
Green Forest Paper had made a few rounds of appeal
to various level of authorities in the PRC. Details are set
out in page 156 to 157 of the Group's Annual Report
2023.
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30. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Tax issues of a subsidiary in the PRC (Continued)

(a)

Tax issue in relation to the value-added tax invoices
received from certain suppliers (Continued)

The Tax Treatment Decision (Continued)

On 10 August 2023, Green Forest Paper filed a retrial
application against the judgement dated 5 July 2023
at Guangdong Higher People's Court, Guangdong
Province (BERABJ/ARZEFT) (“Higher People's
Court”). On 14 August 2023, the Higher People’s Court
accepted the Green Forest Paper's retrial application
and will proceed with the retrial hearing if it considers
the case meets the grounds and conditions for retrial
after the verification procedures.

Pursuant to the administrative judgement from the
Higher People’s Court (FEERAE mHMARZERT) dated 25
June 2024 (received on 19 July 2024), the application
for retrial was rejected.

Subsequently, Green Forest Paper filed a procuratorial
supervision application against the aforesaid
judgement at the People’s Procuratorate of Qingyuan
City, Guangdong Province (BERAFEMARRE
Bt) (“People’'s Procuratorate”). On 13 January 2025,
the People’s Procuratorate accepted Green Forest
Paper’s procuratorial supervision application and will
proceed with the procuratorial supervision hearing if it
considers the case meets the grounds and conditions
for procuratorial supervision after the verification
procedures.

Up to the date of the consolidated financial statements,
no judgement has been made by the People’s
Procuratorate of Qingyuan, Guangdong Province.
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30. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Tax issues of a subsidiary in the PRC (Continued)

(a)

Tax issue in relation to the value-added tax invoices
received from certain suppliers (Continued)

The Tax Penalty Decision

On 22 August 2022, Green Forest Paper disagreed
with the Tax Penalty Decision and applied for an
administrative review with the Guangdong Province
Administration of Taxation of the State Administration
of Taxation (“Guangdong Province Tax Bureau”)
(BERREBDEREHEERB). On 23 August 2022,
the Guangdong Province Tax Bureau accepted the
administrative review of the Tax Penalty Decision.
On 8 November 2022, the Guangdong Province Tax
Bureau decided to uphold the Tax Penalty Decision.
On 24 November 2022, Green Forest Paper filed an
administrative proceeding against the Guangdong
Province Tax Bureau and Qingyuan Tax Bureau at the
Guangzhou Railway Transport Court (&M & 28 @ %)
to request a review of the Tax Penalty Decision.

In order to apply the administrative review application
to the Guangdong Province Tax Bureau, the Group
paid a certain portion of the Outstanding Tax Amount
of approximately RMB20,297,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,628,000) and recognised in
"Other expenses” during the year ended 31 December
2022.

Pursuant to the administrative judgement dated 30
June 2023 from the Guangzhou Railway Transport
Court, the decision of administrative review made by
the Guangdong Province Tax Bureau on 8 November
2022 to uphold the Tax Penalty Decision shall be
revoked, but the Guangdong Province Tax Bureau has
the right to appeal within 15 days from the date of the
judgement.

Green Forest Paper subsequently received a summons
from the Guangzhou Railway Transport Intermediate
Court (BN Ed %) dated 2 November
2023, in which the Guangdong Province Tax Bureau
filed an appeal fagainst the administrative judgement
dated 30 June 2023. The appeal hearing was held
e?‘2023 and no order Was made from
H'r;date of theJ co sb]?ﬂated f|nanC||al

'I1'I'I

1

1 i

| H u
= B
e

-
el
e

Y
HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED « Annual Report 2024

f o
~ NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

/

30.

=
=

VS E S NAC )

BB R B A I RE ()

(a)

BIRE THRERBENREHHEEE (&)

HEESIAEE

ZEZ_FNAZ+=ZH RELKETR
HBEERE  RAERBEEREREHB
BUIEREMBR]) BBFTHEZR - =%
T —FENAZT =R ERABERTE
BRI ACENTRE#H T ==
F+—ANR EREFRBRREHFH
BRENRE - ZTE_F+—A=+HWEA -
m%%%ﬁf‘)\lﬁk KB AR ER
ERBERINBERMBERBMITEEFR 23K
BRBBEIIRESE -

AMEREMERRRETERESR  ~58
SASE T E D REF KA AR20,297,000
70 (F8E 1 4923,628,000/8 7T) ' WHRE =
—E-_—F+-_A=+—HLEFERIHA
Eﬁijﬁgm‘»"

REEMEREREAMAS T _=F
ANAZTHZABRHAR  BEREBBKERER
TR H+—-ANBERERTBEEE
REEWITHERRTE R THEE  EER
AU REER AR B HEF15H AR
EFFe

REMEEER -_Z-_=F+—-—A-H%
FEMNERERTALEGENER  ERE
REBBEREBBEHR T _=F A=+
BETTHRADRIBE E5F - ERRFAE R =
T_=—Ft+-AtT=ARRA #HEFEH
BmRBH EREAREHEMBS



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (GONFINUED) %

30. LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Tax issues of a subsidiary in the PRC (Continued)

(b)

Tax Matter Notice

On 8 February 2023, Green Forest Paper received
a tax matter notice (“Tax Matter Notice”) issued
by the Second Branch Bureau of Qingxin District
Qingyuan City Administration of Taxation of the State

Administration of Taxation (“Qingxin Tax Bureau”) (B
KB BLERFETENMERBERHE _HKEHRE). Based

on the Tax Matter Notice, since the tax credit level of
Green Forest Paper was adjusted to D-level for the
assessment years from 2015 to 2020, as a result,
Green Forest Paper has to pay the previous VAT refund
amounted to approximately RMB32,070,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$37,334,000) for the period from
July 2015 to October 2020 according to the relevant
regulations.

Pursuant to the Tax Matter Notice, in case Green
Forest Paper disagrees with the Tax Matter Notice,
Green Forest Paper must pay the outstanding VAT
within the prescribed period or otherwise provide the
relevant tax payment guarantee on the outstanding
VAT. Once the VAT payments or the tax payment
guarantee is confirmed, Green Forest Paper may
submit an administrative review application to the
Qingxin Tax Bureau within 60 days from the date of
the tax payments or confirmation of the tax payment
guarantee. Green Forest Paper completed the tax
payment guarantee procedures and was confirmed by
the Qingxin Tax Bureau on 23 March 2023.

On 7 April 2023, Green Forest Paper disagreed with
the Tax Matter Notice and applied for an administrative
review with the Qingxin Tax Bureau.

On 2 June 2023, the State Administration of Taxation
Qingyuan City Qingxin District Taxation Bureau (BIZ
g E BB R AHERB) issued an administrative
review decision stating that the Qingyuan Tax Bureau
shall revoke the Tax Matter Notice and re-handle it in
accordance with the applicable laws.
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30.

31.

- |prc3f

LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Tax issues of a subsidiary in the PRC (Continued)

As at the date of the consolidated financial statement, the
Group's PRC legal advisor advises that the State Administration
of Taxation Qingyuan City Qingxin District Taxation Bureau no
longer has the right to appeal as the appeal period expired. As
the Tax Matter Notice can only be re-handled and re-issued,
such Tax Matter Notice has been ended.

Save as disclosed above, there was no further development
with regard to the Decisions as at the date of the consolidated
financial statements.

The Directors are of the view that no provision of the relevant
tax amounts concerning the Decisions as at 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023 as stated in the above should
be provided on the basis that the Green Forest Paper is in the
process of making appeals against the relevant judgements
and the judgements on the Tax Penalty Decision received by
the Green Forest Paper up to the date of the consolidated
financial statements were favourable to the Green Forest
Paper. However, the results of the appeal applications made
by the Green Forest Paper and the appeal applications
made against the Green Forest Paper were not yet available
up to the date of these consolidated financial statements,
which led to significant uncertainties regarding the extent
and financial impact arising from the Decisions on the
consolidated financial statement of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Hong Kong

The Group has joined the MPF Scheme for its employees
in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to
the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions under the MPF Scheme.

The retirement peggfi;u»sch\e_me contributio‘ns arising from
the MPF Schemé charged fo the consolidated, statement of

loss an r comprehensive income re resenls
tib’:js]‘ payable

) the funds by the s
g 191

; - Group at rat
fied in‘the rilles of the scheme. , '« - |
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31.

32.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME (Continued)

PRC

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries
of their employees to the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

During the year, the retirement benefit scheme contributions
amounted to approximately HK$5,037,000 (2023: approximately
HK$5,150,000).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The remuneration of Directors, who are the key management
of the Group, during the year are as follows.

31.

32.

RIRBRE B ()

HEl

$%@ZEPIMTE AREATERNZEZH

BERRARBHNENKE - MBRAARRSE
E\Z%?@H% BALERABERKER 2 RKEMG
BN - AEBERERAKEANAE ZE—BERRA
AT BB R E RO LR o

FWR - RKAEF FT 84 5L 495,037,0008 T (==
— =% :5,150,000% 7T) °

BEALXRS

BERAEEFEEBABZETFNFAZHEN
T

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-MF —F-=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Short-term benefits EHEA 12,496 13,089
Post-employment benefits RIRE 51 54
12,547 13,143
The remuneration of Executive Directors, who are also HTESNIRAEEEZTETHAER  BEZH

the key executives of the Group, is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

The Group has signed a warehouse tenancy agreement with
Independent Non-executive Director — Mr. Wong Chu Leung.
The rental expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024 is
HK$156,000 (2023: Nil). The transaction is under arm’s length
basis.

THIMZEERTFEAARARTSBEEE

AEBE-—UBYINTESE — FBHRRELE

FITERMERZE HBHLt-_T_WE+_A
:+ H F 84 B A156,000/% 7T (2023 © &) -
ROGRELEERFHBETEITH




33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 33. MEEHZEEYHE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’'s liabilities TRFANAEEMEZH c ABED  BERSE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and KRBT pEETHEEZBENIEERS
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities ;‘m%—k;ﬁ;}ziﬁ S RERNRNEFBSEESHEESRERT
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows DEARMEESIREREZAEE -

will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Bank
borrowings
Due to a Lease  and interest
director liabilities payable Total
A RITEE
EENE HEEE REFMAER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHEIT THET FHT
At 1 January 2023 RZZ=—=%—H—H - 304 98,230 98,534
Financing cash flows (Note) BMEBRERE (M) 1,381 (636) (27,072) (26,327)
Addition #n - 1,221 - 1,221
Interest accrued FEETFIA - 45 3,510 3,655
Exchange adjustments [E 5 A (16) - (1,748) (1,764)
At 31 December 2023 and R-Z—=F
1 January 2024 + A=+—BX
—Z-mW¥—-A—H 1,365 934 72,920 75,219
Financing cash flows (Note) AMER GRS (D) (1,351) (316) 17,725 16,058
Interest accrued JERT RIS - 17 3,617 3,634
Early termination of lease RELIHEE - (494) - (494)
Exchange adjustments PE 3 SR (14) - (1,784) (1,798)
At 31 December 2024 R-E-EF
+=—A=+— - 141 92,478 92,619
Note: The cash flows represent the proceeds used for addition/ iz e RERGEAHRSRERTHERR &
repayment of bank borrowings, repayment of lease liabilities TEE EEHEaGERENMNTE E’]Fﬁ'{qj—y\lﬁ o

and interest paid in the consolidated statement of cash flows.




34.

35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the lease liabilities and bank borrowings disclosed
in notes 24 and 25, respectively, and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on the recommendations of the Directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well
as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments
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35. £FTH
a. SWMTAE>ER

At 31 December

R+=B=+—~H

2024 2023

—E-MEF —TZ=F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FH T FHT
Financial assets HHEEE

Financial assets at amortised cost REHEKATE 2N EE 73,716 94,970
Financial liabilities HHEE

Financial liabilities at amortised cost R HEK AT E 2 VAR 158,295 165,005




N

160
T

HREeH

FOR

STHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
5 R % MY ()

#:’E YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2024

== UE — H = —HFEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

g
HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED  «

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, lease liabilities and
bank borrowings. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The Directors manage
and monitor these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk

Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets
and monetary liabilities

A significant portion of the Group's sales is
denominated in RMB and a significant portion of
the Group's purchases is denominated in RMB
and USD. The Group's manufacturing operations
are located in the PRC.

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk. Certain bank
balances, trade and other receivables, trade
and other payables and bank borrowings are
denominated in the foreign currencies of the
relevant group entities. The Group currently
does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging foreign exposure should the
need arise.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3. 2MIA®

b.

Financial risk management objectives and b. HHXEREEEERBEKE)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) 5 E B ()
(i) Foreign currency risk (Continued) () IrERE R ()
Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets EPTAEINE G EERE®AE (F)

and monetary liabilities (Continued)

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of the RBEH  AEENEREEERS
Group’s monetary assets and monetary liabilities B BB AN 2 EEEBI|ER B
denominated in currencies other than the BEMEEGEZREENT :

respective functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
BE =0
At 31 December At 31 December
R+=BA=+—8H W+—B=+-—8
2024 2023 2024 2023
TEomE  ZE-=F B NF —EZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
RMB ARHE 74 261 - -
HK$ BT 400 256 - -
usD =St 590 12,5670 - 9
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis NS RIEE
The following table details the Group's sensitivity TRFVWAEEHEREEREE 2]
to a 5% increase and decrease in the functional AL 15 K H AR R O IR FHE % BT (BB %
currencies of the relevant group entities against ’@5[ RS o BURNR5% 5% B H 1B R 0]
the relevant foreign currencies. A sensitivity rate EEH  EET G MRESTER
of 5% represents the assessment of the Directors FEANNEAE 7 MAFRAEBIER -
of the reasonably possible change in foreign WA ERFARE N A RBRER 25%
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes ZE o
only outstanding foreign currency-denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the year-end for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates.
DT ERAAR

The sensitivity analysis below shows the impact TXZ@kWr
relates to monetary assets or liabilities that are ‘

denominated in RMB, HK$ or USD against the
functional currencies of relevant group entities,
HK$ or RMB respectively.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

3. €@IAE®)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HEEREEEERBEKE)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) 5 mE (&)
(i) Foreign currency risk (Continued) () SMEEER ()

Non-derivative foreign currency monetary assets
and monetary liabilities (Continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In relation to monetary assets, where the

FTESNEEREERERRE (B)

SNEGURE Dt ()

PREHEEMS  HEREEERY

functional currency of the relevant group entity N EEREEMEMNTEZEEFA
strengthens 5% against the currency in which B5%  AIFEREEE/FEEMN (=
the assets are denominated, there would be T F - BBEEEMN - Am -
an increase in post-tax loss (2023: increase in REBEEmS  MERSEEREZ
post-tax loss) for the year. However, in relation Mk EERAGEMREATEZEE
to monetary liabilities, where the functional F1E6%  A|FEHEEBEEBE SR
currency of the relevant group entity strengthens —E=F BREEERD) - ek
5% against the currency in which the liabilities B EN%  BIFERRBER (T
are denominated, there would be a decrease in Z=F :BiEEE eXIEREE
post-tax loss (2023: decrease in post-tax loss) Bk ZFE-

for the year. A 5% weakening of the functional

currency would have an equal but opposite

impact on the post-tax loss (2023: post-tax loss)

for the year.

RMB Impact USD Impact HK$ Impact
ARBZzEE EYivd 7 BLZEE
At 31 December At 31 December At 31 December
Wt=A=+-AH Wt=BA=t-H Wt=B=+-H
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

CECNE -—B-=F CZB-N&E -—B--F -F-NE -F-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FEL T FEL TEx TEL

BEEREN(—T-=F:
TEEREM) (3) (1) (25) (524) (17) (1)

Increase in post-tax loss (2023:
Increase in post-tax oss)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
_inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during
~ theyear.

ARAEFRE - ARFRARIL T
BERREFAZER  BEBEINL
TREREEZINERR -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to lease liabilities (see note 24 for
details) and cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 25
for details of these borrowings), bank balances
and deposits. The Directors consider that the
interest rate risk on bank balances and deposits
is minimal, accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
performed.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
section of this note. The Group cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of LPR arising from the Group's borrowings
denominated in RMB.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for
non-derivatives instruments. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. An increase
or decrease of 50 basis points represents the
assessment of the Directors of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates. For the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate bank
borrowings, if interest rates had been 50 basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss (2023:
post-tax loss) for the year would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$386,000
(2023: increased/decreased by approximately
HK$304,000).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
interest rate risk as the year end exposure does
not reflect the exposure during the year.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

)
HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED  «

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group's
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade
receivables, bank balances, other receivables and
deposits. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets, except that the
credit risks associated with some trade receivables
are mitigated because the settlement of certain trade
receivables is backed by bills issued by reputable
financial institutions.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors have
delegated a team responsible for the determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under the ECL
model on trade receivables individually or based on a
collective assessment. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of
customers, spread across diverse industries and
geographical areas, and thus the Group does not have
a significant concentration of credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
(Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for
credit-impaired debtors with a gross carrying amount
of approximately HK$243,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: approximately HK$867,000), the Group
determines the ECL on the trade receivables that are
not credit-impaired with a gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$30,422,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: approximately HK$37,828,000) under collective
assessment, grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to past default experience
and current past due status of debtors.

As part of the Group's credit risk management,
the Group uses debtors’ past due status to assess
the impairment for its customers because these
customers consist of a large number of customers with
common risk characteristics that are representative
of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, an
impairment loss under the ECL model of approximately
HK$30,000 (2023: impairment loss under the ECL
model of approximately HK$174,000) is recognised for
trade receivables. Details of the quantitative disclosures
are set out below in this note.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by
reference to information relating to the probability
of default and loss given default of the respective
credit rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the Directors
make a periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The Directors believe that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment based
on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and
deposits with a gross carrying amount of approximately
HK$9,481,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
approximately HK$9,870,000) and an impairment loss
of approximately HK$331,000 was recognised during
the year (2023: Nil).
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

Financial risk management objectives and b.

policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

3. TRTHE#)

IIV_\ -\/ /| A
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST D
BE—FT-—pmaF+—F

MERBEREREREE#E)

EEER R BEFE (F)
B ERABERIEE (&)

AEENABEERRFGERNBEAT
Bhl

Other financial

rating Description Trade receivables assets
K= E TR Fut B 2 EWRIE Hib & E
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of  Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired  12m ECL
default and does not have any
past-due amounts
1K /2 Bz RGUFEHNRRE TEREME 2HEHEEBE-BEERE 12@8EBEE
HAFRIE (g
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due  Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired  12m ECL
dates but usually settle after due
date
BReE EWABERIPEES &S ¥ 2HEHEEBE-—BEERE 12@8EBEE
BERIHBRESE (g
Doubtful There have been significant Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired  Lifetime ECL — not
increases in credit risk since credit-impaired
initial recognition through
information developed internally
CIf~ FRABEECER  FERARE 2HBEHCEEBE-EEERE 2HEHEEER
195 T 58 DA SR B B8 35 —EiEEME
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired Lifetime ECL —
asset is credit-impaired credit-impaired
BB BEBRAZEEEHREERNE 2HEHEEEE-—LHREERE 2HEHEEESE
—HREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off Amount is written
the debtor is in severe financial off
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
s BEBRSEBABREVEA  FRIE T UM

B AEEENOFIAZEEY
=]

IR T LA EH




35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of
the Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL

assessment:

Internal credit

3. TRTHE#)

b. HMEEMEEBERRE#E)

EERERR B EFE (F)

H WA BRI T (B)

TRFMILFBRETRBEEERFGE
MAKREHRBEENERERR :

Notes rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
REBEE 12 AR 2 HEH
et PR FEEFR IRE A5
At 31 December
R+=HA=+-—-H
2024 2023
—E-OF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHT
Financial assets at
amortised cost
LU SR At B2
BREE
Trade receivables 19 Note Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 30,422 37,828
(collective assessment)
B 5 R B aE HEBEEBE - EEERE
(B gaTh)
Trade receivables 19 Loss Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired 243 867
g 5 WA (g ZHRRBEEFR - EERE
Other receivables 19 Low risk 12m ECL 9,127 9,770
Hoth eI 15 i 12 AEBEEER
Deposits 20 Low risk 12m ECL 23 100
0 e 128 AFEBEEER
Bank balances and 21 Low risk 12m ECL 34,144 47,272
Restricted bank deposits
RITHEARZREIRT 15 i 128 AEBEEER
2N
Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the iz - A ESERTIEMS  AEECERESE

~ simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
- allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors that are
credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on
ollective basis, grouped by past due

*F o

81 7% 5 22 R SBOSE M (L T3 At B2
BFHEEBENEREG BRHEHREER
ERNRKIRRIN AEEREEBEEET
ZERAMBHREESBER  REAMBERS



35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3. 2MIA®

b.

Financial risk management objectives and b. HHXEREEEERBEKE)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) =B E R B EF L (E)

Other receivables and deposits (Continued) H M fEWH B R 1% (4E)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime TREBRBIBEBCHEZEERNE S ER
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables RIEHEEEREEEE :

under the simplified approach:

Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired)

2 HEH

FEER

(EERE)

HK$'000

T

At 1 January 2023 R-_E—_=%—HF—H 836

Impairment losses recognised BHERREEE 174

Written off b (125)

Exchange adjustments PE W A (18)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 75/\_ T_=—F+-—A=+—HRK

—E_MFE—-HA—H 867

Impairment losses reversed B EREEE (30)

Written off T S8 (581)

Exchange adjustments bE o, 2 (13)

At 31 December 2024 RZZEZ_MNF+=—A=+—H 243
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan repayment terms.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. The Group monitors its current and
expected liquidity requirements regularly and ensures
sufficient liquid cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from reputable financial institutions to meet
the Group's liquidity requirements in the short and long
term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
bank borrowings with a repayment-on-demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their
rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liguidity and interest risk tables

3. TRTHE#)

b. HEEMEEBERRE#E)

mBEZmE ()

RBET RF B mEZ

Weighted
average  Ondemand Total
effective  or less than 1t03  3monthsto undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month month(s) 1year 1-2 years 25years  cashflows amount
mETH RERY -EARZ =k ARRE
BBz -fEAR =R -F  -EE@E WEERF V-t BEfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
T ThT T T ThL i T
Asat 31 December 2024 W=F-ME
t2A=1-A
Trade and other payables  ZHREMENZE  NATES 65,787 - - - - 65,787 65,787
Lease liabilfies HEEE 42 13 39 91 - - 143 141
Bank borrowings RkE
- variable rate —i28 37 264 864 6,612 24,003 67,728 99471 92,367
66,064 903 6,703 24,003 67,728 165,401 158,295
Asat31 December 2023 R-Z-=%
tZR=1-A
Trade and other payebles  EAREMERZE  NATER 79875 - - - - 79,875 79875
Due to a director EfES3E NATER 1,365 - - - - 1,365 1,365
Lease liablfies HEEE 42 53 159 424 36 - 92 934
Bank borrowings RkE
- variable rate ) 40 175 729 54,899 1,854 19,02 76,859 72,831
81,468 888 55,323 2,180 19,202 159,061 155,005

The amounts included above for non-derivative financial
liabilities with variable interest rate are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rates differ from
those estimates of interest rates determined at the end
of the reporting period.

HFBHNERFERRZ BB TRANREEE
ZMREE  BIUA LR IFOTEM S B E (R
FERRE)NSEBRELEE
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value

3. TRTHE#)

c. DAREE

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of FEEZRARE T TRER A A 5K AN D 8%
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at UG BEERMEEBZERABEEE AR
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements BEBSE -
approximate their fair values.
36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36. AATFHMBERRRFEER
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E_MEF —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHT
Non-current assets RBEE
Interest in subsidiaries RHT B A A 2 i 1,316,553 1,316,553
1,316,553 1,316,553
Current assets REEE
Deposits and prepayments e MBI 585 545
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS BT B A Tz E 299,197 283,976
Taxation recoverable A] iR [B] 7 1E 31 -
Bank balances and cash RITHEMEIRS 4,713 5,384
304,526 289,905
Current liabilities wEBEE
Other payables and accrued charges H b e 08 K A S 13,226 13,561
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERH B A FIZRIE 1,129,854 1,094,290
1,143,080 1,107,851
Net current liabilities REBAEREE (838,554) (817,946)
Net assets EEFE 477,999 498,607
Capital and reserves BAR#E
hare capital A& A 81,764 81,764
& 396,235 416,843
477,999 498,607
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36. ARABMBRRRHEER A

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Details of the movement of reserves in the Company are set

FOR THE YEAR ENDED

BE—F _pyF+—

S A
107 N = 7

ARARZ FRESFBHINWT

out below:
Retained
Share profits/
Share options  (Accumulated
premium reserves losses) Total
REFE/
B3R E BREREE (RiE#E) #et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHBT FHET
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=F
—H—H 492,392 2,563 28,787 523,742
Loss and total comprehensive FEBEREERAY
expense for the year 4z - - (106,899) (106,899)
Transfer upon forfeiture of share Rk B R 12 14 45 &
options - (50) 50 -
At 31 December 2023 and R-ZT—=F
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—Hk
—E-pmFE—-A—H 492,392 2513 (78,062) 416,843
Loss and total comprehensive FEBEIEZE
expense for the year HX % - - (20,608) (20,608)
Transfer upon forfeiture of share 2 it 55 4 14 B8 3¢
options - (10) 10 -
At 31 December 2024 NZT-F
+=—A=+—H 492,392 2,503 (98,660) 396,235




37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. XEMBRAAEH

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December R-E-_NF+_-_A=1t—"HBR-_E-_=F+=
2024 and 31 December 2023 are as follows: A=+—RHZEZEMBAAFBOT :
Place of
incorporation Issued and fully
o or registration/ paid share capital/ Equity interest attributable to
Name of subsidiary operations contributed capital the Group Principal activities
HRAL/ BRARBRRA/
WEARER EXH BARA rEBEEERTES TEREH
At 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2024 2023
ZBomE —ECE
% %
Fung Kong Shing Fung Paper Ware Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100 Investment holding
Factory Limited
BRAZEnBERAR Eif LRkoAT REZR
Green Forest Paper (Note) PRC Contributed capital 100 100 Manufacturing and trading of
US$112,247,803 containerboard and corrugated
packaging
AEL % (3D ik EARA RRERRFEaR ZERES
112,247,803% 7T
HF Industrial (Philippines) Corporation Philippines Ordinary shares Philippines 100 100 Operation not yet commenced
Pesos 200,000,000
FBE £ 81%200,000,000 WRRREE
FEERR
Hop Fung Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100 Provision of management service
ALBERERAH Eif LRRAT REER R
Hop Fung Group Company Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$600 100 100 Investment holding
("BVI")/Hong Kong
ERERES LRR600E T REZR
(%BREER)/
£k
Hop Fung International Enterprise Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100 Provision of accounting service

ASERARERAT i TRkoEL R G R

aper Ware Limited Macau Ordinary shares 100 100 Trading of corrugated packaging
N

MOP100,000 and procurement of raw
materials
LRR RERE B RRNH RE

100,000}2F3 8
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. XEMBRAAER @)

(Continued)
Place of
incorporation Issued and fully
or registration/ paid share capital/ Equity interest attributable to
Name of subsidiary operations contributed capital the Group Principal activities
HRAL/ BEARBERE/
HWEATEE EENY BARK REEEERTER TEEEK
At 31 December
RT=A=t+-8
2024 2023
“E-QE e Sl 2
% %
REERHERBRAF (Note) PRC Contributed capital 100 100 Manufacturing and trading of
HK$23,000,000 corrugated packaging
(Bt s) ilei EARA RERRZ2ERES
23,000,000 7T
Note:  Green Forest (Qing Xin) Paper Industrial Limited and FZ2# Bt REEHNBEERAARETESADER
=SB PR AR are wholly foreign-owned enterprises. DRERINEBE RS -
Other than Hop Fung Group Company Limited, all subsidiaries KHop Fung Group Company Limited4h B & K&
are indirectly held by the Company. NEIBARRIFEEFE o
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting REZE_MOFEF+—_A=+—HERZE=_=F+=
at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 or at any time A=+—HSMFEFAFMER  SHBARHE
during both years. EIIF B EEES
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in FRIHESRAUAEEXEREERASEY
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results BOoREEWNBAR - EERA  HEMKER
and assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries AFBI L EEHRRBNR TR - RBEHRK
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars AARHEHAEEME TBEAZEMTEA
of excessive length. At the end of the reporting period, the Ao ZEWBATRER B Rl 1B
Company has other subsidiaries that are not material to BRXEENFBEE -

the Group. These subsidiaries are operated in Hong Kong,
Macau, Southeast Asia, BVI or PRC.




Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—-HLFE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-FF =8== - —E-=F —E-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET THERT
RESULTS 4
Revenue W25 1,040,369 755,603 424,411 224,357 211,520
Cost of sales SHE R AR (912,500) (1,127,114) (417,014) (210,429) (193,755)
Gross profit/(loss) EFl/(£8) 127,869 (371,511) 7,397 13,928 17,765
Other income H A 23,053 17,896 10,903 6,713 2,704
Other gains and losses Hiplas M EE 4,052 12,793 (4,289) 4,541 (3,443)
Reversal of impairment losses  TBHIEEEEER T2
recognised/(impairment BERREEEEE
losses recognised) under (EWRRBERBR) -
expected credit losses FE
model, net - 1,817 151 (174) 30
Selling and distribution costs S &4 $5A A (38,137) (31,233) (18,752) (12,451) (12,682)
Administrative expenses THRAX (80,104) (77,477) (90,471) (47,042) (38,875)
Other expenses H it (21,417) (22,881) (89,988) (62,421) (55,779)
Finance costs BT R AR (8,813) (8,440) (6,188) (3,555) (3,634)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BATFE, (B18) 6,503 (479,036) (191,237) (100,461) (93,914)
Income tax (expenses)/credit  FrSH (Fx2) /% (5,140) 56,249 (1,488) (343) (1,320)
Profit/(loss) for the year, AARHEEANELFEE
attributable to owners of FE,/ (&E)
the Company 1,363 (422,787) (192,725) (100,804) (95,234)
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—2-%F -4 Z—Z--f —TI=F —INF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHT FHEIT FTEx
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERER
Total assets BEE 2,202,955 1,643,445 1,191,109 1,020,420 908,382
otal liabilities BEE (581,899) (393,870) (229,195) (177,528) (180,419)
KARER AERS
: 1,621,056 1,249,575 961,914 842,892 727,963
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